Sleep and sleep disordered breathing in the first year of life: a Canadian birth cohort study

by

Amanda A. Lau

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science in Epidemiology

Department of Public Health Sciences University of Alberta

© Amanda A. Lau, 2014

Abstract

Inadequate childhood sleep may adversely affect neurodevelopment, behaviour, and metabolic function. Few population-based studies have examined sleep duration and sleep disordered breathing (SDB) within the first year of life.

Families in the Edmonton site of the Canadian Healthy Infant Longitudinal Development (CHILD) birth cohort study completed sleep questionnaires (Pediatric Sleep Questionnaires (PSQ) and Brief Infant Sleep Questionnaire (BISQ)), and questionnaires related to child health, environmental/household exposures, and parental health, stress, and sleep when their child was 3, 6, 9, and 12 months of age.

The association between self-soothing and sleep duration (i.e. total amount of sleep during day and night as reported on the BISQ) was analyzed longitudinally with multivariate linear regression using generalized estimating equations (GEE) methods with exchangeable correlation matrix and robust errors. Infant sleep was also analyzed cross-sectionally when the child was 3, 6, 9, 12 months of age using multivariable linear regression.

The association between BMI Z-Scores and SDB (i.e. answering positively to more than 1/3 of the PSQ questions or a PSQ score of 0.33 or greater) was analyzed with cox proportional hazard modeling. The earliest PSQ score of 0.33 or greater was used to define time to SDB. Follow-up started at birth and data was censored at 12 months of age if the infant did not have SDB or at the child's age if and when loss to follow up occurred. In an additional analysis, PSQ questions relating to rhinitis were excluded and added in the multivariate model to investigate the association between rhinitis and SDB.

Of the 845 Edmonton CHILD participants, 765 had sleep duration data. Sleep duration was inversely associated with age. On average, infants slept 14.08 hours at 3 months, 13.66 hours at 6 months, 13.41 hours at 9 months, and 13.51 hours at 12 months of age. Non self-

soothing was consistently associated with shorter sleep duration in longitudinal and crosssectional analyses. A multivariate longitudinal analysis stratified by birth order was performed. Self-soothing infants (-0.31 hours; 95% Confidence Interval (95%CI) -0.51, -0.11; p<0.001 for first-born; -0.57 hours; 95%CI -0.76, -0.37; p<0.001 for subsequent-born), sleep times after 21:00 (-0.67 hours; 95%CI -0.86, -0.45; p<0.001 for first-born; -0.61 hours; 95%CI -0.81, -0.42; p<0.001 for subsequent-born), and a parent who perceived their child's sleep as a small problem (-0.62 hours; 95%CI -0.84, -0.40; p<0.001 for first-born; -0.86 hours; 95%CI -1.08, -0.65; p<0.001 for subsequent-born) and very serious problem (-2.19 hours; 95%CI -3.00, -1.38; p<0.001 for first-born; -1.91 hours; 95%CI -2.52, -1.31; p<0.001 for subsequent-born) were significantly associated with shorter sleep duration in first-born and subsequent-born infants. A child's age was significantly associated with shorter sleep duration in subsequent-born infants but not first-born infants. In subsequent-born infants, infants that were fed only solid foods slept 0.87 hours less (95%CI -1.33, -0.41) and infants that were mixed-fed slept 0.74 hours less (95%CI -1.03, -0.50) than breastfeed infants (p<0.001 for both.) Feeding type was not significantly associated with sleep duration in first-born infants.

Of the 845 Edmonton CHILD participants, 763 had SDB data. By 12 months of age, 13% (101/763) of infants had SDB. BMI Z-scores were not significantly associated with SDB risk (Hazard Ratio(HR) 1.06 per standard deviation, 95%CI 0.80, 1.41; p=0.68). In multiple variable Cox regression adjusted for gender, factors that increased SDB risk included late prematurity (HR 2.09; 95%CI 1.05, 4.15; p=0.05), maternal symptoms for SDB (HR 1.80; 95%CI 1.12, 2.90; p=0.02), and otitis media (OM) (HR 2.09 per OM event, 95%CI 1.36, 3.31; p=0.00). Sleep duration decreased SDB risk (HR 0.82 per hour; 95%CI 0.70, 0.96; p=0.02). In

iii

the multivariate model excluding PSQ questions regarding rhinitis, symptoms for rhinitis became the strongest risk factor for SDB (HR 3.08, 95%CI 2.05, 4.67; p<0.001).

Problematic infant sleep may be modifiable. First-born and subsequent-born infants have fundamentally different parent-infant interactions. Regardless of birth order, parent-infant interactions may be the most direct link in affecting infant sleep-wake regulation. Behavioural interventions that focus on parent-child interactions may be utilized to achieve optimal sleep in childhood. To mitigate SDB risk, treating or monitoring rhinitis in early childhood may reduce adverse consequences. Screening susceptible infants (late prematurity, males, infant with mother with SDB symptoms, infants with OM and rhinitis) may be a valid long-term strategy for SDB prevention and treatment.

Preface

This thesis is an original work by Amanda A. Lau. The research project, of which this thesis is a part, received research ethics approval from the University of Alberta Research Ethics Board, Canadian Healthy Infant Longitudinal Development (CHILD) Study, Study ID: Pro00002099, July 2009 (Appendix 1).

Acknowledgements

To my parents, brothers, and friends for supporting me throughout this journey.

To my supervisor, Dr. Piush Mandhane, for his guidance, support, and pushing me pass my boundaries during the development of this thesis.

To my co-supervisor, Dr. Ambikaipakan Senthilselvan, for his statistical guidance.

To the hard working CHILD research team and CHILD participants Canada-wide. A special thanks to the Edmonton CHILD team - Joyce Chikuma, Melissa Gabruck, Jen Fitzpatrick, Jen Mariasine, Fiona Mackenzie, Dianne Semeniuk, Rhiannon Williams, and Tieghan Baird – my thesis experience would not be the same without our tight-knit, highly-attached group.

The CHILD Study was funded by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) and the Allergy, Genes, and Environment Network of Centers of Excellence (AllerGEN NCE).

Started from the bottom, now we're here.

Table of Contents

Chapter 1: Introduction	1
1.1 Background	1
1.2 Literature Review	1
1.3 Canadian Healthy Infant Longitudinal Development (CHILD) Study	
1.4 Summary	
1.5. Objectives	
1.6 Hypotheses	
Chapter 2: Materials and Methods	26
2.1 Overview	
2.2 Study Population	
2.3 Study Design	
2.4 Study Variables	
2.5 Statistical Analyses	
Chapter 3: Results	46
3.1 Participants' characteristics	
3.2 Sleep duration over the first year of life	
3.3 Cross-sectional analyses of sleep duration at 3, 6, 9, and 12 months of age	52
3.4 Risk factors for sleep disordered breathing	57
Chapter 4: Discussion and Conclusions	62
References	73
Appendices	93

List of Tables

- Table 1Sleep requirements by age group
- Table 2Eligibility criteria for the CHILD Study
- Table 3
 CHILD SLEEP-E data collection in the first year of life
- Table 4aExposure and outcome variables used in analysis and time of variable extraction
- Table 4b
 Child characteristics used in analysis and time of variable extraction
- Table 4c
 Family characteristics used in analysis and time of variable extraction
- Table 4d
 Household/environmental characteristics used for analysis and time of variable extraction
- Table 5
 Data completeness for subjects included in longitudinal analysis
- Table 6Multivariate longitudinal analysis for sleep duration
- Table 7Multivariate longitudinal analysis for sleep duration stratified by birth order
- Table 8Multivariable cross-sectional analysis for sleep duration at 3 months of age
- Table 9Multivariable cross-sectional analysis for sleep duration at 6 months of age
- Table 10Multivariable cross-sectional analysis for sleep duration at 9 months of age
- Table 11Multivariable cross-sectional analysis for sleep duration at 12 months of age
- Table 12
 Data completeness for subjects included in survival analysis
- Table 13Survival analysis for SDB risk factors
- Table 14Survival analysis using only symptoms strongly associated with SDB

List of Figures

- Figure 1 Transactional model of infant sleep
- Figure 2 Spectrum of SDB
- Figure 3 Anatomy of the upper airway
- Figure 4 Total sleep duration over the first year of life for CHILD SLEEP-E participants
- Figure 5 Variability of sleep duration by age
- Figure 6 Proposed SEM for SDB

List of Abbreviations

3HC	Trans-3'-hydroxycotinine
95%CI	95% Confidence interval
AAP	American Academy of Pediatrics
AHI	Apnea-hypopnea index
AllerGEN NCE	Allergy, Genes, and Environment Network of Centers of Excellence
ALSPAC	Avon Longitudinal Study of Parents and Children
BIC	Behavioural insomnia of childhood
BISQ	Brief Infant Sleep Questionnaire
BMI	Body mass index
BNSM	Benign neonatal sleep myoclonus
BSID-III	Bayley's Scale of Infant Development – Version III
CES-D	Centre of Epidemiological Studies-Depression
CHAT	Childhood Adenotonsillectomy Trial
CHILD	Canadian Healthy Infant Longitudinal Development
CIHR	Canadian Institutes of Health Research
DOHaD	Development origins of health and disease
EDS	Excessive daytime sleepiness
EEG	Electoencephalography
FTT	Failure to thrive
GA	Gestational age
GEE	Generalized estimating equation
GERD	Gastroesophageal reflux disease
GSAQ	Global Sleep Assessment Questionnaire
HR	Hazard ratio

LTFU	Loss to follow up	
LUR	Land use regression	
MAR	Missing at random	
MCAR	Missing completely at random	
MNAR	Missing not at random	
NADPH	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate	
NCC	National coordinating centre	
NEPSY	Development Neuropsychological Assessment	
NGF	Nerve growth factor	
NICU	Neonatal intensive care unit	
NK1	Neurokinin 1	
NSF	National Sleep Foundation	
OM	Otitis media	
OSAS	Obstructive sleep apnea syndrome	
P-CDI	Parent-child dysfunctional interaction	
ppb	Parts per billion	
PSG	Polysomnography	
PSQ	Pediatric Sleep Questionnaire	
PSS	Perceived Stress Scale	
PLMD	Periodic limb movement disorder	
PLMS	Periodic limb movement in sleep	
REM	Rapid eye movement	
RFA	Request for application	
RLS	Restless leg syndrome	
RMD	Rhythmic movement disorder	
RSV	Respiratory syncytial virus	

SDB	Sleep disordered breathing
SES	Socioeconomic status
SEM	Structural equation modeling
SIDS	Sudden infant death syndrome
SLEEP-E	Sleep, Learning, Education, and Environment Project - Edmonton
SPT	Skin prick allergy testing
T&A	Adenotonsillectomy
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor alpha
TRAP	Traffic related air pollution
trkA	Tyrosine kinase A receptor
UARS	Upper airway resistance syndrome
URTI	Upper respiratory tract infection
WHO	World Health Organization

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 Background

Humans spend approximately one third of their life sleeping¹. A typical three-year-old child spends more time sleeping than in time awake². Optimal sleep in childhood is important for neurodevelopment as it is an ideal time for the consolidation and integration of new memories³. As a result, high-quality childhood sleep sets the stage for future learning and development^{4,5}. Despite the importance of sleep, numerous studies have suggested a decline in average sleep duration over the past few decades⁶. Increasing use of technology⁷ and "modern lifestyles" (i.e. shift from an industrial economy rather than agrarian economy⁸) have been identified as possible contributors to the decline in sleep. This decline has been coupled with compromises in sleep quality⁹ such as less time spent in deep sleep and less consolidated sleep³. The Centres for Disease Control and Prevention have identified insufficient sleep as an unrecognized public health concern⁶.

There are few community-based studies focusing on young children and sleep¹⁰. This thesis uses data from the Edmonton site of the Canadian Healthy Infant Longitudinal Development (CHILD) Study and examines sleep during the first year of infant life. The purpose of this thesis is to: 1) investigate the factors that influence sleep duration with a focus on an infant's ability to self-sooth and 2) investigate the risk factors for a sleep disordered breathing (SDB) with a focus on the infant's BMI Z-score.

1.2 Literature Review

Sleep is a reversible state of decreased responsiveness and interaction with the environment^{2,3} that results from diminished energy and waking¹¹. Sleep is an actively regulated process with high levels of neurological and physiological activity². Sleep is also pivotal for restoring physical and mental health¹² although the exact mechanism is not known. Sleep deprivation studies³ have found that sleep is essential for growth², neurodevelopment^{2,3}, emotional health¹³, immune function^{2,3}, metabolism³, and hormonal regulation^{3,14}. Developing brains need to spend considerable amounts of each day in sleep^{1,9}, therefore, optimal sleep in childhood is crucial and cannot be eliminated without deleterious consequences³.

1.2.1 Sleep Regulation and Development. Sleep-wake regulation and sleep states develops most rapidly during the first year of life¹⁵ with more moderate changes across childhood¹⁶. Two independent processes regulate timing and duration of sleep and wakefulness include: 1) the homeostatic process and 2) the sleep-wake cycle. During the homeostatic process, a requirement for sleep builds as periods of wakefulness increase². The homeostatic process eventually mounts a strong enough sleep pressure so that sleep will occur regardless of the presence of stimulation³. Sleep pressures dissipate once sleep is achieved. The homeostatic process undergoes developmental changes referred to as sleep pressure tolerance ¹⁷ where sleep pressures accumulate slower during wake and dissipate slower during sleep in adults compared to infants¹⁷. Consequently, sleep patterns change since the ability to stay awake for consolidated periods during the day builds¹⁸.

The sleep-wake cycle, which consists of several stages collectively referred to as sleep architecture, is controlled by ultradian and circadian rhythms. The ultradian rhythm is a biological rhythm with periodicity of less than 24 hours, while the circadian rhythm is a biological rhythm with periodicity of approximately 24 hours. Strong signals called zeitgeber (i.e. time givers or entrainment cues) are required to synchronize, or entrain, the sleep-wake cycle¹⁹. Environmental and social cues are the primary zeitgebers that dictate periods of inactivity (sleep) and activity (wake) for the sleep-wake cycle^{1,2,20}. Environmental cues include light exposure and dark, while social cues include bedtime routines, timing of feeding or mealtimes, and noise².

A newborn's (<2 months) sleep-wake cycle is different than any other stage of life since they do not have fully established circadian rhythms²¹. A newborn's ultradian rhythm is approximately 50-minutes and cycles from wake to equal portions of quiet and active sleep^{1,22}. Characteristics of quiet sleep include rhythmic, even breathing, minimal activity, and no eye movement^{2,22}. Characteristics of active sleep include irregular, uneven breathing, muscle atonia, twitching, sucking motions, smiling, and eye movement^{2,22}. Newborns have fragmented sleep since their homeostatic pressures accumulate more quickly and lead to less consolidated sleep¹⁷. Infant sleep-wake cycles are also strongly influenced by hunger and satiety rather than light and dark cues²³. Shorter sleep periods coincide with early needs to be fed, changed, and nurtured¹. Thus, newborns have irregular sleep schedules ^{1,2}, sleep more frequently for shorter periods of time (longest period of sleep will last for 3 to 4 hours^{23,24}), and have fragmented sleep that is distributed equally throughout the day and night^{1,22}.

Sleep and wake become more organized in infants (between 2 to 12 months of age)^{2,15}. The circadian rhythm develops^{2,15}, which causes the ultradian rhythm to length. An infant's ultradian rhythm is approximately 90-minutes²⁵ and cycles several times from wake to non-REM (non rapid eye movement) to REM (rapid eye movement) before an individual wakes²⁶. There are distinct levels of brain activity, autonomic response, and muscle tone associated with non-REM and REM sleep². Non-REM sleep has four stages, each of which represents gradual depths of sleep and difficulties in arousal². Characteristics of non-REM sleep include slow waves in electroencephalography (EEG), decreased muscle tone, and decreased eye movement^{2,27}. Characteristics of REM sleep include intense EEG activity, muscle atonia, and bursts of rapid eye movement^{2,26}. The differences between non-REM and REM sleep suggest that they perform different functions³. Non-REM sleep is important for visuo-motor and perceptual skills development^{27,26}.

Infants have more regular sleep schedules, decreased total sleep requirements², and more consolidated sleep (i.e. longer sleep times^{2,15}) compared to newborns. The majority of infant sleep is nocturnal with longer periods of wakefulness during the day¹⁵. Infants typically sleep throughout the night by 6 months of age^{23,28} and have diurnal sleep that is organized into shorter discrete naps² that account for 2 to 4 additional hours of recommended sleep²³. Night awakenings and the need for parental intervention to reinitiate sleep may increase at in the second half of the first year of life of age^{29,30} due to developmental changes related to socio-emotional, cognitive, and gross motor domains²⁹. By 12 months, the longest nocturnal sleep period lasts approximately 10 to 12 hours^{23,28}.

1.2.2 Sleep Requirements. Sleep needs are age dependent and have a high level of interindividual variability. A recent review found wide variations in sleep recommendations³¹ (Table 1). The National Sleep Foundation (NSF) guideline, like many sleep guidelines, fail to include sleep references or explain how sleep recommendations were derived³¹ despite being one of the most commonly cited age-dependent sleep guidelines^{1,31}.

Table 1: Sleep requirements by age group, adapted from Matricciani et al. ³¹			
Age	Sleep needs		
Newborns (0 to 2 months)	12 to 18 hours		
Infants (3 to 11 months)	14 to 15 hours		
Toddlers (1 to 3 years)	12 to 14 hours		
Preschool-aged children (3 to 5 years)	11 to 13 hours		
School-aged children (5 to 10 years)	10 to 11 hour		
Teens (10 to 17 years)	8.5 to 9.5 hours		
Adults	7 to 9 hours		
Newborns	16 to 18 hours		
Preschool-aged children	11 to 12 hours		
School-aged children	At least 10 hours		
Teens	9 to 10 hours		
Adults (including the elderly)	7 to 8 hours		
Infants and babies	14 to 15 hours		
School-age children	10 to 11 hours		
Adolescents	9 to 10 hours		
Adults	7.5 to 8.5 hours		
Infants	12 to 13 hours		
Toddlers	11 to 13 hours		
School-age children	9 to 11 hours		
Adults	7 to 8 hours		
	AgeNewborns (0 to 2 months)Infants (3 to 11 months)Toddlers (1 to 3 years)Preschool-aged children (3 to 5 years)School-aged children (5 to 10 years)Teens (10 to 17 years)AdultsNewbornsPreschool-aged childrenSchool-aged childrenAdults (including the elderly)Infants and babiesSchool-age childrenAdolescentsAdultsInfantsToddlersSchool-age childrenAdultsInfantsToddlersSchool-age children		

Wide variations in sleep guidelines suggest that optimal and adequate sleep may not be definable in absolute terms⁵ since sleep needs vary amongst individuals². A major source of sleep variation (50%) is due to genetics³⁶ in conjunction with an individual's lifestyle and health³². Sleep recommendations are based two theories: sleep debt and sleep need. The homeostatic process creates a sleep debt², a sleep drive or pressure that increases as hours of wakefulness accumulate². This sleep debt is at its peak when inadequate sleep occurs over multiple days³⁷. Sleep debts dissipate as sleep is achieved and sleep needs are met. Sleep needs

are individually determined amounts of sleep that a body regularly requires for optimal performance¹. Davis et al., 2004, suggest that an individual has optimal sleep (i.e. their sleep needs are met and their sleep debt is appropriately managed) if: 1) an individual can fall asleep easily at night (>20 minutes); 2) wake easily at their normal wake time; and 3) do not require daytime naps (except when developmentally appropriate)¹³.

1.2.3 Objective Measures of Sleep. Polysomnography (PSG), also known as an overnight sleep study, objectively records sleep stages (awake, REM, and non-REM), as well as cardiovascular (e.g. heart rate), neuromuscular (e.g. limb movements), and respiratory changes (e.g. airflow, respiratory effort, oxygen saturation)^{2,38,39}. PSG can qualitatively and quantitatively record abnormalities in sleep and wake, sleep architecture, sleep transitions, and the physiological function of organs systems that are affected by sleep³⁹. As a result, PSG is the gold standard for studying sleep and for the diagnosis of sleep disorders such as SDB⁴⁰.

PSG can be performed in a clinical setting or at home. In-clinic PSG is actively monitored by a trained sleep technologist and as a result provides high quality data. In-clinic PSG, however, are cost prohibitive, labor-intensive, and inconvenient especially for young children⁴⁰. Pediatric sleep laboratories with sufficient clinic capacity are also scarce, which has resulted in increased wait periods between referral and PSG testing⁴¹. Home PSG may be an alternative to in-clinic PSG as they are technically reliable with no significant difference in measurement outcomes (i.e. airflow, oxygen saturation, etc.) in highly selected adult populations ^{39,42}. Sleep duration and quality are significantly improved with home PSG due to the familiarity of sleep surroundings and unrestricted sleep times⁴². However, there is a greater potential for loss of data and poor data quality⁴² with home PSG due to equipment difficulties, such as the removal of the nasal cannula during sleep or misplacement of probes⁴². Home PSG also lack standardized rules³⁹ for assessing sleep disruptions and have not been critically tested in a pediatric populations⁴¹.

Actigraphs are wristwatch-like devices can also be used to objectively measure sleepwake patterns based on activity monitoring⁴³ (i.e. body movements⁴⁴). Raw activity scores captured by actigraphy can be translated into sleep-wake scores using a computerized scoring algorithm⁴³. Actigraphy is invaluable for monitoring pediatric populations due to its noninvasive nature⁴⁵ and its ability to objectively measure activity and sleep in home settings for

extended periods of time⁴⁴. Actigraphy and PSG demonstrate correlations typically above 0.80 for normal adult populations⁴⁶. Meltzer et al., 2010, suggested that the validity of actigraphy in a pediatric population can be based on its sensitivity (i.e. the ability to accurate identify individuals with a disorder or event) and specificity (i.e. the ability to accurate identify individual without a disorder or event) in identifying periods of sleep when compared to PSG⁴⁵. Actigraphy demonstrates high sensitivity, ranging from 83.4% to 99.3%, and lower specificity, ranging from 17.0% to 97.8% in a literature review of actigraphy validation studies⁴⁵. Actigraphy is commonly used in pediatric sleep research; however, actigraphy data across studies is difficult to compare due to difference in scoring and reporting⁴⁵. As a result, standardized methods of actigraphy scoring and reporting need to be developed in order to establish normative values for pediatric populations⁴⁵.

1.2.4 Factors that Affect Sleep Duration. Factors that affect sleep duration in childhood are multidimensional and include intrinsic factors (ethnicity, gender, age), parental factors (education level, socioeconomic characteristics) and extrinsic factors (routine, and environment)⁴⁷⁻⁴⁹. Infant sleep has been described in terms of a transactional model^{50,51}. Sleep development is largely influenced by the dyadic relationship between intrinsic and parental factors: parent-infant interactions⁵². The transactional model emphasizes the dynamic, bi-directional association between parent-child interactions and sleep-wake regulation⁵² and whether or not this regulation manifests as problematic sleep.

Figure 1: Transactional model of infant sleep, adapted from Sadeh⁵²



1.2.4.1 Intrinsic Factors

a) Age: Age has a significance inverse relationship with sleep duration and describes about 50% of sleep variation⁵³. The first six months of life has the fastest rate of sleep decline, with sleep declining about 2 hours within this age range ¹⁵. From 6 to 12 months of age, sleep duration decreases from an average of 14.3 hours to 13.5 hours⁵⁴. Sleep changes more moderately after the first year of life, with sleep declining 6 minutes for each year of age⁵⁵. This decline is due to circadian rhythm maturation leading to greater organization of the sleep-wake cycle and a reduction in sleep requirements.

b) Gestational Age (GA): The association between GA and infant sleep is unclear. Very low birth weight, premature infants (born before 37 weeks GA) have 20 minutes less sleep than full-term infants⁵⁶. In contrast, preterm infants sleep ranged an average of 5 minutes longer than full-term infants over multiple assessment points in the Avon Longitudinal Study of Parents and Children (ALSPAC) birth cohort (n=11,478)⁴⁹. GA may affect sleep duration through environmental differences in early development⁵⁷. Light and dark cycles in neonatal intensive care units (NICU) may delay sleep architecture maturation and cause sleep-wake cycle immaturity^{56,57}. Parents of preterm infants may also respond more readily to their child's arousals during sleep³⁸, preventing their child from learning self-soothing techniques important for sleep maintenance.

c) *Birth Order:* First-born children sleep less than subsequent-born children^{29,58}. Scher et al., 2008, found that parents tend to perceive their first-born's sleep as more problematic than their subsequent-born infant²⁹. Similar to parents of preterm infants, first time parents may have different parent-child interactions and respond more readily to sleep arousals when compared to parent-child interactions with their subsequent-born children⁵⁸. Parental anxiety and unrealistic expectations of first time parents may also lead to the perception of greater sleep difficulties and shorter sleep durations⁵⁹. This perception may account for parental report of first-born infants sleeping 1 hour and 19 minutes less than subsequent-born infants within a 24-hour period in a correlational design study of 74 mother-infant dyads⁵⁸.

d) Ethnicity: Genetic and cultural differences may lead to varying sleep durations. African American, Hispanic, Asian children (i.e. Non-Caucasians) slept 15 minutes less than their Caucasian peers between 6 months to 11 years of age in the ALSPAC birth cohort⁴⁹. Many studies have noted similar trends, with sleep differences varying up to one hour in favor of

Caucasian children^{9,47,60}. Genetic differences in African Americans may lead to differences in sleep architecture such as longer sleep onset, different depths of sleep, and different REM sleep stages compared to Caucasians⁹. Cultural practices also influence sleep routine enforcement, location of sleep, and parental levels of concern and perception of a child's sleep^{49,60}. For example, non-Caucasian parents are more likely to co-sleep with their child than Caucasian parents^{22,48}, a practice that has been associated with shorter sleep duration⁶¹.

e) Gender: Evidence for gender-specific sleep durations in young children is inconclusive⁴⁹. Mong et al., 2011, proposed that sleep duration differ by sex because circadian rhythms are hormonally modulated⁶². Females tend to go to bed early, thus sleep longer than males⁶², a difference that starts from adolescence and ends during menopause. Females slept 5 to 10 minutes longer than males until 11 years of age amongst participants of the ALSPAC birth cohort ⁴⁹. These findings are consistent with trends seen in older populations^{47,49} suggesting there is a biological basis for gender-specific difference in sleep by age⁴⁹.

f) Obesity: A literature review found a consistent association between obesity and sleep duration; however, whether short sleep duration was a cause or consequence of obesity remains inconclusive⁶³. Obese individuals may tend to be less active and require less sleep since they need less time to recover⁶⁴. Tikotzy et al., 2010, found a significant Pearson's correlation of - 0.47 between weight to length ratio and nocturnal sleep duration (excluding all periods of nighttime wakeful) amongst 6 month old girls in a four day follow-up study (n=94)¹⁶. Obese children are also two times more likely to have shorter, more disrupted sleep compare to normal weight children⁶⁵. The association between obesity and reduced sleep may also be causal relationship in the opposite direction⁶³. Several longitudinal studies support the notion that shorter sleep leads to obesity, with only one longitudinal supporting the opposite causal relationship⁶³.

1.2.4.2 Parental Factors

a) Parental-Infant Bonding and Self-Soothing: An infant's ability to self-sooth is crucial to sleep-wake pattern development and sleep duration⁶⁶. A key element in an infant's ability to self-sooth is parent-infant bonding⁶⁶ due to an infant's high level of dependency on their mother⁶⁷. Less securely attached infants (i.e. infants with insecure-attachment) have more sleep problems and greater difficulties falling back asleep compared to securely attached infants^{1,30}.

High parental involvement during bedtime is associated with decreased infant self-soothing techniques^{61,66} due to decreased infant autonomy. Sleep difficulties were five times greater for infants who had parental presence until asleep compared to infants who fell asleep on their own^{30,61}.

b) Socioeconomic Status (SES): SES may be a proxy measure for unobserved clinical and environmental characteristics^{68,69}. Lower SES infants may have shorter sleep duration because of household crowding, neighborhood disadvantages, increased chronic stress due to resource scarcity, poorer diets, and restricted access to high quality medical care^{9,70}. Low maternal education and greater household sizes are associated with decreased use of bedtime routines^{9,71,72} that result in shorter sleep durations. Children with mothers who did not attend post-secondary had 15 to 30 minutes less sleep than children with mothers who did attend post-secondary⁶⁰. Children in families with incomes less than \$40,000/year had 17 minutes less sleep than families with income greater than \$70,000/year⁷². Household smoke exposure, which is associated with short sleep duration⁶⁰ and altered sleep architecture⁷³, may be explained by parental SES⁶⁰.

c) Marital Status: Parent-child interactions in two-parent and single-parent households may differ. Families with strong marital bonds may have higher levels of support and lower levels of stress⁵⁰. As a result, children may have a greater sense of calmness and security, thus facilitating a healthy sleep environments⁵⁰. Single-parent households use fewer bedtime routines⁷¹, which may result in the child sleeping 40 minutes less than children of two-parent households⁶⁰. Fathers in two-parent households may have an easier time implementing clinical suggestions (i.e. resist soothing techniques such as rocking, feeding, etc.) that promote infant autonomy and result in longer sleep durations than mothers⁵⁰.

d) Parental Mental Health: Prenatal and postnatal parental stress and depression can negatively impact infant sleep duration. Stress and depressive states in pregnant women result in higher levels of glucocorticoid which may disrupt their fetus' sleep-wake cycle's circadian rhythm⁶⁰. Infants of mothers depressed during pregnancy slept 20 minutes less at one and two years of age compared to infants with mothers not depressed during pregnancy⁶⁰. Post-natally, depressed parent may inadvertently foster an insecure attachment with their infants⁵⁹. Infants with depressed mothers sleep 40 minute slept less than infants with non-depressed mothers⁶⁰. Parents with mental distress may also have decreased competency in monitoring their child's sleep and bedtime habits⁵⁹ leading to decreased use of sleep routines and shorter sleep duration.

1.2.4.3 Extrinsic Factors

a) Sleep Routine: Consistent sleep routines, with enforced sleep and wake times, result in longer sleep durations. Routines provide a predictive, less stressful environment for young children⁷⁴. Parents that use household routines may have lower parental mental distress⁷⁴. These parents foster closer parent-infant bonds⁷⁴, which have been associated with longer sleep duration. Consistent sleep routines reinforce circadian cycles and homeostatic processes since children may associate these consistent bedtime cues with sleep^{2,71}. Children that do have irregular bedtimes do not compensate for reduced sleep through napping or delayed wake-up times^{47,75} resulting in lower total sleep durations. Sleep times before 21:00 (early sleepers) coincide with optimal environmental light and dark cue that aid in entraining the circadian rhythm^{5,76}. Early sleepers had one hour more sleep than late sleepers (sleep times after 21:00) in a cross-sectional analysis of 18 to 36 month old infants (n=777)⁷⁷.

b) *Sleep Environment:* The ideal sleep environment is dark, free of environmental irritants, and has minimal noise². Season can affect the sleep environment since longer light exposures in the summer can accelerate awaking or delay sleeping². Child sleep durations during winter were 37.8 minutes longer than summer sleep durations in a longitudinal study of 7 year old children $(n=519)^{10}$. Proximity to road traffic, transport related noise, and air pollution in more urbanized neighbourhoods have been associated with shorter sleep durations⁷².

c) Sleeping Arrangement: Co-sleeping (i.e. bed sharing or room sharing with a parent)⁷⁸ is associated with shorter sleep duration due to frequent nighttime arousals, greater difficulty falling asleep, and less time spent in deep stages of non-REM sleep^{2,30}. Co-sleepers may also become dependent on parental intervention and comforting for sleep maintenance⁷⁹. Co-sleeping infants were two times more likely to be poor sleepers (i.e. sleeping less than six consecutive hours per night) at five months of age⁶¹. There are several potential confounders that may explain the association between co-sleeping and sleep duration such as breastfeeding and SES. Co-sleeping is more prevalent amongst low-income families and younger mothers²².

d) Sleep Position: The American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) launched the "Back to Sleep" campaign to facilitate a safe sleeping environment² in response to the high prevalence of sudden infants death syndrome (SIDS). However, prone sleepers (infants that sleep on their belly) have a 16% increase in hours spent in sleep and less frequent, shorter arousals⁸⁰ compared

to supine sleepers (infants that sleep on their back). Prone sleepers are able to create more ideal sleep environments by resting their face on a firm, warm surface⁸⁰ and reducing their exposure to sleep disturbances such as light and sound⁸⁰. Ethnicity and SES may confound the association between sleep position and sleep duration . African-Americans and low-income mother are more likely to place their children in prone sleep position².

e) Breastfeeding: The World Health Organization (WHO) recommends exclusive breastfeeding up to 6 months of age and complementary foods with continued breastfeeding up to two years of age⁸¹. Breastfeeding is associated with shorter nocturnal sleep duration as breastfed infants have more fragmented sleep and greater night awakenings compared to bottle-fed infants^{60,79}. Breastfed infants have shorter sleep for two reasons: 1) breast milk is digested faster than formula feeds or solid foods resulting in shorter periods of satiety and shorter intervals between feedings^{28,30,79} and 2) mothers that breastfeed before bedtime may condition their infants to associate breastfeeding with sleep onset^{30,79,82}. As a result, these infants are unable to self-soothe, which leads to shorter sleep durations.

f) Solid Foods: Early solid food introduction (i.e. before 6 months of age) is associated with shorter sleep durations⁶. 20 to 30% of mothers introduce solid foods to their infants before 4 months of age despite AAP recommendations⁸³. These infants slept 25 minutes less at one year of age and 15 minutes less at two years of age compared to infants that were fed solid foods after 4 months⁶. Timing of solid food introduction may be a surrogate for SES and lifestyle factors⁸⁴. Mothers that introduced solid food earlier tended to be younger, are unmarried, smoke, have lower education level, and lower income⁸³.

g) *Media Use:* Media use (i.e. television watching and computer use) increases an individual's arousal state impairing sleep initiation leading to poor sleep routines. As a result, media use is associated with shorter sleep⁴⁷. Children as young as 6 months of age have significant media consumption despite AAP recommendations of no television viewing in infancy⁶⁰. Every one hour increase in television watching (i.e. infant in an area for which a television could be viewed) was an associated with a 3 minute decrease in sleep duration per day at 6 months of age⁸⁵ and a 6 minute decrease in sleep duration per day at one year of age⁶⁰. Older children with lenient bedtime rules may spend more time using media⁵⁵ thus leading to disruptions to regular sleep schedules^{47,60}.

1.2.5 Consequences of Insufficient Sleep. Sleep deficiencies negatively impact cognitive and neurodevelopment, behaviour, and metabolic function. The most immediate effect of insufficient sleep are impaired cognition³, poor attention, poor concentration, and performance deficiencies¹⁴. Inadequate sleep in adults has been associated with compromised cognitive processing with sleep-deprived individuals performing motor skills two standard deviations lower than a control group that received adequate sleep⁹. Sleep deprivation in adults account for 15-20% of motor vehicle collisions⁸⁶ and sleep deprived children have an increased risk of non-intentional injury^{15,76}. Insufficient sleep has also been associated with problems in memory consolidation which may impact learning and academic performance^{10,15,87}.

The relationship between sleep and behaviour problems is bi-directional⁸⁷. Insufficient sleep is linked to internalizing and externalizing behavioural problems in children^{10,71} with some children presenting with symptoms similar to attention deficient hyperactivity disorder⁸⁷. Sleep problems are part of the key diagnostic criteria for affective disorders, posttraumatic stress disorder, depression, and anxiety disorders among adults⁸⁷. Emotional and behavioural disorders may also lead to disrupted sleep⁸⁷.

Inadequate sleep been linked to metabolic disorders such as obesity^{65,72,88} and type II diabetes¹⁴. Sleep loss mediates changes in the hormones responsible for appetite regulation^{14,65} with increased levels of ghrelin, a hormone that signals hunger to the brain, and reduced levels of leptin, a hormone that signals satiety to the brain¹⁴. Sleep deprived individuals also have more waking hours to eat and will also have an increased appetite^{14,65}. Sleep loss is associated with higher levels of glucose and reduced glucose metabolism, which in turn leads to insulin resistance⁸⁹.

1.2.6 Sleep Disorders. Sleep disorders are any conditions that interfere with the recovery process associated with sleep¹³. Sleep disorders affect 25-40% of children between the ages of 1 to 5 ^{5,90}. Few studies have examined the prevalence and impact of sleep problems in infants under one year of age^{91} . Sleep disorders are classified into parasomnias and dyssomnias.

1.2.6.1 Parasomnias. Parasomnias are undesirable physiological or behavioural events that occur during sleep onset, between sleep stage transitions, or during arousals from sleep^{13,92}.
 Parasomnias are more common in childhood and are reflective of central nervous system

immaturity, thus they are usually benign and outgrown in adulthood^{13,93}. Parasomnias are classified into three categories: non-REM, REM, and other parasomnias.

Non-REM parasomnias occur during arousals from slow wave (non-REM) sleep⁹² and may involve simple behaviours such as confusion (i.e. confusional arousals), agitation (i.e. night terrors) ^{13,94} or complex behaviours such as sitting up in bed or walking¹³. Most non-REM parasomnias are associated with mental confusion and amnesia concerning the event ⁹². REM parasomnias, which occur while dreaming⁹⁴, include nightmares⁹⁴; REM behaviour disorder (harmful dream-enacting behaviours)¹; and recurrent isolated sleep head and limbs paralysis ⁹⁴. REM parasomnias are more prevalent in adults, but onset can occur in infants as early as 11 months of age⁹⁴. Other parasomnias, which are sleep stage independent, include somniloquy (i.e. sleep talking), sleep related eating disorder, circadian rhythm sleep disorders, narcolepsy, and sleep enuresis (i.e. involuntary bladder voiding). Sleep enuresis is normal in children under 5 years old ^{92,94} but is also commonly associated with SDB (a dyssomnia).

1.2.6.2 Dyssomnias. Dyssomnias, disorders related to sleep initiation, maintenance, or consolidation^{5,13,92}, can affect the quality, duration, or timing of sleep^{5,13}. Dyssomnias include behavioural insomnia of childhood (BIC), sleep-related movement disorders, and SDB.

BIC are difficulties with sleep onset (i.e. bedtime resistance or refusal) or sleep maintenance (i.e. prolonged night-time awakenings) ^{13,95} and are classified into three categories: sleep onset association type, limit-setting type, and combined type. Sleep onset association type BIC is associated with troubles initiating or re-initiating sleep independently and an inability to self soothe since sleep becomes associated with certain environments or settings (e.g. parental presence, being rocked, or being feed) ^{13,92,95}. Children with limit-setting type BIC have a delay in sleep onset¹³ because they make excessive bedtime requests or refusals as the parent has difficulty setting sleep limits^{13,92,95}. Combined type BIC is a combination of sleep onset association type and limit-setting type.

Sleep related movement disorders are simple stereotyped movements that disturb sleep⁹⁶. Sleep related movement disorders include: benign neonatal sleep myoclonus (BNSM), rhythmic movement disorder (RMD), periodic limb movement in sleep (PLMS)/periodic limb movement disorder (PLMD), and restless legs syndrome (RLS).

BNSM prevalence is unknown but assumed to be common^{97,98}. Myoclonus are brief, sudden, shock-like involuntary movements⁹⁷. BNSM are sleep-related repetitive, rhythmic myoclonic movements of the body, trunk or limbs ^{92,97,98}. Abnormalities in the peripheral nervous system and CNS may cause BNSM, but the precise etiology is unknown⁹⁹. BNSM spontaneously resolves typically by 3 months of age^{97,98} and requires no further treatment⁹².

RMD incidence is 66% in 9 month olds and declines with age, affecting 6% of 5 year olds¹⁰⁰. RMD are repetitive, stereotyped, and rhythmic movements of large muscle groups such as the head, trunk and limbs that occur during sleep^{92,101}. Studies have suggested that RMD is a learned self-soothing behaviour that aids in the transition from wakefulness to sleep¹⁰⁰. The rhythmic movements may also serve as a vestibular form of self-stimulation¹⁰⁰. Symptoms of RMD include daytime impairment and self-inflicted bodily injuries⁹². RMD often spontaneously resolves by 5 years of age¹⁰¹; however, severe cases of RMD can be treated with benzodiazepines such as clonazepam⁹².

PLMS affects between $12\%^{102}$ to $17\%^{103}$ of children. PLMS are brief movements lasting 0.5 to 5.0 seconds in 20 to 40 seconds intervals^{92,102} that usually occur in the lower extremities⁹² such as the legs, feet, and toes¹⁰². PLMD is defined as \geq 5 PLMS per hour of sleep with symptoms of sleep disturbances¹⁰². Underactive dopamine function in the central nervous may cause PLMD¹⁰². Symptoms of pediatric PLMD include growing pains, restless sleep, and hyperactivity¹⁰³. PLMD treatment includes iron supplementation and dopaminergic medications¹⁰³.

RLS is a neurological disorder that affects 1.9% of children ¹⁰². RLS is characterized by uncomfortable, unpleasant sensations in the legs accompanied with an urge to move the leg^{104,105}. These sensations occur at rest but are the worst at night and may be transiently relieved by leg movements^{102,104,105}. Symptoms of pediatric RLS include difficulties falling asleep, bedtime resistance, and negative mood and behaviours that are similar to attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder¹⁰⁴. RLS may be caused by dopamine dysfunction^{104,105}, genetics^{104,105}, and iron deficiency^{104,105}. Similar to PLMD, RLS treatment includes iron supplementations¹⁰² since iron is integral for the biosynthesis of dopamine¹⁰⁵ and pharmacological treatment with clonazepam, clonidine and dopaminergics¹⁰².

1.2.6.3 Sleep Disordered Breathing (SDB). SDB is a spectrum of diseases associated with abnormal breathing and/or gas exchange during sleep¹⁰⁶. The least severe disorder in this spectrum is snoring progressing to upper airway resistance syndrome (UARS) and then obstructive sleep apnea syndrome (OSAS), the most severe form of SDB (Figure 2)^{68,107,108}. There is limited data on SDB in young infants^{107,109} as most epidemiology studies focus on older children. The prevalence of clinically observed SDB ranged from 0.1% to 13.0%¹¹⁰ depending on the methodologies used to diagnose SDB¹⁰⁹. Challenges in SDB diagnosis include variations in symptom definitions (e.g. snoring)¹¹⁰, different symptom screening methods¹¹⁰, and the heterogeneity in the objective diagnostic criteria for SDB¹¹⁰. Many studies focus on OSAS, the most clinically significant form of SDB ^{108,111}. OSAS affects approximately 1% to 4% of children^{68,109}. Pediatric OSAS prevalence peaks in children 2 to 8 years of age, which coincides with the developmental peak of adeno-tonsillar hyperplasia^{112,113}.

Figure 2: Spectrum of SDB¹¹⁴



Range of Sleep Disordered Breathing

1.2.6.3.1 Pathophysiology. Risk factors for the development of SDB include a combination of factors associated with upper airway dysfunction or collapse during sleep¹⁰⁸. The upper airway, a passage responsible for moving air from the nose into the lungs, is divided into four anatomical sub-segments: nasopharynx (between the nares and hard palate), velopharynx (between the hard palate and soft palate), oropharynx (from the soft palate to the epiglottis) and hypoharynx (from the base of the tongue to the larynx)¹¹⁵ (Figure 3). The upper airway's cross-sectional area changes due to the activity of primary and accessory respiratory

muscles in response to airway pressures to control airflow¹⁰⁹. Anatomical structure, neuromotor tone, and inflammation affect the upper airway's ability to intake air. These same factors are important contributors to the pathophysiology of SDB^{68,111}.

Hard Palate Nasal Passage Mouth Tongue Tonsil Epiglottis Larynx Trachea

Figure 3: Anatomy of the upper airway¹¹⁶

Children with SDB have structurally narrower upper airways and increased nasal resistance asleep and during wakefulness^{109,111}. These anatomic differences may be due to any abnormalities that occur between the nose and trachea¹⁰⁸. Nasal polyps, craniofacial dysmorphology, micrognathia (undersized jaw), retrognathia (overbite), high-arched palate, macroglossia (large tongue), and adenotonsillar hypertrophy are common anatomic abnormalities that contribute to SDB^{92,108,109}. Anatomical abnormalities in the upper airway and SDB have a bi-directional association¹⁰⁹. Chronic mouth breathing can lead to adenoid facies (long face syndrome), a high arched palate, and poor maxillary growth resulting in a narrower nasal passage and changes in facial growth that further increase the risk of SDB^{111,112}.

Abnormalities with neuromotor tone can also contribute to SDB pathophysiology¹¹⁵. Neuromotor tone contributes to the baseline size and stiffness of the upper airway¹¹⁷. Muscles that surround the upper airway actively constrict and dilate the upper airway lumen¹¹⁵ in response to hypoxemia, hypercapnia, and upper airway sub-atomspheric pressure¹¹⁸. Upper airway collapsibility is inversely related to the activity of the upper airway dilator muscles¹¹⁹. An increase in upper airway neuromotor tone and upper airway muscle activation may compensate for increased upper airway narrowing and collapse^{119,120}. Upper airway tone is decrease in non-REM sleep. Upper airway tone is inhibited in REM sleep which lead to the airway narrowing and increase resistance to airflow¹¹⁷. Factors that reduce neuromotor tone can contribute to the pathogenesis of SDB by increase the propensity for airway collapse and obstruction¹¹⁷. Allergies or infections can cause nasal or pharyngeal inflammation that may restrict upper airway dimension¹¹⁹ and lead to increased upper airway resistance¹¹². Sleep fragmentation and hypoxemia can also lead to cellular inflammation altering the airway's function¹⁰⁸.

1.2.6.3.2 Clinical Symptoms. The nocturnal and diurnal presentations of SDB are different for adults and children¹¹⁸. The presentation of SDB in children has greater interindividual variability than in adults since symptoms change with age. The increased symptom variation in children makes SDB more difficult to diagnose ^{40,107,111}. Clinical presentation of SDB may not accurately reflect the severity of the disease¹¹². Snoring, for example, presents in both primary snoring (i.e. least severe form of SDB) and OSAS (i.e. most severe form of SDB)

Snoring is a harsh noise that occurs during sleep when respiration causes the soft palate to vibrate^{110,121}. Snoring may be due to increased upper airway resistance¹⁰⁷ which lead to imbalances between intrathoracic pressure and oropharyngeal dilator muscles¹¹¹. Snoring is typically benign (i.e. primary snoring), but it may result from upper airway abnormalities and is considered one of the first signs of more severe forms of SDB¹¹⁰. Snoring is the main symptom for the most severe form of SDB, OSAS^{91,122}; however, snoring alone is not indicative of SDB or pathological breathing patterns¹¹². Approximately 20% of children snore intermittently¹¹² and 27% of children snore habitually¹⁰⁷. The majority of children with OSAS snore loudly¹¹²,

UARS occurs when there are increasingly negative inspiratory pressures¹¹⁰ that occur concomitantly with decreased oronasal airflow¹²³. As a result, UARS presents as nighttime choking and snorting^{109,112} resulting in sleep arousals and fragmentation. UARS, however, is not associated with significant decreases in airflow or oxygen saturation^{110,112}.

OSAS is characterized as prolonged partial (hypopneas) or complete (apneas) upper airway obstruction that disrupts normal ventilation and sleep patterns^{13,110,124}. These obstructions are associated with increased respiratory efforts and leads to mouth breathing¹¹², night sweating¹¹¹, and enuresis¹¹¹. OSAS affects bladder functioning due to pressure changes in the intrathoracic space and abdomen that may directly lead to abdominal compression that results in enuresis⁹⁴.

Fragmented and disrupted sleep, a consequence nocturnal SDB symptoms¹⁰⁹, explain the diurnal symptoms associated with SDB. Excessive daytime sleepiness (EDS) is the most prominent daytime symptom in adult SDB, although EDS rarely presents in children¹¹². Diurnal symptoms amongst children with SDB include bedtime resistance, difficulties arousing from sleep, napping, inattention, hyperactivity, aggression, and depression^{40,109,112,124}. Diagnosing SDB in childhood based on these symptoms is difficult due to their subjective nature while symptoms such as napping and bedtime resistance may be part of normal development¹¹².

1.2.6.3.3 Diagnosis. Pediatric SDB often remains unrecognized and untreated because there is no standardized method or criteria for identifying patients^{91,109}. Diagnostic difficulties are due to the wide variation in clinical presentation due to individual¹⁰⁹ and seasonal factors¹²⁴, as well as the failure to account for an individual's susceptibility to develop diurnal symptoms associated with SDB¹⁰⁹. Questionnaires, clinical histories, physical examination, imaging, and polysomnography (PSG) are the main methods used to diagnosis SDB.

Questionnaires and clinical histories are the main methods used to identify symptoms of SDB¹⁰⁸. There is no universally accepted definition of snoring¹¹⁰ despite this symptom being the major focus of these methods. Questionnaires and histories are subjective and cannot conclusively determine which individuals need immediate clinical intervention^{107,108}.

Physical examinations and imaging can identify anatomical characteristics associated with SDB. Physical examination can identify adenotonsillar hypertrophy or craniofacial morphologies (e.g. positioning of the palate, maxilla, and mandible) that predispose an individual to SDB¹⁰⁸. Orocraniofacial clinical scoring system can be used in conjunction with tonsil size scoring to help predict the probability of SDB¹¹². Imaging can identify upper airway characteristics such as smaller cross-sectional areas or smaller airway volumes that contribute to SDB pathophysiology¹⁰⁸.

PSG can be used to diagnose SDB and assess SDB severity^{111,122} by identifying apneas, hypopneas and arousals during sleep. PSG interpretations will vary by developmental group because of the differences in pediatric and adult SDB¹¹². Apneas are complete airway collapses that result in cessation of breathing (100% airflow reduction) and are associated with hypoxemia and hypercapnia^{92,125}. Apneas in children are respiratory pauses that occur for at least 6 seconds (1¹/₂ to 2 breaths)¹¹² and are accompanied by oxygen desaturations under 92%¹²⁶. Apneas in adults are respiratory pauses that occur for at least 10 seconds and are accompanied by oxygen desaturation under 85%¹²⁶. Hypopneas are defined as a partial airway collapse that causes shallow breathing (reduced airflow by 50% or greater) for at least 10 seconds in adults¹⁰¹ and for 2 respiratory cycles in children¹²⁷, accompanied with a drop in blood oxygen saturation¹²⁵. Apneas and hypopneas measured on PSG are used to calculate sleep efficiency, arousal indexes, and apnea-hypopnea index (AHI). AHI is calculated by totaling the number of apneas and hypopneas and dividing this number by the total sleep time in hours. An AHI greater than 1 in children and greater than 5 in adults is considered severe SDB¹²⁶.

1.2.6.3.4 Risk Factors for SDB. SDB risk is altered by genetics, environmental exposures, and gene-environment interactions¹²⁸. The greatest risk factor for SDB in adults is obesity, while the greatest risk factor for SDB in children is adenotonsillar hypertrophy.

a) Adenotonsillar Hypertrophy: Adenotonsillar hypertrophy, which is at its developmental peak between 2-8 years^{112,113} is one of the strongest risk factors for pediatric SDB ^{68,92,129}. Adenotonsillar hypertrophy leads to airway size narrowing resulting in increased upper airway resistance^{109,113}. Adenotonsillectomy (T&A), the recommended treatment for pediatric SDB¹²², alleviates SDB symptoms in 83% of patients⁹². SDB symptoms, however, may persist even after T&A due to the presence of additional SDB risk factors such as craniofacial abnormalities (e.g. Trisomy 21) or obesity⁹².

b) Obesity: Obesity increases SDB risk because greater parapharyngeal fat deposits may alter chest wall mechanics and ventilatory control, leading to reduced upper airway dimensions ^{108,109,128}. Obesity is seen in half of the cases of SDB¹⁰⁹. Obese children with SDB also have an increased risk of adenotonsillar hypertrophy¹⁰⁹ as a result of altered endocrine mediate somatic growth associated with obesity¹³⁰. Obesity is the strongest risk factor for SDB in adults¹¹⁰, but methodological challenges such as non-age or sex-specific BMI measurements have lead to

greater difficulties in interpreting the association between obesity and pediatric SDB¹¹⁰ across studies. Redline et al., 1999, found that obese children (body mass index (BMI) >28) between 2 to 18 year old were four times more likely to have SDB than non-obese children¹³¹. There is a dose-dependent relationship between BMI and SDB^{110,113}. OSAS risk, in particular, increases by 12% with every 1kg/m² increase in BMI above the average BMI within a pediatric population¹⁰⁹.

c) Sex: A recent literature review reported no difference by sex in the prevalence of pediatric SDB in most studies¹¹⁰. Males have an increased incidence of SDB starting from puberty and have SDB prevalence that are more commonly see in adults^{109,110}. Sex hormones^{110,111} may influence respiratory controls and body fat distribution^{131,132} potentially explaining the increased incidence of SDB for males during puberty.

d) Family History of SDB: Family history of SDB, a marker of genetic risk¹²⁹, is associated with at least a two times greater risk of pediatric SDB¹³¹. Children may inherit craniofacial structures, ventilator control, neuromuscular compensation, and body fat distributions that increase their susceptibility to SDB if their parent has SDB^{109,133}. Up to 40% of the variance in AHI among children with PSG diagnosed SDB could be explained by familial factors¹³⁴. Twin studies have shown the concordance of snoring was higher in monozygotic twins than in dizygotic twins suggesting that specific gene(s) may be associated with the SDB^{133,134}. There is limited literature on the association between specific genetic polymorphisms and SDB-associated morbidities¹³⁵. Genes responsible for apolipoprotein E, tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α), and nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) oxidase have been implicated in contributing to SDB consequences¹³⁵. Further research is needed to clarify the contribution of these genetic markers and possibly additional markers to SDB risk.

e) Ethnicity: Craniofacial differences between ethnic groups can result in increased airway resistance and subsequently increase SDB risk. Non-Caucasians are at a higher risk for SDB compared to Caucasians ^{70,110}. Asians have smaller maxilla and mandibles¹³⁶ and African Americans have increased upper airway soft tissue^{109,134} resulting in upper airways that are more prone to collapse compared to Caucasians. Consequently, Asians and African Americans have average higher AHI values^{133,137} and are more likely to have SDB than Caucasians^{70,137}. SES may confound the association between ethnicity and SDB. Neighborhood level variables related to SES (i.e. different environmental exposures) explain 50% of the association between SDB and

ethnicity¹³³. Cultural practices that influence sleeping environments and parental behaviours could further influence a child's risk of SDB¹³¹.

f) GA: Premature infants have up to a threefold greater risk of SDB compared to full term infants¹³⁸. Prematurity may predispose individuals to adverse craniofacial growth^{109,138}, abnormal development of respiratory control and ventilator control^{109,139}, and neurological impairment¹⁰⁹. These abnormalities cause altered airway sizes¹³⁹ and increased airflow obstruction that results in a greater propensity for airway collapse. OSAS risk, in particular, decreases as GA increases (Hazard Ratio (HR): 1.30 for infants born 33-35 weeks, HR: 1.15 for infants born 36-38, and HR: 0.97 for infants born 38 weeks)¹³⁸. Premature infants may also be at a higher risk for SDB due to differing in their perinatal exposures¹³⁹.

g) Chronic diseases and respiratory illnesses: Atopic diseases (asthma, allergies, eczema) and upper airway disease (e.g. sinus problems, rhinitis, sinusitis) are associated with increased SDB risk¹³¹. Allergic rhinitis leads to upper airway inflammation resulting in airway¹²². Sinus problems and allergies increase upper airway resistance promoting airway collapse¹³¹. Asthma may exacerbate SDB¹²² due to common risk factors that promote airway inflammation and disrupt neuromuscular controls involved in breathing¹³¹. Children with a history of asthma are four times more likely to report SDB symptoms¹³¹. Upper respiratory tract infections (URTI) increase upper airway resistance leading to upper airway collapse, which promotes hypopneas or apneas¹³¹. Children with cold symptoms like coughs are nine times more likely to report SDB symptoms ¹³¹. Pediatric SDB prevalence varies seasonally and may be due to seasonal variations of allergies, asthma, and wheezing ¹²². Moderate to severe OSAS was significantly worse in in the winter (November to March) than in the summer (June to September) among patients with PSG confirmed SDB¹²².

h) Craniofacial syndrome and Neuromuscular weakness: Children with craniofacial abnormalities such as Down's syndrome, Prader-Willi, and Crouzon syndrome are at increased risk of SDB⁹². Facial abnormalities such as midfacial and mandibular hypoplasia, macroglossia, shortened palate, and narrowed nasopharynx all contribute to upper airway narrowing¹⁴⁰. Neuromuscular disorders such as cerebral palsy, congenital or acquired myopathies and muscular dystrophies affect upper airway control and respiratory muscle function increasing the risk of SDB ^{124,128}.

i) Viral exposures: Viral exposures can increase the risk of adenotonsillar hypertrophy, leading to upper airway obstruction and SDB^{68,82,141}. 100% of children are infected with respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) during the first year of life¹⁴². RSV leads to neuroimmunomodulatory changes such as increased expression of nerve growth factor (NGF), tyrosine kinase A receptor (trkA), neurokinin 1 (NK1) receptors, and substance P in the respiratory tract¹⁴³. These changes enhance inflammatory processes in the adenotonsillar tissue to accelerate proliferative responses and promote adenotonsillar hypertrophy¹⁴².

j) Breastfeeding: Breast milk provides immunologic protection against early viral respiratory exposures and has been associated with decreased SDB risk ^{91,141}. Breastfeeding is associated with healthy jaw formation and oral cavity development¹⁴¹. Conversely, bottle-feeding has been associated with altered swallowing pattern that increase the risk of collapse and narrowing in the upper airway⁹¹. Children who were not breastfed had a 1.47 increased odds of SDB compared to children that were breastfed in the ALSPAC study⁶⁸. The duration of breastfeeding is inversely associated with SDB severity. Breastfeeding durations longer than 4 months were associated with a significantly lower AHI (AHI of 2 compare to an AHI of 6) compared to infants who were breastfed for less than 4 months in a cross-sectional study of 7 year old children¹⁴¹.

k) SES: Individual in lower SES households may have a higher exposure to indoor and outdoor irritants (i.e. greater proportion of parental smoking), as well as allergens^{109,144} leading to a greater risk of upper airway inflammation and collapse¹³³. Low-income families had a higher proportion of infants (42.5% vs. 5.8%) with adenotonsillar hypertrophy compared to high-income families¹²⁹. Parents with lower educational levels and manual labor jobs had children with at least a 20% increased risk of SDB in a longitudinal birth cohort ⁶⁸.

l) Smoking: Smoking, a chronic irritant that causes upper airway inflammation¹³³, leads to upper airway narrowing and resistance^{91,145}. Smoking and smoke exposure may also affect neurotransmitter levels that are involved in ventilatory control¹³³. Having at least one household member smoke results in a 75% increased risk of childhood SDB ¹³⁶. Every 1ng/mL increase in serum cotinine, a metabolite of nicotine used to quantify environmental tobacco smoke, lead to a 1.29 increased odds of SDB symptoms in asthmatic children⁷³. However, the amount of smoke exposure needed before SDB symptoms present remains unknown⁹¹.

1.2.6.3.5 Consequences of SDB. Children with untreated SDB have an estimated 226% increased health care cost¹⁴⁶ due to higher hospitalization rate, emergency room visits, and medication use¹⁰⁸. SDB is associated with cardiovascular morbidity, metabolic syndrome, and neurodevelopmental morbidity. It is unclear whether the consequences of SDB are a result of fragmented/disrupted sleep or hypoxemia¹⁰⁸.

Pediatric SDB is associated with cardiovascular morbidity which may have implications for long-term cardiovascular mortality¹⁰⁸. SDB can alter autonomic function and cause systematic hypertension, alterations in blood pressure regulation, and increased heart rate^{108,128,147}. There is a significant dose dependent relationship between SDB severity^{108,128}. Pulmonary hypertension¹⁴⁷ associated with SDB may change ventricular geometry¹²⁸ and increase the risk of structural heart disease. SDB has been linked to left and right ventricular hypertrophy, cor pulmonale (right-side heart failure), and decreased left ventricular function^{40,109}.

Children with SDB have a six-fold increased risk of having metabolic syndromes^{108,128} including obesity, insulin resistance, and dyslipidemia^{108,128}. EDS associated with SDB can lead to reduced physical activity promoting weight gain¹³². Elevated levels of leptin, a hormone that regulates metabolism, and hunger, can also increased appetite¹⁰⁹. SDB increases sympathetic nervous system activity and potentially alters inflammatory cytokines responsible for oxidative stress. These changes contribute to insulin resistance and impaired glucose tolerance¹³². Failure to thrive (FTT), due to increased respiratory efforts during sleep and a reduction in insulin growth factor¹⁰⁹ is also observed in children with SDB.

SDB, especially in the first year of life, may affect short and long-term neurodevelopment ^{91,110}. It has been suggested that chronic SDB leads to prefrontal cortical dysfunction that results in impaired executive functioning and behavioural difficulties⁹². Preschool aged children with a history of loud and frequent had lower academic performances during middle school in a longitudinal study¹⁰⁹. However, early treatment of SDB with T&A did not lead to significant changes in attention or executive functioning scores as measured by the Development Neuropsychological Assessment (NESPY) compared to watchful waiting (7.1 change in score for T&A versus 5.1 change for watchful waiting) in the Childhood Adenotonsillectomy Trial (CHAT) Study¹⁴⁸. Fragmented sleep and hypoxia, associated with severe SDB, may be responsible for neurotransmitter dysfunction and neuronal cell loss, leading to impaired cognitive
functioning^{9,128}. SDB has been associated with hyperactivity, depression, anxiety, and low performance on cognition measures such as attention, memory, and executive functioning^{109,112,145}.

1.3 Canadian Healthy Infant Longitudinal Development (CHILD) Study

The CHILD Study is an ongoing national general population based birth-cohort study with base funding from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) and the Allergy, Genes, and Environment Network of Centers of Excellence (AllerGEN NCE). The developmental origins of health and disease (DOHaD) hypothesis suggests that prenatal and early childhood exposures can influence an individual's health and disease in adulthood¹⁴⁹. In 2005, the CIHR announced a Request for Application (RFA) entitled "Indoor air exposures, genes, and gene-environment interactions in the etiology of asthma and allergy in early childhood"¹⁵⁰. The CHILD Study was developed, in response to this RFA and based on the DOHaD hypothesis, to study the origin, development, and natural history of childhood asthma and allergies¹⁵¹. CHILD infants and their families are assessed prenatally and then annually until the child is 5 years of age using multiple methods including questionnaires, home inspections, biological sample collection, as well as in-clinic and at home testing. The study's primary objective is to determine the role of environmental factors and their interactions with genetic and immunological determinant in the development of allergies and asthma in childhood¹⁵⁰. Secondary outcomes of the study include innate immunity, nutrition and intestinal microbiome, sleep and neurodevelopment, infant lung function and infection, and psychosocial outcomes¹⁵⁰.

Sleep, Learning, Education, and Environment Project- Edmonton (SLEEP-E) is a substudy implemented within the Edmonton site of the CHILD Study. CHILD SLEEP-E infants and parents complete additional questionnaires, as well as in-clinic and at home testing related to infant neurodevelopment and sleep (Appendix 2). The purpose of CHILD SLEEP-E is to 1) Identify individual characteristics and environmental exposures that increase SDB risk within children and 2) To examine neurobehavioural consequences of SDB¹⁵².

1.4 Summary

Sleep is one of the earliest examples of biobehavioural organization and adaptation⁸⁷. As a result, sleep, especially in the first year of life, is a vulnerable process due to the rapid development of sleep-wake cycles, sleep patterns, and sleep behaviours⁶⁰. Longitudinal birth cohorts, like the CHILD SLEEP-E, are invaluable in studying the natural development of sleep and elucidating the reasons for individual variability and causes for sleep disorders, such as SDB. Complex interactions between intrinsic, extrinsic, and parental factors shape sleep and whether or not this sleep manifests as sleep disorders. The strength of this thesis is its use of longitudinal data and analysing the critical first year of sleep development within a research field that consists primarily of cross-sectional studies. Identifying factors that affect sleep duration and lead to SDB is beneficial since optimal childhood sleep is critical in shaping future development and health^{4,5}.

1.5. Objectives

Primary Objective: To investigate the effect that parental-infant interactions and other modifiable sleep factors (i.e. sleep routine and sleep environment) have on total sleep duration for infants within the first year of life.

Secondary Objective: To investigate the relationship between BMI and additional risk factors (i.e. duration of breastfeeding, chronic illness, and GA) on the risk of developing SDB among infants within the first year of life.

1.6 Hypotheses

Primary Hypothesis: Infants that are self-soother (i.e. do not need soothing/parental intervention to fall asleep) sleep longer in the first year of infant life than infants that are non self-soother.

Secondary Hypothesis: Infants with a higher BMI Z-score within the first year of infant life have a greater risk of SDB than infant with a lower BMI Z-score.

Chapter 2: Materials and Methods

2.1 Overview

This thesis examines SLEEP-E CHILD Study infants and families (n=843) prenatally until the first year of infant life. Child, family and environmental variables were compared between participants to investigate their effects on two aspects of infant sleep: sleep duration and SDB.

Study variables include a child's ability to self-soothe (primary exposure variable), sleep duration (primary outcome variable), infant's BMI Z-score (secondary exposure variable), SDB (secondary outcome variable), and other variables and possible confounders related to sleep duration and SDB. Other variables/confounders include child characteristics (i.e. GA, sex, birth order, general health), family characteristics (i.e. SES, parental stress, family history of sleep problems/SDB), and environmental characteristics (i.e. proximity to pollutants, smoke exposure).

2.2 Study Population

The CHILD Study recruited 3629 eligible pregnant women (Table 2) from Edmonton, Vancouver, Toronto, and Winnipeg. Recruitment occurred at high volume maternity clinics, smaller volume clinics, community locations (i.e. tradeshows, maternity stores), and through advertisements in local media (i.e. printed ads, radio) from August 2008 to April 2012. Final enrolment was confirmed post-partum since gestational age was part of the inclusion criteria. Father participation in the study was optional and fathers (n=2600) were given a separate consent from mothers. The CHILD Study consists of two cohorts: a Vanguard cohort (i.e. pilot cohort) and a general cohort. The Vanguard cohort consists of approximately the first 5% of the participants enrolled at each site and was utilized to refine methodology as well as assess the acceptability and feasibility¹⁵³ of the study. This cohort runs in parallel with the general cohort, which consists of all other CHILD participants. The study was approved independently by each of the recruitment centre's respective Health Research Ethics Board.

CHILD SLEEP-E subjects (n=843 mothers/infants and n=735 fathers), CHILD participants from the Edmonton site, completed additional sleep questionnaires and testing (i.e. in-home PSG, neurodevelopment). Subjects could verbally opt out of questionnaires completion and inclinic or at home testing at any point in the study. CHILD SLEEP-E infants (n=589) completed in-home PSG at 12 months of age.

Table 2: Eligibility criteria for the CHILD Study				
Inclusion criteria	Exclusion Criteria			
Pregnant women that:were 18 years of age or older (19 years	Pregnant women that:planned on moving away from their			
 of age or older in Vancouver) lived within in reasonable proximity to 	recruitment centre within 1 year			
one of the recruitment centresare able to read and speak English	Infants that:resulted from in vitro fertilization			
• planned on giving birth at one of the recruitment centre's affiliated hospitals	 were born with major congenital abnormalities 			
 had a valid number and address were willing to give informed consent 	 were one of multiple births did not spend at least 80% of nights in 			
• were writing to give informed consent	the participants home			
Infants that:				
• were born at 35 weeks gestational age or greater				

2.3 Study Design

CHILD Study mothers completed questionnaires

(www.canadianchildstudy.ca/questionnaires.html) during pregnancy and when their child was 3, 6, and 12 months of age (Table 3). Fathers completed questionnaires at time of their consent. Questionnaires were related to child characteristics (i.e. health, nutrition, medication), family characteristics (i.e. SES, parental health, maternal mental health (Perceived Stress Scale (PSS) ¹⁵⁴ and Centre of Epidemiological Studies-Depression (CES-D) ¹⁵⁵), parent-infant interaction (Parent-Child Dysfunctional Interaction (P-CDI) subscale¹⁵⁶) and environmental characteristics (i.e. pet ownership, proximity to pollutants). The infant's hospital birth chart was used to collection information on gestational age, date of birth, height and weight at birth. A home assessment was completed when the child was 3 months of age and included a home inspection (i.e. examining age, size, condition of house, number of cleaning products, etc.), environmental sampling (i.e. dust), outdoor pollutant exposure assessment (i.e. traffic related air pollution (TRAP)), biological sampling (i.e. infant's urine, stool, and nasal swab), and child's height and weight measurements. An in-clinic assessment, which was completed when the child was 12

months of age, included skin prick allergy testing (SPT) for the mother and infant, maternal spirometry, and child's height and weight measurements. Fathers completed SPT, spirometry, and questionnaires relating to their health during time of their consent, which could occur at any point during the study.

CHILD SLEEP-E families completed assessments relating to sleep and neurodevelopment in additional to CHILD assessments. Questionnaires related to child sleep habits (Brief Infant Sleep Questionnaire (BISQ)¹⁵⁷ (Appendix 3)) and SDB (Pediatric Sleep Questionnaire (PSQ)^{40,158} (Appendix 4)) were completed every 3 months starting from when the child was 3 months of age. Mothers completed the Global Sleep Assessment Questionnaire (GSAQ)¹⁵⁹ (Appendix 5) when the child was 12 months of age. Father completed the GSAQ at the time of their consent. Infant neurodevelopment was assessed in-clinic when the child was 12 months of age using Bayley's Scale of Infant Development - Version III (BSID-III). Infant sleep was evaluated for one night at 12 months of age using a portable level 3, at-home PSG device (the NOX-T3 portable sleep monitor) that has 7 channels measuring blood oxygen saturation, abdominal and thorax respiratory inductive plethysmography, airflow pressure and temperature, snoring, and sleep/wake states¹⁶⁰.

Table 3: CHILD SLEEP-E data collection in the first year of life						
Questionnaires/Sample	During	Dirth	Infant's age (mo		e (month	s)
Collection	pregnancy	Ditti	3	6	9	12
Mother						
Health	Х					x
Mental health						
PSS	Х			Х		x
CES-D	Х			X		х
SES	Х					x
Parenting questionnaire						x
SPT						x
Spirometry						х
GSAQ						X
Home environment						
Residential history	Х					
Home environment questionnaire	Х		Х	х		х
Home assessment			Х			
Infant bedroom dust sample			Х			
Outdoor pollutant exposure			v			
(TRAP)			Λ			
Child						
Hospital birth chart		X				
Medication		X	Х	Х		х
Health			Х	х		х
SPT						х
Child samples						
Urine			Х			х
Health and weight measurements		X	Х			х
BISQ			Х	Х	Х	Х
PSQ			Х	Х	Х	Х
At-home PSG						х
BSID-III						x
Father (if applicable)						
Health	Х					
SPT	X					
Spirometry	X					
GSAQ	Х					

2.4 Study Variables

2.4.1 Exposure and Outcome Variables (Table 4a)

a) Infant's ability to self-soothe (Primary exposure variable): The BISQ is a 13-item, parent response questionnaire that assesses average sleep patterns for infants 0-29 months of age³⁸. The BISQ reflects the parent's perception of their infant's sleep ¹⁵⁷ with questions addressing sleep-related behaviours such as sleep time onset, number of night awakenings, sleep location, sleep position, and method of falling asleep. Parents were asked how their child fell asleep most of the time (while feeding, being rocked, being held, in bed alone, or in bed near a parent) to identify the child's ability to self-sooth. Children were self-soothers if they fell asleep independently (in bed alone or in bed near a parent). Children were not self-soothers if they fell asleep with parental intervention (while feeding, being rocked, or being held). Children were assessed at 3, 6, 9, and 12 months of age.

Self-soothing is an ideal surrogate variable to assess parent-infant bedtime interactions (a latent, unmeasured variable within our study). Self-soothing captures the relationship between intrinsic qualities (i.e. a child's temperament, age, gender) and parental qualities (i.e. attachment style, parenting competence)¹⁶¹- two variables that may be difficult to measure (i.e. child temperament), and in some cases were not measured (i.e. attachment style) within our study.

b) Sleep duration (Primary outcome variable): BISQ total nocturnal sleep duration measurements have demonstrated significant Pearson's between-measure correlation of 0.23 with actigraphy¹⁵⁷ and a correlation of 0.27 with daily sleep logs¹⁵⁷. Parents reported the amount of time (in hours and minutes) that their infant spent in sleep during the day and during the night. Daytime and night time sleep was totalled to obtain total sleep duration in hours. Sleep duration was reported when the child was 3, 6, 9, and 12 months of age.

c) Infant's BMI Z-Score (Secondary exposure variable): A child's length and weight were measured at 3 and 12 months of age. Recumbent length, in meters, was obtained using an infant length board. Weight, in kilograms, was obtained using an electronic infant scale. Age and sexspecific BMI Z-scores were determined using a Z-score calculator¹⁶² based on 2006 WHO growth standards.

d) SDB (Secondary outcome variable): The SDB subscale of the Pediatric Sleep Questionnaire (PSQ), a 22-item, parental response questionnaire, screens for SDB in children aged 2 to 18¹⁰⁸. Items address three prominent SDB symptom-complexes: snoring, excessive

daytime sleepiness, and inattentive/hyperactive behaviour ⁴⁰. Items are answered as yes (1 point), no (0 points) and "I don't know" (missing). A PSQ score, which ranges from 0 to 1, is calculated by taking the mean of the responses for non-missing items¹⁵⁸. A score of 0.33 or greater has been associated with pediatric SDB, and more specifically OSAS¹⁵⁸. The PSQ has been validated in numerous clinical setting and with PSG confirmed SDB^{38,158}. A 3-fold increase risk of PSG diagnosed SDB is associated with every one standard deviation increase score above 0.33 on the PSQ ^{108,158}. The PSQ is an effective pediatric SDB screening tool for high and low risk groups with a sensitivity of 0.78 and specificity of 0.72^{158,163}. PSQs were completed when the child was 3, 6, 9, and 12 months of age. Child with PSQ scores of 0.33 or greater were identified as having SDB.

Table 4a: Exposure and outcome variables used in analysis and time of variable extraction						
Variable	During	Dirth	Infai	nt's Ag	ge (mo	nths)
	Pregnancy	Ditui	3	6	9	12
Primary Hypothesis						
<i>Exposure:</i> Child's ability to self soothe			v	v	v	v
(self-soother/non self-soother)			Λ	Λ	Λ	Χ
Outcome: Sleep duration (hours)			Х	Х	Х	Х
Secondary Hypothesis						
Exposure: Age and sex-specific BMI Z-			V			v
Score			Х			X
Outcome: SDB (yes/no)			Х	Х	Х	X

2.4.2 Other Variables

2.4.2.1 Child Characteristics (Table 4b)

a) Child's date of birth: Child's date of birth was extracted from the hospital birth chart.

b) *Birth Term:* GA, in weeks, was extracted from the hospital birth chart. Infants were considered preterm if they were born before 37 weeks of GA or full term if they were born on or after 37 weeks of GA.

c) *Birth weight for GA Z-score:* Birth weight in kilograms was extracted from the hospital birth chart. Sex-specific birth weight for GA Z-scores were determined using a 2006 WHO growth standards Z-score calculator¹⁶⁴.

d) Sex: Infants were identified as male or female based on their hospital birth chart record.

e) *Infants' ethnicity:* Mothers identified the ethnic/cultural group with which they and the child's biological father belonged to on the mother's health questionnaire, which was completed prenatally. Choices included: a) Caucasian b) Black c) Filipino d) Chinese (Hong Kong/Taiwan/Mainland China) e) First Nations f) Hispanic g) South Asian (Indian continent) h) Indo-Canadian i) Japanese j) Middle Eastern k) South East Asian (Cambodia/Vietnam/Laos/Malaysia/Thai) l) Unknown m) If none of these groups, specify. Mothers were asked to check all applicable choices. Infants were categorized as Caucasian if both biological parents were identified as Caucasian. Infants were categorized as non-Caucasian if one or both parent(s) identified themselves as an ethnic/cultural group other than Caucasian.

f) *Birth Order:* A mother's number of viable, living offspring (excluding the CHILD index participant) was extracted from the hospital birth chart. Infants were categorized as first-born if their mother had no other living children or subsequent-born if their mother had at least one other living child prior to the CHILD index participant.

g) *Breastfeeding:* Mothers were asked if their child was breastfeeding, formula feeding, or eating solid food in three separate questions when the child was 3, 6, and 12 months of age. At each time point, the infant's diet was categorized as breastfed only, formula fed only, solid foods only, or mix-fed (any combination of breastfeeding, formula feeding, or solid food).

h) *Sleep time:* Parents reported, on the BISQ, the time their child usually fell asleep for the night using a 24-hour clock at 3, 6, 9, and 12 months of age. Sleep times were categorized as before 21:00 or after 21:00.

i) *Co-sleeping:* Parents were asked, on the BISQ, about their infant's usual sleeping arrangement (infant's crib in a separate room, infant crib in parent's room, in parent's bed, infant crib in room with sibling, or other) when the child was 3, 6, 9, and 12 months of age. Infants were categorized as no (to co-sleeping), room-sharing, and bed-sharing. Infants did not co-sleep if they slept in a separate room or other. Infant room-shared if they slept in an infant crib in the parent's room, or in a room with a sibling. Infants bed-shared if they shared a bed with their parents.

j) Sleeping Position: Parents report, on the BISQ, their infant's predominant sleeping position (on belly, on side, or on back) when the child was 3, 6, 9, and 12 months of age.

2.4.2.1.1 Child's General Health

a) Rhinitis: Infants were classified as having rhinitis at 3, 6, 9, and 12 months of age if parents reported yes to at least one of the following PSQ questions about their infant: 1) tends to breathe through the mouth during the day 2) have a dry mouth on waking up in the morning 3) have a stuffy nose is congested at night or 4) mouth breathes most of the time.

b) Gastroesophageal reflux disease (GERD): Infants were classified as having GERD if they were treated with any of the following medications: Prevacid, Rantiadire, Omperazole, Losec, Prilosec, Lansoprazole, or Pantoprazole at 3, 6, and 12 months of age on the child's medication questionnaire.

c) Upper respiratory tract infection (URTI): Parents reported whether their child had URTI at 3, 6, and 12 months of age. Parents were then asked to indicate the total number of URTI at each assessment point their child did have URTI.

d) Otitis media (OM): Parents reported whether their child had OM at 3, 6, and 12 months of age. Parents were then asked to indicate the total number of OM events at each assessment point if their child did have OM.

e) Wheeze: Wheeze was defined as a whistling sound coming from the chest. Parents reported whether their child had wheeze at 3, 6, and 12 months of age. Parents were then asked to indicate the total number of wheezing episodes (i.e. an episode is defined as wheeze for more than 12 minutes at a time separated by at least 7 days or more than 20 minutes if separated by less than 7 days) at each assessment point if their child did wheeze.

f) Infant atopy: Infant atopy was determined using skin prick allergy test (SPT) at 12 months of age. A positive SPT test was defined as an average wheal size >2mm than the negative control. An infant was classified as atopic if they had at least one positive test result. Allergens tested were Alternaria alternata, cat hair, dog epithelium, Dermatophagoides pteronyssinus, Dermatophagoides farinae, cockroach, peanuts, cow's milk, egg white, and soybeans.

Table 4b: Child characteristics used in analysis and time of variable extraction						
Variable	During	Dirth	Infant's Age (months)			
	Pregnancy	DIIUI	3	6	9	12
Date of birth		Х				
Birth term (preterm/full-term)		Х				
Birth weight for GA Z-score		х				
Sex (male/female)		X				
Ethnicity (Caucasian/non-Caucasian)	Х					
Birth order (first-born/subsequent-born)		X				
Breastfeeding (breastfed only/formula fed			v	v		v
only/solid food only/mixed-fed)			Х	Х		Х
Sleep time (before 21:00/after 21:00)			Х	Х	Х	Х
Sleep arrangement						
Co-sleeping (no/room-sharing/bed-			v	v	v	v
sharing)			Λ	Λ	Λ	Λ
Bed-sharing (yes/no)			Х	Х	Х	Х
Sleeping position (on belly/on side/on back)			Х	Х	X	Х
General health						
Rhinitis (yes/no)			Х	Х		Х
GERD (yes/no)			Х	Х		Х
URTI (yes/no and number)			Х	Х		Х
OM (yes/no and number)			Х	Х		Х
Wheeze (yes/no and number of			v	v		v
episodes)			Х	X		X
Infant atopy (yes/no)						Х

2.4.2.2 Family Characteristics (Table 4c)

a) Family Income: Mothers reported their family's total income before taxes and deductions in the past 12 month income as either: a) \$0 - \$19,999 b) \$20,000 - \$39,999 c) \$40,000 - \$59,999 d) \$60,000 - \$79,999 e) \$80,000 - \$99,999 f) \$100,000 - \$149,999 g) \$150,000 or over h) "Prefer not to say" during pregnancy and when their child was 12 months of age. Family incomes were categorized, using the highest reported annual family income, as below \$60,000, equal or above \$60,000, or prefer not to say. The Government of Canada (Employment and Social

Development Canada) reports that \$68,000 is the median after-tax income for the Canada and as a result, \$60,000 was chosen as a cut-off for this analysis.

b) Marital Status: Mothers reported their marital status as a) Married or Common Law b) Divorced or Separated c) Single (never been married) d) Widowed during pregnancy. Marital status was categorized as married/common law, divorced/single, or widowed.

c) Maternal Education: Mothers reported their highest education level achieved during pregnancy and when their child was 12 months of age as either a) less than high school b) some high school c) completed high school d) some college or university e) completed college or university f) some postgraduate g) completed postgraduate or h) other. Maternal education was categorized into either: 1) did not attend post-secondary, 2) attended post-secondary, or 3) "other" based on the highest reported education level.

d) Maternal age at time of child's birth: Mothers reported their date of birth during pregnancy and the child's date of birth was extracted from the hospital birth chart. Maternal age was calculated by subtracting the child's date of birth from the mother's date of birth.

e) Maternal stress: Maternal stress was measured using Cohen, Karmarck and Mermelstein's abbreviated 10-item version of the Perceived Stress Scale (PSS)¹⁵⁴ questionnaire when their child was 3, 6, and 12 months of age. The PSS has a maximum score of 40 with higher scores indicating higher levels of maternal stress.

f) Maternal depression: Maternal depression was measured using Radloff's 20-item Center for Epidemiological Studies –Depression (CES-D)¹⁵⁵ self-administered questionnaire when their child was 3, 6, and 12 months of age. The CES-D has a maximum score of 60 with higher scores indicating greater depressive symptoms. A cut-off score of 16 or greater identifies individuals at risk for clinical depression¹⁶⁵.

g) Parental SDB (Maternal and Paternal): The GSAQ, an 11-item ordinal scale questionnaire, is a self-administered screening tool used to diagnosis sleep related disorders in adults¹⁵⁹. Father completed the GSAQ at time of consent and mothers completed the GSAQ when their child was 12 months of age. Parents were categorized as having SDB, if they reported sometimes, usually, or always to any of the following questions a) Do you hold your breath, have breathing pauses, or stop breathing in your sleep? b) Do you snore loudly? c) Did you fall asleep unintentionally or have to fight to stay awake during the day? Maternal and paternal SDB were analyzed independently.

h) Parental sleep problems (Maternal and Paternal): Fathers at time of consent and mothers when their child was 12 months of age were categorized as having sleep problems if they answered sometimes, usually, or always to either 1) difficulty falling asleep, 2) difficulty staying asleep, or 3) feeling poorly rested in the morning on the GSAQ. Parents were categorized as not having sleep problems if they answered never to the previously mentioned question. Maternal and paternal sleep problems were analyzed independently.

i) Parent's Cognition about child's sleep: Parents were asked, on the BISQ, to rate their child's sleep problems when their child was 3, 6, 9, and 12 months of age as either 1) not a problem, 2) a small problem, or 3) a very serious problem.

j) Parental-Infant Bonding: Parent-Infant bonding was measured using the Abidin's parentanswered12-item Parent-Child Dysfunctional Interaction (P-CDI) subscale¹⁵⁶ when the child was 12 months of age. Items were statements such as: "My child rarely does things for me that make me feel good" and "My child doesn't seem to learn as quickly as most children". Items are rated from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree), with total scores ranging from 12 to 60. Higher scores indicate that parents perceive that their child does not meet expectation and that interactions with the child are not reinforcing¹⁶⁶.

k) Parental Atopy (Maternal and Paternal): Maternal and paternal atopy was determined using SPT when their child was 12 months of age and time of consent respectively. Allergens tested were: A.alternata, Cladosporium, Penicillium, Aspergillus fumigatus, cat hair, dog epithelium, D. pteronyssinus, D. farinae, cockroach, trees, grass, weeds, ragweed, and peanuts. A positive SPT test was defined as an average wheal size >2mm than the negative control. Parents were classified as atopic if they had at least one positive test result. Maternal and paternal atopy were analyzed independently.

Table 4c: Family characteristics used in analysis and time of variable extraction						
Variable	During	Birth	Infai	nt's Ag	ge (moi	nths)
	Pregnancy	Dirui	3	6	9	12
Family income (<\$60,000/ ≥\$60,000)	Х					Х
Marital status (married or common	v					
law/divorced or single/widowed)	Λ					
Maternal education (did not attend post						
secondary/attended post secondary/other)	X					Х
Maternal age at child's birth (years)	X					
Maternal mental health		1		1		
Maternal stress (continuous variable)			Х	Х		Х
Maternal depression (continuous						
variable)			Х	Х		Х
Parental sleep						
Maternal symptoms for SDB (yes/no)						Х
Maternal sleep problems (yes/no)						Х
Paternal symptoms for SDB (yes/no)	X					
Paternal sleep problems (yes/no)	X					
Parental cognition about child's sleep (not a						
problem/a small problem/a very serious			Х	Х	Х	Х
problem)						
Parental-infant bonding (continuous						
variable)						Х
Parental atopy						
Maternal atopy (yes/no)						Х
Paternal atopy (yes/no)	X					

2.4.2.3 Household/Environmental Characteristics (Table 4d)

a) *Proximity to pollutant source:* Parents reported yes or no to whether their house was within 100 meters of: a) a major highway/artery b) factory c) gas station d) parking lot e) major/prolonged construction activity (e.g. building of houses or other buildings, road work, typically involving heavy machinery and/or generation of noticeable amounts of dust in the air) at 3, 6, 12 months. Proximity to each pollutant source was analyzed independently as a binary variable.

b) Average traffic-related air pollution (TRAP) exposure: Parents reported their home address during pregnancy and when their child was 12 months of age on the residential history and home environment questionnaires. NO₂ exposure (parts per billion (ppb)), based on these addresses, was determined using Land Use Regression (LUR) model estimates of exposure. Addresses were crosschecked to determine if the family moved within the first year of the child's life. Temporally adjusted LUR estimates were calculated for a) the home address during their child's birth and b) residential mobility during the first year of the child's life¹⁶⁷. TRAP exposure accounting for residential mobility during the first year of the child's life was used in this analysis and analyzed as a continuous variable.

c) *Indoor Allergen (Fine dust):* A standardized consumer model vacuum cleaner fitted with dust collection device was used to collect a dust sample from the infant's bed and a $2m^2$ area from the infant's bedroom floor at 3 months of age. The sample was sieved (<300µm size fraction) to extract fine dust and the sieved sample was then weighed¹⁵⁰. Fine dust was measured in mg and analyzed as a continuous variable.

d) *Prenatal Maternal Smoking:* Mothers reported how often they smoked during pregnancy. Mothers that responded "daily or occasionally" were categorized as having smoke prenatally; mothers that responded "not at all" were categorized as not smoking prenatally.

e) *Smoke exposure:* Parents indicated yes or no to whether anyone smoked in the child's home when their child was 3, 6, and 12 months of age. If an individual did smoke in the child's home, parents identified yes or no if smoking occurred a) inside the baby's home b) inside baby's home near an open window or in the attached garage c) outside but near the baby's home. Location of smoking was analyzed separately as binary variables.

f) Cotinine (measure of smoke exposure): Children urine samples were collected at 3 months of age and analyzed for biomarkers of nicotine (cotinine and trans-3'-hydroxycotinine (3HC)) at the Centers of Disease Control and Prevention's Tobacco Laboratory in Atlanta, GA^{168} . Samples were hydrolyzed with β -glucuronidase to de-conjugate and extract glucoronidated cotinine and 3HC molecules and then analyzed by liquid chromatography-atmospheric pressure chemical ionization tandem mass spectrometry¹⁶⁸. Cotinine and 3HC concentrations were calculated using least-squares linear regression of the peak area ratios of native to internal standards¹⁶⁸. The possibility of urine dilution was corrected for in the

biomarker concentration by using specific gravity measurements¹⁶⁸. Cotinine levels adjusted for urine dilution, measured in ng/mL, were analyzed as a continuous variable.

g) *Household size:* Parents reported the total number of adults and children (including the CHILD index participant) living in the household at when the child was 3, 6, and 12 months of age.

h) Pets (Cats and Dogs): Parents reported yes or no to owning a) dog(s) and b) cat(s) when the child was 3, 6, and 12 months of age. Cat and dog ownership were analyzed independently as binary variables.

i) Season: Season of birth and season of sleep duration reporting was determined using the month of the child's date of birth, extracted from the child's hospital birth chart, and from the month of BISQ completion when the child was 3, 6, 9, and 12 months of age respectively. Seasons were categorized as summer (June, July, August), fall (September, October, November), winter (December, January, February), or spring (March, April, May).

j) Hours of daylight: Hours of daylight on the child's date of birth and hours of daylight for the date of BISQ completion (which was completed when the child was 3, 6, 9, and 12 months of age) was calculated using the following formula¹⁶⁹:

 $\theta = 0.2163108 + 2 \tan^{-1} [0.9671396 \tan [0.00860 \times (J - 186)]]$

Where

 θ = Revolution angle of Earth from the sun

J = Day of the year for child's birthday

 $\varphi = \sin^{-1} \left[0.39795 \cos \theta \right]$

Where

 ϕ = Is the sun's predicted declination angle, or the angular distance at solar noon between the Sun and the equator, from the earth orbit revolution angle

 $D = 24 - (24 / \pi) \cos \left[\left[(\sin (0.8333 \pi)/180) + (\sin (L \pi)/180) \sin \phi \right] \right] / \left[(\cos (L \pi)/180) \cos \phi \right]$

Where

D = Length of daylight (plus twilight)

L = Latitude

Table 4d: Household/Environmental characteristics used for analysis and time of						
variable	extraction		-			
Variable	During	Birth	Infar	nt's Age (months)		
	pregnancy	Dirtii	3	6	9	12
Proximity to pollutant source:						
highway/artery, factory, gas station,			х	х		x
parking lot, major/prolonged construction						
activity (yes/no)						
Average TRAP exposure – NO ₂ (ppb)						X
Indoor allergens – Fine dust in child's			x			
bedroom (mg)						
Smoke exposure		T			1	1
Prenatal maternal smoking (yes/no)	Х					
Smoking in child's household (yes/no)			Х	Х		X
Location: Inside baby's home			v	v		v
(yes/no)			Λ	Λ		Λ
Inside baby's home near an open			v	v		v
window or attached garage (yes/no)			Λ	Λ		Λ
Outside but near the baby's home			x	x		x
(yes/no)						~~
Cotinine levels in child's urine (ng/mL)			Х			
Household size (total number of adults and			v	v		v
children)			Λ	Λ		Л
Pet Ownership					-	-
Dogs (yes/no)			Х	Х		X
Cats (yes/no)			Х	Х		Х
Seasonality						
Season during child's birthday		v				
(fall/winter/spring/summer)		X				
Amount of daylight on child's birthday		v				
(hours)		Λ				
Season when sleep duration was			x	x	x	x
reported (fall/winter/spring/summer)			Λ	Λ	Λ	Λ
Amount of daylight when sleep			x	x	x	x
duration was reported (hours)			~	1	~	~

2.5 Statistical Analyses

2.5.1 Data Collection and Cleaning. Participants completed approximately 60 questionnaires which consisted of approximately 1500 questions, two neurodevelopmental tests, one in home-PSG, a home inspection, and provided six biological samples within the first year of

SLEEP-E CHILD participation. Questionnaire data was collected online or by paper. Quality assurance was complete at each study site, and then questionnaires were scanned and uploaded to HealthDiary, a password-protected web based electronic data capture system used for data collection and management for the CHILD study¹⁵⁰. CHILD's National Coordinating Centre (NCC), in Hamilton, Ontario, has access to scanned data from all CHILD sites and is responsible for data entry and, again, quality assurance. Questionnaires and forms requiring corrections or clarifications were sent by the NCC to study sites and then entered by the NCC once resolved by the study site.

Over 40 completed CHILD SLEEP-E questionnaires were exported from HealthDiary as a Microsoft Excel file for this analysis. Data was imported into Stata (Version 12, StataCorp, College Station, Texas) for data cleaning and analysis. Data cleaning involved merging responses between:

- Similar but not identical questionnaires from the Vanguard and general cohort: each questionnaire had at least two versions, one for the vanguard cohort and another for the general cohort. In some instances a questionnaire in the Vanguard study was split into several different questionnaires for the general cohort. Amongst these questionnaires, questions and multiple-choice responses may have been modified. These variations were documented and corrected for to ensure comparability and consistency amongst participants during data extraction and analysis. For example, the child health questionnaire completed when the child was 3 months of age had four different versions. Response options also differed in some instances. A participant was asked "How long did [the baby's first cold] last for?". One version of the questionnaire's responses were "a) <1 day b) 1-7 days c) >7 days" while another version of the questionnaire's responses were "a) <1 day b) 1-3 days c) 4-7 days d) > 7 days". These responses were recategorized during data cleaning and analysis.
- Same/similar questionnaires across different time points: Questionnaires repeated up to four times. For example, the BISQ was completed when the child was 3, 6, 9, and 12 months of age.

Summary tables and scatterplots were used to identify outliers for continuous variables. Paper versions of the questionnaires (where available) were checked to ensure correct online data entry if responses were considered to be outliers. Patients were contacted to verify their response

for outliers where online data entry and paper responses matched. Consistency of responses for categorical variables was checked across time points (i.e. mothers were asked if they were breastfeeding when their child was 3, 6, and 12 month of age on the child health questionnaire. The mother's 12 month questionnaire response was checked to ensure they responded no to breastfeeding if they indicated they stopped breastfeeding on the 6 month child health questionnaire).

2.5.2 Statistical methods.

2.5.2.1 Primary hypothesis - Sleep duration. Subjects had a maximum of four reported outcome measurements since sleep duration was reported when the child was 3, 6, 9, and 12 months of age. Longitudinal and cross-sectional analyses were used to investigate the association between self-soothing (independent variable) and sleep duration (outcome variable) controlling for other modifiable sleep characteristics such as sleep position and sleep location. Longitudinal analysis was performed with linear regression modeling using the generalized estimating equation (GEE) method to account for clustering for each infant and to examine sleep duration over the first year of life. Cross-sectional analyses were performed when the child was 3, 6, 9, and 12 months of age using linear regression modeling. Both longitudinal and cross-sectional analyses were performed to ensure that sleep in the first year of life was modeled appropriately. Longitudinal modeling assumes factors associated with sleep duration are consistent across time. However, the factors associated with sleep duration may be time-specific due to the rapid maturation of sleep within the child's first year of life, thus cross-sectional analyses at each time point were also performed.

Subjects were excluded from longitudinal analysis if they did not have a sleep duration outcome reported at least one assessment point. Longitudinal analysis (i.e. multivariate linear regression using GEE methods) assumed gaussian family, identity link, and exchangeable correlation structure with robust errors. Exchangeable correlation structure was assumed to maximize power during analysis. Linear regression using GEE methods assumes missing data is missing completely at random (MCAR). Exploratory data analysis was performed using Pearson' chi-square test (for categorical variables) and student t-tests (for continuous variables) to compare baseline differences between those included and excluded from the longitudinal

analysis. Univariate longitudinal analysis was performed to determine regression co-efficients between individual sleep variables and sleep duration. Purposeful selection of variables (significance level of 0.05 or below) was used for the multivariate longitudinal analysis based on findings from the univariate analyses. Variables that had significance at or below 0.05 were retained in the multivariate longitudinal model. Another longitudinal analysis was performed with multivariate linear regression modeling using GEE methods that assumed gaussian family, identity link, and first-order autoregressive correlation structure with robust errors. First-order auto regression correlation structure was specified to reflect the assumption that sleep durations reported sequentially (i.e. at 3 months and 6 months of age) are more similar than sleep durations reported non-sequentially (i.e. at 3 months and 12 months of age).

Subjects were excluded from time-specific cross-sectional analyses if they did not have sleep duration reported at that specified assessment point (i.e. if the subject did not have a sleep duration reported at 3 months of age, they were excluded from the 3 month linear regression). Exploratory data analysis was performed using Pearson' chi-square test (for categorical variables) and student t-tests (for continuous variables) to compare baseline differences between those included and excluded from cross-sectional analyses. Univariate linear regressions were performed to determine regression co-efficients between individual sleep variables and sleep duration at each assessment point. Purposeful selection of variables (significance level of 0.05 or below) was used for the multivariable cross-sectional analyses based on findings from the univariate analyses. Variables that had significance at or below 0.05 were retained in the multivariate models.

2.5.2.2 Secondary hypothesis – SDB. Cox proportional hazard regression was used to investigate the association between age and sex-specific BMI Z-scores (independent variable) and SDB (outcome variable) while controlling for putative risk factors associated with SDB (i.e. sex, prematurity, environmental exposures). Infants were defined as having SDB if they had a PSQ score of 0.33 or above. Infant follow up started at birth (0 months of age) and ended at 12 months of age. The earliest PSQ score of 0.33 or above was used to define time to SDB. Data was right censored (i.e. information of SDB is incomplete since infant did not have SDB during period of analysis) at 12 months of age if the infant did not have SDB at any assessment point (3, 6, 9, 12 months of age). If the subject was loss to follow up (LTFU), the subject was censored at

the time at which LTFU occurred (i.e. if the subject withdrew from study at 6 months of age, they were censored at 6 months time point). Infants that did not complete a PSQ for at least one assessment point were excluded from the analysis.

Exploratory data analysis was performed using Pearson's chi squared tests (categorical variables) and student t-tests (continuous variables) to compare the baseline characteristics of subjects included and excluded from analysis. Univariate Cox proportional hazard regression was used to determine hazard rates between individual risk factors and SDB. Contingency tables with chi-square tests were used in the univariate analysis to determine the frequency of SDB for each risk factor and to test if there was a statistically significant difference of SDB between the groups (i.e. females and males) within each risk factor (i.e. gender). Purposeful selection of variables (significance level of 0.05 or below) was used for the multivariate Cox proportion hazard regression based on findings from the univariate analysis. Multivariate Cox proportion hazard regression models were adjusted for infant's gender and infant sleep duration. Variables that had significance at or below 0.05 were retained in the multivariate model. Interaction terms, which were based on current literature, were tested in multivariate analysis and were retained if they had significance at or below 0.05 and if they provided unbiased regression coefficients (i.e. sufficient number of events per covariate entered). Generalized linear regression with scale Schoenfeld residuals as a function of time was used to test the proportional hazard assumption for all multivariate models.

Two additional analyses were performed to test the robustness of the multivariate Cox proportional hazard model. To assess the contribution of rhinitis to SDB risk, the PSQ was redefined to exclude questions relating to rhinitis. Subsequently, symptoms for rhinitis were entered as a covariate into the model. The PSQ was redefined to exclude the rhinitis questions to ensure model stability as inclusion of both PSQ questions relating to rhinitis and rhinitis as a covariate within a model would lead to unstable model estimates due to collinearity. An additional analysis was also performed using only PSQ questions relating to symptoms that were strongly associated (odds ratio 9 or greater) with SDB diagnosis according to a validation study⁴⁰. These symptoms are easier to objectivity deteremine and include snoring, apnea, and mouth breathing. A PSQ of 0.33 or above was used to defined SDB in both of the previously mentioned models.

2.5.2.3 Missing data. Nominal variables and dummy variable adjustment (i.e. single imputation plus missing data indicator) were utilized to account for missing data. Missing values for categorical variables were treated as a separate category and included in analysis. Missing values for continuous variables were replaced by the variable's mean and a dummy variable was created to indicate whether the original data was missing or available. The variable, in addition to its corresponding dummy variable were included in the analysis. Theoretically, the missing category (nominal approach) and dummy variable (dummy variable adjustment approach) should not be significant or contribute to the variation in the outcome. Significance (p<0.05) of the missing category or dummy variable indicates missing values are dependent on the observed variable¹⁷⁰ (i.e. a systematic difference exists between participants with and without that variable). As a result, model estimates may be biased (i.e. overestimated or underestimated) and the degree and direction of this bias is dependent on the distribution of the missing value¹⁷⁰.

Chapter 3: Results

3.1 Participants' characteristics

Most mothers in SLEEP-E CHILD were older with higher SES. Mean age for mothers was 31.30 years of age (range: 18.32 - 43.13), which is older than Canada's average (mean: 21.6)¹⁷¹. 74% of mother had higher SES (626/845 subjects with average incomes greater or equal to \$60,000). 58% of CHILD SLEEP-E children were Caucasian (491/845 infants with mothers and fathers who were both identified as Caucasian.)

Mean GA was 39.46 weeks (range: 34.29 - 42). Two infants born earlier than 35 weeks GA participated in the study despite the exclusion criteria of 35 weeks GA. Infants' mean birth weight was 3.42kg (range: 1.87 - 5.49).

3.2 Sleep duration over the first year of life

On average, infants slept 14.08 hours at 3 months of age, 13.66 hours at 6 months of age, 13.41 hours at 9 months of age, and 13.51 hours at 12 months of age (Figure 4). Sleep duration had a few outliers with total hours of sleep ranging from 2 to 22 hours (Figure 5).



Figure 4: Average sleep duration in the first year of life for CHILD SLEEP-E participants



Figure 4: Variability of sleep duration by age over the first year of life

3.2.1 Follow up characteristics. Of the 845 Edmonton CHILD participants, 765 (90.4%) infants had sleep duration outcomes for at least one time point (3, 6, 9, 12 months of age) and were included in the longitudinal analysis (Table 5).

Table 5: Data completeness for subjects included in longitudinal analysis					
	Number of outcome measurements		Number of subjects	Percentage (%)	
1			46	5.44	
2			89	10.53	
3			196	23.30	
4			434	51.36	
		Total	765	90.4	

3.2.2 Baseline characteristics. Infants with sleep duration data were more likely to be in higher income families (85.67%) compared to those families without data (72.34%; p=0.04; Appendix 6 Table 1b), have mothers that were more likely to be married or common (94.66%)

with data vs. 88.73% without data; p=0.04) and have mother who had attended post-secondary school (91.64% with data vs. 79.59% without data; p=0.01).

There were similar proportions of males among those with data (50.46%) and without (60.71% p=0.14) and Caucasians (68.88% with data vs. 58.33% without data; p=0.09; Appendix 6 Table 1a) with and without sleep data. Levels of maternal stress and depression were not significantly different between infants with and without sleep duration data. Parent-child interactions, as measured by the P-CDI with higher scores indicating greater dysfunction between parent and child, did not vary significantly between infants with sleep data (15.33; 95% Confidence Interval (95%CI) 14.96, 15.69; Appendix 6 Table 1b) and among families without sleep data (14.50; 95%CI -17.27, 46.27; p=0.79).

3.2.3 Results for univariate longitudinal analysis for sleep duration. Self-soothing infants slept 36 minutes longer than non-self soothing infants (14.0 hours; 95%CI 13.9, 14.1 vs. 13.4 hours; 95%CI 13.3, 13.5; p<0.001; Appendix 6 Table 2a) in unadjusted longitudinal analysis. Compared to infants whose sleep was not considered a problem infants whose sleep was considered a very serious problem slept significantly less (13.9 hours; 95% CI 13.8, 14.0 vs. 11.8 hours; 95% CI 11.1,12.4; p<0.001; Appendix Table 2b), while infants whose sleep was consider a small problem slept 13.0 hours (95%CI 12.9, 13.2; p<0.001). Infants with sleep times before 21:00 slept significantly longer compared to infants with sleep times after 21:00 (14.0 hours; 95%CI 13.9, 14.0 vs. 13.3 hours, 95%CI 13.2,13.4; p<0.001; Appendix Table 2a). 30.72% (235/765) of infants slept before 21:00 at 3 months of ages, 43.57% (332/762) of infants slept before 21:00 at 6 months of age, 62.05% (461/743) of infants slept before 21:00 at 9 months of age, and 58.82% (450/765) of infants slept before 21:00 for all assessment points.

Males and females had similar sleep durations (13.7 hours, 95%CI 13.6, 13.8 for males compared to 13.7 hours, 95%CI 13.6, 13.8 for females; p=0.89). Household income was not significantly associated with sleep duration (13.6 hours; 95%CI 13.4, 13.8 for incomes under \$60,000 compared to 13.7 hours; 95%CI 13.7, 13.8 for incomes \$60,000 and over; p=0.47; Appendix 6 Table 2b). Neither infant symptoms for rhinitis, GERD, URTI, wheeze, nor OM significantly affected sleep duration (Appendix 6 Table 2a). Sleep duration did not significantly

vary by ethnicity. Hours of daylight were not significantly associated with sleep duration (0.01 hours of sleep per hour of daylight; 95%CI -0.01, -0.04; p=0.15).

3.2.4 Results from multivariate longitudinal analysis for sleep duration. Selfsoothing infants slept 28.8 minutes longer than non-self-soothing infants (0.48 hours self-soother compared to non self-soother 95%CI 0.34, 0.62; p<0.001; Table 6) in multivariate longitudinal analysis adjusted for gender. Infants with sleep times after 21:00 slept less than infants with sleep times before 21:00 (-0.66 hours; 95%CI -0.80, -0.51; p<0.001). Parents that considered their infant's sleep a very serious problem had 1 hour and 57.6 minutes less sleep (-1.96 hours; 95%CI -2.44, -0.48; p<0.001), while infants whose sleep was considered small problem had 45.6 minutes less sleep (-0.76 hours; 95%CI -0.96, -0.60; p<0.001) when compared to infant's whose sleep was not considered a problem (reference).

Age had a significant linear association with sleep duration. Infants at 3 months (reference) slept the most (14.1 hours; 95%CI 13.9, 14.3) followed by 6 months of age (-0.41 hours compared to reference; 95%CI -0.59, -0.23; p<0.001), 9 months of age (-0.56 hours compared to reference; 95%CI -0.86, -0.27; p<0.001), and 12 months of age (-0.83 hours compared to reference; 95%CI -1.05, -0.63; p<0.001). Subsequent-born infants slept 19.2 minutes more than their first-born peers (0.32 hours, 95%CI 0.15, 0.50; p<0.001). Compare to infants with diets of exclusively breast milk (reference), infants that had diets of formula feed only (-0.43 hours; 95%CI -0.95, 0.08; p=0.02), solid food only (-0.49 hours; 95%CI -0.83, -0.14; p=0.01), or mixed-feed (-0.39 hours; 95%CI -0.61, -0.18, p<0.001) slept significantly less.

Table 6 – Multivariate longitudi	nal analysis for sleep d	luration
Variabla	Co-efficient (hours)	n valua
v al lable	(9370 CI)	p-value
Needs to be soothed	-0.48 (-0.62, -0.34)	< 0.001
Sleep time after 21:00	-0.66 (-0.80, -0.51)	< 0.001
Sleep Problem (not a problem at all ref.)		
A small problem	-0.76 (-0.91, -0.60)	< 0.001
A very serious problem	-1.96 (-2.44, -1.48)	< 0.001
Subsequent-born	0.32 (0.15, 0.50)	< 0.001
Age (3 months as ref)		
6	-0.41	<0.001
0	(-0.59, -0.23)	<0.001
9	-0.56	< 0.001
	(-0.86, -0.27)	0.001
12	-0.83	< 0.001
Feed (breastfeeding only as ref.)	(-1.05, -0.63)	
reed (breastreeding only as ter.)	-0.43	
Formula feed only	(-0.95, 0.08)	0.02
	-0.49	0.01
Only Solids	(-0.83, -0.14)	0.01
Mixed fed	-0.39	<0.001
Mixed-led	(-0.61, -0.18)	<0.001
Paternal symptoms for SDB	-0.33	0.02
	(-0.59, -0.06)	0.02
Female	-0.08	0.37
	(-0.25, 0.09)	
Intercept	15.44	< 0.001
-	(13.11, 13.77)	

A longitudinal analysis using multivariate linear regression using GEE methods assuming a first-order autoregressive correlation matrix (n=566; Appendix 6 Table 3) confirmed results from the multivariate linear regression using GEE methods assuming an exchangeable correlation matrix.

Interaction terms were incorporated into the multivariate analysis based on a-priori hypotheses and statistical significance. Interaction terms were retained in the model if: 1) they provided stable estimates 2) had a significance of 0.05 or below or 3) their addition lead to a change of 10% or greater in the estimates of another variable. Variables that were significant in the multivariate longitudinal analysis model using GEE methods (i.e. self-soothing, sleep times, parent's perception of their child's sleep, birth order, feeding method, paternal symptom for SDB) were interacted with the child's age to reflect the changes the in sleep development within the first year of life. Self-soothing by age interactions were not significantly different when compared to self-soothers at 3 months of age (-0.04 hours; 95%CI -0.38, 0.01; p=0.82 if non-self soother at 6 months of age; -0.06 hours; 95%CI -0.44, 0.32; p=0.76 if non-self soother at 9 months of age; 0.18 hours; 95%CI -0.22, 0.60; p=0.38 if non-self soother at 12 months of age). Interaction terms such as age by sleep time, and age by parental perceptions of sleep also were not statistically significant. Compared to children that breastfeed only at 3 months of age, children that were mixed fed at 12 months of age had significantly shorter sleep duration (-0.77 hours; 95%CI -1.43, -0.10; p=0.02). However, this interaction term was not retained in the model because many of the feeding by age interaction estimates were unstable due to small sample sizes.

Birth order by age interaction terms were significant. Their inclusion in the multivariate model caused infant's age to be insignificantly associated with sleep duration. A stratified analysis by birth order (first born versus subsequent born) was performed to further investigate the association of birth term and sleep duration. Non self-soothers and sleep times after 21:00 remained significantly associated with shorter sleep duration amongst first-born and subsequent-born children (Table 7). However, age and feeding methods were only significant among subsequent-born children but not first-born children. Among subsequent-born children, infants that were solid fed and mixed fed infants had shorter sleep durations compared to those breastfeed only (-0.46 hours; 95%CI -0.96, 0.04; p= 0.001 for solid fed; -0.74 hours; 95%CI - 1.03, -0.50; p<0.001 for mixed-fed. Among first-born infants, solid fed and mixed fed infant did not have significantly shorter sleep durations compared to those breastfeed (-0.02 hours; 95%CI - 0.52, 0.50; p=0.95 for solid fed; -0.02 hours; 95%CI -0.34, 0.30; p=0.91 for mixed fed). Breastfeeding compared to formula feeding in both first-born and subsequent-born infants were

Table 7 – Multivariate longitudinal analysis for sleep duration stratified by birth order						
	First-born		Subsequent-born			
Variable	Co-efficient (hours) (95% CI)	p-value	Co-efficient (hours) (95% CI)	p-value		
Non self-soothing	-0.31 (-0.51, -0.11)	< 0.001	-0.57 (-0.76, -0.37)	< 0.001		
Sleep time after 21:00	-0.67 (-0.86, -0.45)	< 0.001	-0.61 (-0.81, -0.42)	< 0.001		
Sleep Problem (not a problem at all ref.)						
A small problem	-0.62 (-0.84, -0.40)	< 0.001	-0.86 (-1.08, -0.65)	< 0.001		
A very serious problem	-2.19 (-3.00, -1.38)	< 0.001	-1.91 (-2.52, -1.31)	< 0.001		
Age (3 months as ref)						
6	-0.27 (-0.53, -0.01)	0.05	-0.47 (-0.96, 0.04)	< 0.001		
9	-0.17 (-0.61, 0.27)	0.46	-0.79 (-1.17, -0.41)	< 0.001		
12	-0.68 (-0.99, -0.36)	< 0.001	-0.87 (-1.16, -0.59)	< 0.001		
Feed (breastfeeding only as r	ref.)		0.46			
Formula feed only	-0.34 (-0.84, 0.15)	0.17	-0.46 (-0.96, 0.04)	0.07		
Only Solids	-0.02 (-0.53, 0.50)	0.95	-0.87 (-1.33, -0.41)	< 0.001		
Mixed-fed	-0.02 (-0.34, 0.30)	0.91	-0.74 (-1.03, -0.50)	< 0.001		
Paternal symptoms for SDB	-0.39 (-0.74, -0.04)	0.03	-0.26 (-0.68, 0.15)	0.21		
Female	-0.09 (-0.35, 0.16)	0.46	-0.08 (-0.30, 0.15)	0.52		
Intercept	14.94 (14.50, 15.37)	< 0.001	16.07 (15.62, 16.53)	< 0.001		

not significantly associated with shorter sleep durations (-0.34 hours; 95%CI -0.84, 0.15; p=0.17 for first-born; -0.46 hours, 95%CI -0.96, 0.04; p=0.07).

3.3 Cross-sectional analyses of sleep duration at 3, 6, 9, and 12 months of age

3.3.1 Common factors associated with sleep duration across the 4 assessment times (3 months, 6 months, 9 months, and 12 months) in multivariate cross-sectional analysis.

Self-soothing infants slept longer than non-self-soothing infants at all-time points in cross-

sectional analysis (Table 8, 9, 10, 11). Infants with bedtime after 21:00 slept less than infants with bedtimes before 21:00 at all-time points in cross-sectional analyses. At all time points in cross-sectional analysis, infants whose sleep was considered a very serious problem slept less than infants whose sleep was not considered a problem. Similarly, infants whose sleep was considered a small problem also slept less than infants whose sleep was not considered a problem.

3.3.2 Unique factors associated with sleep duration at 3-months in multivariate cross-sectional analysis. Of the 845 subjects in SLEEP-E CHILD, 678 (80.2%) subjects had sleep durations reported at 3 months and were included in the 3-month cross-sectional analysis. Subsequent-born infants had greater sleep durations than their first-born peers (0.75 hours; 95%CI 0.43, 1.03; p<0.001; Table 8). Only infants that were mixed-fed slept significantly less (-0.35 hours; 95%CI -0.69, -0.01; p 0.05) than children that were breastfed only. No infants were solid-fed only at 3 months of age and formula feed only infants' sleep durations did not differ significantly from breastfed only infants. Infants born in the summer had 30.6 minutes less sleep (-0.51 hours; 95%CI -0.95, -0.06; p 0.03), while infants born in the fall had 27.6 minutes less sleep (-0.46 hour; 95%CI -0.89, -0.03; p 0.04) compared to infants born in the winter.

Table 8- Multivariate cross-sectional analysis for sleep duration at 3months of age				
Variable	Co-efficient (hours) (95% CI)	p-value		
Common factors				
Needs to be soothed	-0.62 (-0.96, -0.28)	< 0.001		
Sleeps after 21:00	-0.75 (-1.07, -0.42)	< 0.001		
Sleep Problem (not a problem at all ref.)				
A small problem	-0.64 (-1.03, 0.25)	0.00		
A very serious problem	-2.73 (-3.93, 1.52)	< 0.001		
Unique factors				
Subsequent-born	0.72 (0.41, 1.03)	< 0.001		
Feed (breastfeeding only as ref.)				
Formula feed only	-0.43 (-0.95, 0.08)	0.10		
Mixed-fed	-0.35 (-0.69, -0.01)	0.05		
Season of birth (Winter as ref.)				
Spring	-0.24 (-0.66, 0.18)	0.26		
Summer	-0.51 (-0.95, -0.06)	0.03		
Fall	-0.46 (-0.89, -0.03)	0.04		
Intercept	15.36 (14.81, 15.90)	< 0.001		

3.3.3 Unique factors associated with sleep duration 6-months in multivariate crosssectional analysis. Of the 845 subjects, 618 (73.1%) subjects had sleep durations reported at 6 months. and were included in the 6 month cross-sectional analysis. Subsequent-born infants had 18 minute more sleep than their first-born peers (0.30 hours if subsequent-born; 95%CI 0.05, 0.56; p 0.02; Table 9). Co-sleeping (i.e. room sharing and bed sharing) was significantly associated with reduced sleep duration compared to infants that did not co-sleep. Infant of fathers with SDB symptoms had shorter sleep durations (-0.37 hours; 95%CI -0.76, 0.02; p=0.06) compared to infants with fathers that did not have symptoms for SDB.

Table 9 - Multivariate cross-sectional analysis for sleep duration at 6months of age				
Variable	Co-efficient (hours) (95% CI)	p-value		
Common factors				
Needs to be soothed	-0.66 (-0.92, -0.39)	< 0.001		
Sleeps after 21:00	-0.51 (-0.77, -0.25)	< 0.001		
Sleep Problem (not a problem at all ref.)				
A small problem	-0.52 (-0.80, -0.25)	< 0.001		
A very serious problem	-2.58 (-3.39, -1.78)	< 0.001		
Unique factors				
Subsequent-born	0.30 (0.05, 0.56)	0.02		
Co-sleeping (no as ref.)				
Room sharing	-0.32 (-0.63, 0.00)	0.05		
Bed sharing	-0.37 (-0.74, 0.01)	0.05		
Paternal symptoms for SDB	-0.37 (-0.76, 0.02)	0.06		
Intercept	14.77 (14.39, 15.16)	< 0.001		

3.3.4 Unique factors associated with sleep duration at 9-months in multivariate cross-sectional analysis. Of the 845 subjects, 637 (75.4%) subjects had sleep durations reported at 9 months and were included in the 9 month cross-sectional analysis. Females slept less significantly less than males. Infants with mothers that attended post secondary had a significantly shorter sleep duration (-0.57 hours; 95%CI -1.05, -0.09; p 0.02; Table 10) compared to infants with mother that did not attend post secondary.

Table 10- Multivariate cross-sectional analysis for sleep duration at 9months of age				
Variable	Co-efficient (hours) (95% CI)	p-value		
Common factors				
Needs to be soothed	-0.58 (-0.81, -0.35)	< 0.001		
Sleeps after 21:00	-1.12 (-1.37, -0.87)	< 0.001		
Sleep Problem (not a problem at all ref.)				
A small problem	-0.85 (-1.13, -0.57)	< 0.001		
A very serious problem	-1.80 (-2.70, -0.90)	< 0.001		
Unique factors				
Female	-0.25 (-0.48, -0.03)	0.03		
Maternal Education (did not attend post second	ondary ref.)			
Completed Post Secondary	-0.57 (-1.05, -0.09)	0.02		
Other	-0.71 (-2.18, 0.77)	0.45		
Intercept	14.85 (14.37, 15.34)	< 0.001		

3.3.5 Unique factors associated with sleep duration at 12-months in multivariate cross-sectional analysis. Of the 845 subjects, 615 (74.0%) subjects had sleep durations reported at 12 months and were included in the 12 month cross-sectional analysis. Infants with mothers that smoked prenatally slept longer (0.71 hours; 95%CI 0.08, 1.34; p=0.03, Table 11) than infants with mothers that did not smoke prenatally.

Table 11- Multivariate cross-sectional analysis for sleep duration at 12months of age						
Variable	Co-efficient (hours) (95% CI)	p-value				
Common factors						
Needs to be soothed	-0.40 (-0.65, -0.14)	0.00				
Sleeps after 21:00	-0.91 (-1.17, -0.64)	< 0.001				
Sleep Problem (not a problem at all ref.)						
A small problem	-0.77 (-1.05, -0.48)	< 0.001				
A very serious problem	-0.62 (-1.57, 0.33)	< 0.001				
Unique factors						
Pre-natal maternal smoke	0.71 (0.08, 1.34)	0.03				
Intercept	14.04 (13.89, 14.20)	< 0.001				

3.4 Risk factors for SDB

3.4.1 Follow up characteristics. Of the 845 Edmonton CHILD participants, 763 (90.4%; Table 12) infants had PSQ scores for at least one time point (3, 6, 9, or 12 months of age) and were included in the survival analysis.

Table 12: Data completeness for subjects included in survival analysis						
	Number of outcome measurements	Number of subjects	Percentage (%)			
1		47	5.57			
2		106	12.56			
3		189	22.39			
4		421	49.88			
	Total	763	90.4			

3.4.2 Baseline characteristics. There was greater proportion of female infants with data than female infants without data with SDB data (49.80% vs. 36.21%, p=0.05; Appendix 6 Table 9a). Infants with SDB data were more likely to be in higher income families compared to those without SDB data (85.78% vs. 71.42%; p=0.01). Infants with SDB data were more likely to have mothers that attended post-secondary compared to infants without SDB data (91.02% vs. 80.77%; p=0.01).

There was no significant difference in Birth weight for GA Z-Scores among infants with SDB data compared to infants without SDB data (-0.01; 95%CI -0.07, 0.05 vs. 0.03; 95%CI - 0.25, 0.31; p=0.77; Appendix 6 Table 9a) or BMI Z-scores at 12 months of age among infants with SDB data compared to those without SDB data (0.27; 95%CI 0.18, 0.37 vs. 0.10; 95%CI - 0.95, 1.14; p=0.73). Parental history of atopy and SDB were not significantly different for infants with and without SDB data (Appendix 6 Table 9b). Infant urine cotinine levels at 3 months were not significantly different among infants with SDB data (2.39 ng/mL, 95%CI 0.82, 3.96 vs. 0.27ng/mL; 95%CI -0.18, 0.72; p=0.76; Appendix 6 Table 9a). Rhinitis, GERD, URTI, OM, and wheezing episodes did not significant differ amongst infants with and without SDB data.

3.4.3 Univariate analysis for SDB. Among the 763 infants analyzed, 101 (13%) infants had SDB for at least one assessment point (31 infants had SDB at 3 months, 20 infants had SDB first reported at 6 months, 34 infants at 9 months, and 16 infants first reported SDB symptoms at 12 months). Infants' BMI Z-scores did not significantly increase the risk of having SDB within the first year of life (HR 1.06; 95%CI 0.80, 0.41; p=0.68; Appendix 6 Table 10a). Similarly, Birth weight for GA Z-Scores did not significantly affect SDB risk (HR 1.10; 95%CI 0.88, 1.37; p=0.43). Preterm infants were 2.08 times more likely have SDB compared to full term infants (95%CI 1.05,4.06; p=0.04). Females were 35% less likely to have SDB compared to males (HR 0.65; 95%CI 0.44, 0.97; p=0.03). Symptoms for rhinitis (HR 8.29; 95%CI 5.17, 13.26; p<0.001), URTI (HR 1.23 per URTI; 95%CI 1.03, 1.48; p=0.03), OM (HR 2.30 per OM; 95%CI 1.48, 3.59; p=0.01), and wheezing symptoms (HR 1.22 per wheeze episode; 95%CI 1.05, 1.43; p 0.01) all increased the risk of SDB. An infant's risk of SDB was 1.84 greater if their mother had symptoms for SDB (95%CI 1.14, 2.95; p=0.01).

Paternal symptoms for SDB did not increase the infant's risk of SDB (HR 1.39; 95%CI 0.74, 2.61; p=0.31; Appendix 6 Table 10b). There was no difference in SES and ethnicity between

subjects with and without SDB. Environmental irritants such as TRAP (HR 0.88 per every 1 ppb of NO₂; 95%CI 0.98, 1.10; p=0.22; Appendix 6 Table 10c) and amount of fine dust vacuumed in the infant's bedroom (HR 1.00 per every 1 mg; 95%CI 1.00, 1.00; p=0.96) were not significantly associated with SDB risk. Parental reports of infant smoke exposure (prenatal and post partum) were not significantly associated with SDB. Urine cotinine levels at 3 months were also did not significantly affect SDB risk (HR 0.99 per every 1 ng/mL; 95%CI 0.96, 1.04; p=0.87; Appendix 6 Table 10a).

3.4.4 Multivariate analyses for SDB. Risk factors associated with an increased risk of SDB in multivariate Cox regression, adjusted for gender (Table 13), included OM (HR 2.09 per OM; 95%CI 1.36, 3.21; p < 0.001), prematurity as defined as GA less than 37 weeks but greater than 34 weeks (HR 2.09 per GA week; 95%CI 1.05, 4.15; p=0.05), and maternal symptoms for SDB (HR: 1.80, 95%CI1.12, 2.90; p=0.02). The analyses were adjusted for sleep duration. SDB risk decreased by 17% for every one hour increase in average sleep duration (HR 0.83 per hour; 95%CI 0.73,0.95; p=0.01). SES, birth weight for GA Z-Scores, and BMI Z-scores were not associated with SDB in multivariate analysis.

Table 13: Survival analysis for SDB risk factors							
	Model 1: PSQ with rhinitis questions included		Model 2: PSQ with rhinitis questions excluded				
Factor	HR (95% CI)	p-value	HR (95% CI)	p-value			
Female	0.67 (0.45, 1.01)	0.06	0.76 (0.51 - 1.13)	0.18			
Preterm	2.09 (1.05, 4.15)	0.05	1.24 (0.54 - 2.83)	0.61			
Maternal symptoms for SDB	1.80 (1.12, 2.90)	0.02	1.37 (0.85, 2.22)	0.19			
Average sleep in first year of life (hours)	0.82 (0.70, 0.96)	0.02	0.80 (0.68, 0.94)	0.01			
Total number of OM events	2.09 (1.36, 3.21)	< 0.001	1.55 (0.99, 2.44)	0.06			
Child has symptoms for rhinitis	NA	NA	3.08 (2.05, 4.67)	< 0.001			
Infant symptoms for rhinitis were associated with a 3.08 increase risk of SDB (95%CI 2.05, 4.67; p<0.001) in the model where the PSQ questions related to rhinitis were excluded and symptoms for rhinitis were entered as a covariate in the model. OM and sleep duration remained significantly associated with SDB risk in this model. Prematurity (HR 1.24; 95%CI 0.54, 2.83; p=0.61) and maternal symptoms for SDB (HR 1.37; 95%CI .85, 2.22; p=0.19) were not significantly associated with SDB in the redefined model that included PSQ rhinitis questions as a SDB risk factor.

An additional analysis was also completed where only PSQ questions relating to symptoms that were strongly associated with SDB risk with an odds ratio 9 or greater⁴⁰ were used to define SDB. Similar to the prior analyses, every additional OM event was associated with a 2.32 increase risk of SDB (95%CI 1.55, 3.47; p<0.001; Table 14). Maternal symptoms for SDB were associated with a 1.70 increase risk for infant SDB (95%CI 1.05, 2.74; p=0.03). Female sex was not associated with an increased risk of SDB in the additional analysis (HR 0.73; 95%CI 0.49, 1.09; p=0.12). When PSQ rhinitis questions were excluded from the PSQ, child symptoms for rhinitis had the strongest association with SDB risk (HR 9.12, 95%CI 5.42, 15.38; p<0.001) and OM remained a risk factor for SDB (HR 1.83 per OM; 95%CI 1.22, 2.75; p<0.001). Maternal symptoms for SDB were not significantly associated with SDB risk in this model.

Tuble The Survival analysis using only symptoms strongly associated with SDD					
	Model 1: PSQ with rhinitis questions included		Model 2: PSQ with rhinitis questions excluded		
Factor	HR (95%	p-value	HR (95%	p-value	
	CI)		CI)		
Female	0.73 (0.49, 1.09)	0.12	0.80 (0.53, 1.20)	0.28	
Preterm	1.51 (0.70, 3.27)	0.29	1.53 (0.70, 3.27)	0.29	
Maternal symptoms for SDB	1.70 (1.05, 2.74)	0.03	1.40 (0.87, 2.27)	0.17	
Average sleep in first year of life	0.83	0.02	0.87	0.09	
(hours)	(0.71, 0.98)		(0.73, 1.02)		
Total number of OM events	2.32 (1.55, 3.47)	< 0.001	1.83 (1.22, 2.75)	< 0.001	
Child has symptoms for rhinitis	NA	NA	9.12 (5.42, 15.38)	< 0.001	

Table 14: Survival analysis using only symptoms strongly associated with SDB*

* PSQ questions were related to symptoms associated with SDB with an odds ratio of 9 or more according to a validation study⁴⁰. Symptoms included: snoring, apnea, and mouth breathing.

Chapter 4: Discussion and Conclusions

This study expands on our knowledge that the factors that influence infant sleep duration are multidimensional. Sleep, however, is strongly influenced by social cues such as parental behaviours⁶⁶. Self-soothing, breastfeeding, sleep times before 21:00, and independent sleeping were significantly associated with longer sleep durations. These findings have implications for clinical practice and suggest that infant sleep may be modifiable¹⁵⁷. Behavioural interventions that focus on parental-child interactions may be advantageous in instances in which infant sleep problems do arise¹⁷². Extinction (i.e. removing inappropriate parental attentions that foster problematic sleep¹⁷²) and stimulus control (i.e. setting appropriate cues for sleep onset such as pre-bedtime routines¹⁷²) are examples of behavioural interventions that focus on parentally set social interactions and cues that are conducive to infant sleep. These interventions have shown high rates of success¹⁵⁷ and may effectively treat common childhood sleep disorders¹⁷².

Our study supports the transactional model of sleep-wake regulation. The transactional model proposes that parent-infant interactions⁵² mediate the dynamic, bidirectional interaction between infant sleep and their social environmental. Parental interventions may lead to infant sleep problems and infant sleep problems may lead to parental interventions^{52,173}. This bidirectional relationship is evident within our population as parent's perception of infant sleep problems was consistently associated with sleep duration. Parental perceptions may predict parental behaviours¹⁷⁴ and influence the type and amount of parental involvement¹⁷³ with regards to their infant's sleep. A parent that perceives that their child has problematic sleep may intervene more during sleep, which, in turn, may lead to sleep problems. Consequently, adjusting parental expectations may also be an important intervention strategy¹⁷⁵ since parent-child interactions may be the most direct, immediate link in affecting infant sleep⁶⁶.

Sleep times and self-soothing were consistently and strongly associated with infant sleep duration in cross-sectional and longitudinal analysis in our population. Similarly, sleep times explained 23.8% of the variation in sleep duration while self-soothing explained 3.2% of the variation seen in sleep duration in a cross-cultural study of 29,287 infants⁶⁶. Shimada et al., 1999, suggest that infants' sleep-wake cycle (i.e. circadian and ultradian rhythms) are entrained to maternal social cues (i.e. such as bedtime interactions) which are dictated by mother's regular daily cycle¹⁷⁶. Parental-infant bedtime interactions may be the most important sleep-wake

entrainment cue in early infancy since an infant's visual pathways are still developing and unable to fully utilize environmental cues such as light and dark¹⁷⁷. As a result, inappropriate social cues such as excessive parental soothing and late bedtimes may lead to circadian rhythm entrainments that manifest as problematic sleep. Our study suggests that parents may want to enforce consistent sleep times before 21:00 and focus on interactions that promote self-soothing to facilitate longer sleep durations. Placing a child in their crib awake so that they do not become dependent on particular parental cues (i.e. rocking if the child often falls asleep while being rocked) and use of sleep aids (i.e. objects infused with maternal odour, pacifiers) have been associated with greater self-soothing in infants¹⁶¹. Future analyses may be needed to identify the predictors of self-soothing in infants.

Subsequent-born infants had longer sleep durations at 3 and 6 months of age in our population compared to first-born infants. This finding provides further evidence that parental interactions, especially in the few months, have a strong influence on sleep duration prior to the development of the sleep-wake cycle⁵⁸. Our study also suggests that first-born and subsequentborn infants have may fundamentally different parent-infant interactions, as factors associated with sleep durations were different amongst the two groups (i.e. age and feeding method were significantly associated with sleep duration in subsequent-born infants but not first-born infants). Parents may feel and behave differently toward their children depending on their child rearing experiences, availability of time, and energy (i.e. a mother with multiple children may, by necessity, spend less time with subsequent-born in the child's first year of life compared to a first-born child. This mother, therefore, may intervene less during their subsequent-born child's sleep. As a result, their child may be more likely to learn self-soothing techniques and have longer sleep durations)¹⁷⁸. First time parents may also have greater anxiety and respond more readily to their infant's needs, and inadvertently prevents their child from learning self-soothing techniques in early infancy⁵⁸. Excessive parental soothing may lead to sleep disorders such as sleep-onset association type BIC and result in shorter sleep durations, especially if a parent attempts to change parent soothing interactions after 9 months of age⁵². The association between birth order and sleep duration suggests that parent-child bedtime interactions in infancy are the best predictors of sleep and sleep problems in early childhood⁸². Future studies may want to examine parent-child interactions and sleep duration in more depth. Other variables such as infant-parent attachment may be a more direct measure of parent-infant interactions. Attachment describes the relationship between parent and infant in situations in which the infant requires security, safety, and protection¹⁷⁹. The type of attachment a parent has to their child may predict parental actions during child sleep and sleep disruptions, and thus parent-child bedtime interactions.

Season of birth was one of the few environmental characteristic significantly associated with sleep duration in our population. Light and dark cues are critical in sleep-wake cycle entrainment² particularly when circadian and ultradian rhythms are establishing. This importance may explain the early influence (i.e. at 3 months of age) of birth season on sleep duration. Summer has longer periods of daylight or photoperiods, which has been associated with phase delays in the circadian rhythm¹⁸⁰ that lead to longer sleep latency¹⁸¹ (i.e. time from bedtime to sleep onset), and shorter sleep durations¹⁸¹. Circadian typology, an individual's preference for sleep timing, is also affected by photoperiods associated with season of birth^{182,183}. Individuals born in summer and spring tend to be evening-types, while individuals born in the winter in the fall tend to be morning-types¹⁸². Cohen et al., 2012, suggested contextual-family variables such family routines along with photic factors influence sleep timing¹⁸⁰. Birth seasons and sleep time were not significantly associated in our study. This association may have been confounded through omission of family routines since they were not measured within our study. Sleep-wake schedule in infancy are also greatly influenced by parental choice¹⁸³ and an infants needs (i.e. feeding) 180 rather than endogenous schedules 183 . Thus, circadian typology, although seen in pre-school aged children¹⁸⁴, may not be fully apparent until adolescence and adulthood, when individuals are able to set their own sleep schedules.

Breastfeeding was associated with longer sleep durations at 3 months of age in crosssectional analysis and in longitudinal analysis in our study. Numerous studies have associated breastfeeding with greater night awakenings^{60,61,79} and less consolidated nocturnal sleep⁸² due to the quick digestibility of breast milk compared to formula and solid foods⁵⁸. Our study focused on total sleep duration (i.e. nocturnal and diurnal sleep) rather than only nocturnal sleep duration, which may account for the discrepancy in our findings compared to other studies. Ramamurthy et al., 2012, found that breastfed infants under 6 months of age compensated for shorter nocturnal sleep duration through increased daytime sleep, which resulted in longer overall sleep durations in a cross-sectional analysis of 0-11 month old infants (n=10,321)⁸². Maternal melatonin found in breast milk may also lead to earlier establishment of infant circadian rhythms, thus promoting longer sleep durations especially for newborns¹⁸⁵. Future analysis may want to focus on nocturnal or diurnal sleep independently and specifically from 6 to 12 months of ages, a period at which nocturnal sleep consolidation is achieved.

A substantial portion of the variation in the risk for developing SDB (35-40%) can be attributed to factors with a genetic basis (e.g. craniofacial morphology and central control of ventilation¹⁸⁶) and gene-environment interactions¹⁸⁶ rather than the social cues that affect infant sleep duration. BMI Z-scores were not associated with SDB risk in our population. However, having a mother with SDB symptoms, male sex, prematurity, OM, and rhinitis increased SDB risk in our population. These risk factors are similar to those seen in older children¹⁴⁷. The AAP has excluded infants under one year of age in their most recent guidelines for the diagnosis and management of childhood SDB¹⁸⁷. Characterizing SDB risk factors and understanding the trajectory of pediatric SDB may be helpful in identifying and monitoring genetically susceptible individuals in infant populations^{68,131} where guidelines are not available. The findings of this study suggest that screening and treating infants at risk for SDB⁶⁸ may be the best strategy in SDB prevention.

Genetic factors such as maternal history of SDB and male sex increased an infant's risk of SDB in our study, a finding that is consist with current literature^{129,131}. Infants with a family history of SDB may be genetically predisposed to inherit airway sizes and functions that have a greater propensity for upper airway collapse¹²⁹. Males also had increased SDB risk potentially because of longer upper airways that are more prone collapse compared to females¹⁴⁷. Perinatal environments experienced by premature infants¹³⁹ and environmental factors (i.e. viruses or air pollution)¹³⁵ that lead to rhinitis and OM may increase SDB risk in genetically susceptible individuals. Rhinitis was the strongest risk factor for SBD in our population when included in the analysis, causing all other risk factors to be insignificant. Parental reports of habitual snoring and allergic rhinitis were significantly associated with an odds ratio of 5.27 in a cross-sectional study of pre-school children (n=85) with a mean age of 7.25 year olds 136 , which supports the association between rhinitis and SDB within our population. Nasal congestion associated with rhinitis exacerbates SDB risk due to increased upper airway resistance¹⁸⁸. Our study suggests that, since rhinitis is a modifiable risk factor¹⁸⁸, rhinitis monitoring or treatment in infancy may be advantageous in mitigating SDB risk and severity. Our results should be interpreted with caution. To investigate the association between rhinitis and SDB, questions from the validated

PSQ were removed to prevent collinearity. This removal leads to the invalidation of the PSQ. Future analysis using objective measures will be necessary to elucidate the association between rhinitis and SDB.

SDB presents as a heterogeneous disorder: early SDB symptoms such as snoring, apneas, and mouth breathing and lead to later SDB symptoms such as hyperactivity and inattention¹⁸⁹. OM and rhinitis were strong SDB risk factors when focusing only on snoring, apneas, and mouth breathing symptoms. These risk factors may contribute more readily to disrupted breathing characteristic of SDB because they lead to reduced airway dimensions¹⁹⁰. Prematurity, maternal symptoms for SDB, and gender became additional SDB risk factors when attention deficit disorder and hyperactivity were included as SDB symptoms. Cognitive impairment (i.e. hyperactivity and attention deficient disorder) and SDB have been found to be more strongly associated in preterm compared to full-term infants¹⁹¹. Furthermore, prematurity¹⁹² and male sex¹⁹³ may predispose an infant to attention deficit disorder and hyperactivity outside of SDB since not all children with SDB manifest cognitive morbidities¹²⁸. Objective measures, such as PSG, will be needed in future analysis to determine if infants that present with behavioural SDB consequences do so as a result of SDB (i.e. as measured by AHI) or risk factors independent of SDB. Children's whose SDB risk is not associated with prematurity, maternal symptoms for SDB, and gender in early infancy may also need to be followed up in later childhood to determine if they present with "later" SDB symptoms such as attention deficit disorder and hyperactivity.

This study has several strengths. Birth cohort studies are ideal for ascertaining outcome incidence¹⁹⁴. Temporal sequence between exposures and outcomes may be easier to ascribe in longitudinal studies since all subjects are free of the outcome at study onset¹⁹⁴. Timing of exposures, which may be as important as exposure itself, during critical periods of development (i.e. in utero, infancy, and childhood) may also be examined in birth cohorts¹⁹⁵. Prospective collection of broad amounts of information may allow for greater efficiency when identifying risk factors and provides added value for studying outcomes when compared to more narrowly defined cross-sectional studies¹⁹⁵. Biological sampling prior to outcome onset may provide direct objective evidence for exposure (i.e. smoke, TRAP) and outcome associations, which is an important step in inferring causality¹⁹⁵.

Few studies have examined sleep during early infancy⁶⁰. CHILD SLEEP-E is capable of studying long-term influence of a broad range of genetic and environmental factors on sleep. This study is also able to track the natural history and prevalence of SDB and inadequate sleep within a Canadian population, since currently available literature primarily focuses on American population. Edmonton, the site of the CHILD SLEEP-E project, provides a unique location to investigate the effects of environmental pollutants that are a by-product of oil refineries such as sulphur oxides¹⁹⁶, nitrogen oxides¹⁹⁶, and volatile organic compounds¹⁹⁶ on childhood sleep.

This study has certain limitations. BMI Z-scores were not associated with SDB because our study may have had limited power to detect an association. Obesity (i.e. BMI>28 or BMI Zscore>3 standard deviations¹³⁰) has been strongly associated with SDB¹³¹; however, only a small proportion of our population was obese (4% at 3 months and 7% at 12 months of age). Our finding is consistent with Redline et al., 1999, who suggested SDB and obesity associations may be less apparent in children than in adults due to relatively lower levels of obesity observed in child¹³¹. Studies that report a significant association between obesity and SDB also tend to have a high percentage of ethnically diverse populations (i.e. higher proportions of African Americans and Asians)¹⁹⁷. Ethnicity may independently modulate the relationship between obesity and SDB since certain ethnicities are at greater risk of being obese¹⁹⁷. A majority of CHILD SLEEP-E participants are Caucasian (58%), further limiting our power to detect an association between obesity and SDB. Obesity and SDB have been significantly associated in older children (>8 years old) rather than in younger children (<8 year olds) potentially because younger children have greater neuromotor tones and stronger ventilator drives that can compensate for upper airway collapse associated with SDB¹⁹⁷. Studies also suggest that obesity is less apparent in children than adults since children have brisker upper airway reflexes that can serve as a "protective" factor from SDB because they promote greater upper airway stability^{131,147}.

Environmental irritants were not associated with SDB because our study may have had limited power to detect an association. Exposure to environmental irritants, such as nicotine and TRAP, also demonstrated small variability within our population. Urine cotinine levels of 50ng/ml have been used to distinguish second hand smoke exposures between smokers and nonsmokers¹⁹⁸. Only 2% of our study population had urine cotinine levels above 50ng/ml even though 17% of parents reporting smoking in the infant's household. Non-smoking mothers tend to report higher smoke exposure for their infant than expected based on their infant's observed

urine cotinine levels¹⁹⁹. A majority of CHILD SLEEP-E mothers (95.6%) were non-smoker, which may explain discrepancies between infant smoke exposure reports and infant urine cotinine measurements.

Our study had a non-representative sample, which may be a result of selection bias. Selection bias occurs when there is a substantial difference in association measurements between participants and non-participants because of some underlying factor²⁰⁰. Many of our participants had higher SES, higher levels of education, and were Caucasian. This bias may have been introduced due to recruitment methods²⁰¹ since a majority of our successfully recruited participant visited prenatal clinics in more affluent areas. Participants of the ALSPAC study, a pregnancy cohort of 13,761 families spanning two generations, also had higher SES than the general population and were predominantly Caucasian²⁰². Individuals with higher SES and higher levels of education may be more likely to participate in studies due to greater trust in scientific research and higher levels of volunteerism in these groups compared to individuals of lower SES and education levels²⁰³. As a result, selection bias limits generalizability and our study findings may not be applicable to non-Caucasian ethnicities, lower SES, and lower educated groups²⁰².

Missing data and attrition (or LTFU) may have introduced selection bias^{201,204}. Data was not always missing completely at random (MCAR) within our population, and in some instances missing values may have been dependent on other variables that were included in the analysis²⁰¹ (i.e. there was a statistically significant association of infants with missing family income values and sleep duration in longitudinal analysis). Missing data and LTFU are most likely to occur in socioeconomically deprived groups⁴⁹. Attrition was found to be greatest for mother that experienced more adversity during index pregnancy such as inadequate housing and lack of social support in the ALSPAC birth cohort²⁰². This limitation is of particular importance in the longitudinal analysis of sleep duration since GEE methods assume that data is MCAR. Missing values for self-soothing were not significantly associated with sleep duration; however, the missing values for some variables (i.e. paternal symptoms for SDB and feeding type) were significantly associated with the outcome. A systematic difference is likely to exist between participants with and without missing data, as demonstrated by the significance of the missing value term. As a result, model co-efficients may be biased. The degree (i.e. magnitude) and the direction (i.e. over or underestimated) of this bias is difficult to determine since the mechanism

by which the data is missing (i.e. missing values are dependent on the variable with the missing data – Missing not at random (MNAR) or missing value is dependent on another variable-Missing at random (MAR)) is not explicitly known¹⁷⁰. The results of this study, therefore, must be interpreted with caution. Furthermore, the entire trajectory for SDB occurrence and sleep duration could not be determined because some measurements were not collected at all assessment points to reduce participation burden (i.e. missing by design). Missing anthropometric measurements (i.e. weight and height) at 6 and 9 months of age may explain the null association between BMI Z-score and SDB risk⁶⁸. Missing data, regardless of whether the data is missing selectively, randomly, or by design, is a common limitation of cohort studies²⁰¹. As a result, missing data needs to be addressed when interpreting study associations as it reduces the external generalizability (i.e. the validity and extent to which study inferences can be applied to populations outside of source population).

Media use was not measured within the first year of life, and may be a possible unmeasured confounder in our analysis of sleep duration. Studies have reported 19% of child under the age of one have televisions in their bedroom and 30% of parents incorporate television viewing into bedtime routines²⁰⁵. Media use has been significantly associated with increased bedtime resistant, delays and difficulties with sleep onset, and shorter sleep duration²⁰⁵. SLEEP-E CHILD measures media usage in child five years of age. Future analysis may be needed to elucidate the association between sleep duration and media in young infants.

Parental reports are the main source of data for children's sleep⁴⁴ and were the primary method of data collection within our study. Parents may only be aware of sleep disturbance or problems that require parental intervention⁴⁴. Parental fatigue may distort perceptions of their child's sleep when parents are aware of sleep problems²⁰⁶. As a result, parental reports of infant sleep are vulnerable to measurement errors, despite being validated against objective measures, because the accuracy of these measurements are dependent on the quality of the reporter's observations¹⁰⁸. A comparative study of actigraphy and sleep questionnaires found that parents overestimate their children's total sleep⁴⁹ as they tend to report earlier sleep times and later wake times²⁰⁷. Increasing discrepancies in sleep quality measurements over several weeks due to decreased parental motivation and increased burden of monitoring their child's sleep²⁰⁶.

Similarly, SDB outcomes in our study are vulnerable to measurement error. Pediatric SDB symptoms are subtle and may not be immediately recognized by parents¹⁴⁷. In young infants, it may also be difficult to identify more subjective symptoms of SDB such as inattention and hyperactivity. Some parents may tend to rate their child high for any pathologic finding¹⁵⁸, thus perceptions of their child's sleep and reports about SDB symptoms may be biased by factors unrelated to actual sleep problems²⁰⁶. Biases inherent in parental reports are expected to be non-differential⁵⁵ meaning that measurements errors not dependent on the status of other variables²⁰¹ (i.e. all parents have the same amount of measurement error). Sleep duration and SDB associations found in our study, therefore, should not be distorted^{49,55}.

Future analyses will incorporate objective sleep measures such as PSG. SLEEP-E subjects completed in-home PSG (NOX-T3 portable sleep monitoring) for one night at 12 months of age. PSG can be used to diagnosis SDB, examine sleep duration, and also sleep quality – an outcome measure that may be of interest in future studies. In-home sleep studies, when scored by a trained sleep physician, can take up to 45 minutes to fully score (i.e. reviewing data quality, identifying hypopneas and apneas)¹⁶⁰. Thus, objective measures, although available, were not incorporated in this analysis because the labour-intensive process of study scoring has not been completed. Literature on the reliability in-home pediatric PSG also remains sparse⁴¹. SLEEP-E is currently undertaking a validation study to determine the concordance between in-home PSG and in-clinic PSG, as well determining if automated scoring can reliably replace manual scoring of pediatric sleep studies. Scored sleep studies will be incorporated in study analysis once available.

A first born child in our study had 19 minutes less sleep than a subsequent born child, while a child that slept after 21:00 had 40 minutes less a child that slept before 21:00 – two differences that were statistically significant. Future studies are also needed to assess the clinical relevance of sleep duration differences. CHILD SLEEP-E participants complete neurodevelopmental testing such as the NEPSY and BAYLEY's annually until the age of 5. Differences in neurodevelopment in later childhood may be used to evaluate the clinical significance and elucidate whether the magnitude of sleep duration differences affect the severity of adverse health outcomes previously associated with inadequate sleep.

Use of alternative modelling methods, such as growth curve modeling may be beneficial in future analyses. Growth curves use a subject-specific statistical approach²⁰⁸ to estimate

between-person differences in within-person change over time²⁰⁹ (i.e. models individual trajectories and the group trajectory²⁰⁹). Conversely, multivariate linear regression using GEE methods uses a population-averaged statistical approach and accounts for clustering but does not distinguish between observations of the same or different individuals²⁰⁸ (i.e. models only the group trajectory²⁰⁹). Growth curve models of sleep duration may identifying the variables that lead to individual sleep differences, whereas the multivariate linear regression using GEE methods used in this thesis identifies the variables that affect the sleep duration of the sample mean. Growth modelling was not undertaken in this analysis because of the complexities in modeling infant sleep in the first year of life due to the nonlinear age-related trends of sleep in first year of life¹⁵⁷. More frequent assessments may also be needed for future infant sleep studies to reflect sleep milestones and the rapid development of sleep in the first year of life¹⁵.

Factors that affect rhinitis may be investigated in future analyses. Rhinitis was the strongest risk factor for SDB within our population; however, the causal relationship of rhinitis and SDB is unclear²¹⁰. Rhinitis can lead to SDB-like symptoms such as snoring and daytime sleepiness through mechanisms different from SDB²¹⁰. Structural equation modelling (SEM) may be used to determine rhinitis risk factors to elucidate its contributions to SDB. SEM can be used to examine reciprocal relationships between risk factors and outcomes, making SEM a powerful tool in longitudinal pediatric sleep research²¹¹. SEM uses path diagrams to examine complex, multidimensional relationships between independent variable(s) and dependent variable(s) simultaneously²¹². Path diagrams present variables within boxes that are connected by lines with arrows to indicate hypothesized relationships²¹² (Figure 6). These diagrams along with sample data can be translated into a series of analyzable equations and matrices, using maximum likelihood estimation, to estimate regression coefficients and variances and covariances of independent variables in the model²¹².

Figure 6: Proposed SEM for SDB



Childhood sleep should be a major public heath focus. Sleep losses, which lead to sleep problems, during childhood may be additive and persist well into adulthood if left untreated^{60,72}. This study provides further support that problematic infant sleep may be modifiable⁶⁵. Parents may employ behavioural interventions that focus on parent-child bedtime interactions such a parental soothing, co-sleeping, and bedtimes when addressing infant sleep problems¹⁷⁵. Parent-child interactions (i.e. use of sleep aids, putting child asleep while they are awake) that foster a child's ability to self-soothe may be of particular importance. Sleep problems such as SDB that have a greater gene and gene-environment basis may not be as easily modified. Treatment of rhinitis, a strong risk factor for SDB, may mitigate SDB consequences. However, identifying¹³¹ and monitoring⁶⁸ susceptible individuals may be an ideal long-term strategy for SDB prevention and treatment. Childhood may be the ideal point of entry to introduce intervention or prevention strategies to address problematic sleep⁴⁹ that lead to healthier lifestyles well into adulthood⁴⁷.

References

1. National sleep foundation. http://sleepfoundation.org/. Accessed July 20, 2014.

2. Davis KF, Parker KP, Montgomery GL. Sleep in infants and young children: Part one: Normal sleep. *J Pediatr Health Care*. 2004;18(2):65-71.

3. Cirelli C, Tononi G. Is sleep essential? PLoS Biol. 2008;6(8):e216.

4. Koinis-Mitchell D, Craig T, Esteban CA, Klein RB. Sleep and allergic disease: A summary of the literature and future directions for research. *J Allergy Clin Immunol*. 2012;130(6):1275-1281.

5. Galland BC, Mitchell EA. Helping children sleep. Arch Dis Child. 2010;95(10):850-853.

6. Fisher A, van Jaarsveld CH, Llewellyn CH, Wardle J. Genetic and environmental influences on infant sleep. *Pediatrics*. 2012;129(6):1091-1096.

7. Matricciani L, Olds T, Williams M. A review of evidence for the claim that children are sleeping less than in the past. *Sleep*. 2011;34(5):651-659.

8. Ferrara M, De Gennaro L. How much sleep do we need? Sleep Med Rev. 2001;5(2):155-179.

9. Buckhalt JA, El-Sheikh M, Keller P. Children's sleep and cognitive functioning: Race and socioeconomic status as moderators of effects. *Child Dev.* 2007;78(1):213-231.

10. Nixon GM, Thompson JM, Han DY, et al. Short sleep duration in middle childhood: Risk factors and consequences. *Sleep*. 2008;31(1):71-78.

11. Hobson JA. Sleep is of the brain, by the brain and for the brain. *Nature*.2005;437(7063):1254-1256.

12. Anders MP, Breckenkamp J, Blettner M, Schlehofer B, Berg-Beckhoff G. Association between socioeconomic factors and sleep quality in an urban population-based sample in germany. *Eur J Public Health*. 2013.

13. Davis KF, Parker KP, Montgomery GL. Sleep in infants and young children: Part two: Common sleep problems. *J Pediatr Health Care*. 2004;18(3):130-137.

14. Mullington JM, Haack M, Toth M, Serrador JM, Meier-Ewert HK. Cardiovascular, inflammatory, and metabolic consequences of sleep deprivation. *Prog Cardiovasc Dis*. 2009;51(4):294-302.

15. Galland BC, Taylor BJ, Elder DE, Herbison P. Normal sleep patterns in infants and children: A systematic review of observational studies. *Sleep Med Rev.* 2012;16(3):213-222.

16. Tikotzky L, DE Marcas G, Har-Toov J, Dollberg S, Bar-Haim Y, Sadeh A. Sleep and physical growth in infants during the first 6 months. *J Sleep Res*. 2010;19(1 Pt 1):103-110.

17. Jenni OG, Carskadon MA. Sleep behavior and sleep regulation from infancy through adolescence: Normative aspects. *Sleep medicine clinics*. 2007;2(3):321-329.

18. Jenni OG, LeBourgeois MK. Understanding sleep-wake behavior and sleep disorders in children: The value of a model. *Curr Opin Psychiatry*. 2006;19(3):282-287.

19. Peirano P, Algarin C, Uauy R. Sleep-wake states and their regulatory mechanisms throughout early human development. *J Pediatr*. 2003;143(4 Suppl):S70-9.

20. Zornoza-Moreno M, Fuentes-Hernandez S, Sanchez-Solis M, Rol MA, Larque E, Madrid JA. Assessment of circadian rhythms of both skin temperature and motor activity in infants during the first 6 months of life. *Chronobiol Int.* 2011;28(4):330-337.

21. Menna-Barreto L, Benedito-Silva AA, Marques N, de Andrade MM, Louzada F. Ultradian components of the sleep-wake cycle in babies. *Chronobiol Int*. 1993;10(2):103-108.

22. Rosen LA. Infant sleep and feeding. J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs. 2008;37(6):706-714.

23. Crabtree VM, Williams NA. Normal sleep in children and adolescents. *Child Adolesc Psychiatr Clin N Am*. 2009;18(4):799-811.

24. Touchette E, Petit D, Tremblay RE, Montplaisir JY. Risk factors and consequences of early childhood dyssomnias: New perspectives. *Sleep Med Rev.* 2009;13(5):355-361.

25. Spencer RM. Neurophysiological basis of sleep's function on memory and cognition. *ISRN Physiol.* 2013;2013:619319.

26. Vyazovskiy VV, Delogu A. NREM and REM sleep: Complementary roles in recovery after wakefulness. *Neuroscientist*. 2014; 20 (3): 203-219.

27. Aeschbach D, Cutler AJ, Ronda JM. A role for non-rapid-eye-movement sleep homeostasis in perceptual learning. *J Neurosci*. 2008;28(11):2766-2772.

28. Eaton-Evans J, Dugdale AE. Sleep patterns of infants in the first year of life. *Arch Dis Child*. 1988;63(6):647-649.

29. Scher A, Tse L, Hayes VE, Tardif M. Sleep difficulties in infants at risk for developmental delays: A longitudinal study. *J Pediatr Psychol*. 2008;33(4):396-405.

30. DeLeon CW, Karraker KH. Intrinsic and extrinsic factors associated with night waking in 9-month-old infants. *Infant Behav Dev.* 2007;30(4):596-605.

31. Matricciani L, Blunden S, Rigney G, Williams MT, Olds TS. Children's sleep needs: Is there sufficient evidence to recommend optimal sleep for children? *Sleep*. 2013;36(4):527-534.

32. National sleep foundation: How much sleep do we really need?
<u>http://sleepfoundation.org/how-sleep-works/how-much-sleep-do-we-really-need</u>. Accessed Juy 20, 2014.

33. National heart, lung, and blood institute: How much sleep is enough?
www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health/health-topics/topics/sdd/howmuch.html. Updated 2012. Accessed July 20, 2014.

34. Lawson D. Alberta health services: Sleep- the foundation of health at any age. www.albertahealthservices.ca/apple/6602.asp. Accessed July 20, 2014.

35. Morgenthaler T. Mayo clinic: How many hours of sleep are enough for good health? www.mayoclinic.org/healthy-living/adult-health/expert-answers/how-many-hours-of-sleep-are-enough/faq-20057898. Updated 2013. Accessed July 20, 2014.

36. Tafti M. Genetic aspects of normal and disturbed sleep. Sleep Med. 2009;10 Suppl 1:S17-21.

37. Van Dongen HP, Rogers N, Dinges D. Sleep debt: Theoretical and empirical issues. *Sleep and Biological Rhythms*. 2003;1(1):5-13.

38. Lewandowski AS, Toliver-Sokol M, Palermo TM. Evidence-based review of subjective pediatric sleep measures. *J Pediatr Psychol*. 2011;36(7):780-793.

39. Jafari B, Mohsenin V. Polysomnography. Clin Chest Med. 2010;31(2):287-297.

40. Chervin RD, Hedger K, Dillon JE, Pituch KJ. Pediatric sleep questionnaire (PSQ): Validity and reliability of scales for sleep-disordered breathing, snoring, sleepiness, and behavioral problems. *Sleep Med.* 2000;1(1):21-32.

41. Kheirandish-Gozal L. What is "abnormal" in pediatric sleep? *Respir Care*. 2010;55(10):1366-74; discussion 1374-6.

42. Bruyneel M, Ninane V. Unattended home-based polysomnography for sleep disordered breathing: Current concepts and perspectives. *Sleep Med Rev.* 2014;18(4):341-347.

43. Sadeh A. The role and validity of actigraphy in sleep medicine: An update. *Sleep Med Rev.* 2011;15(4):259-267.

44. Sadeh A. Commentary: Comparing actigraphy and parental report as measures of children's sleep. *J Pediatr Psychol*. 2008;33(4):406-407.

45. Meltzer LJ, Montgomery-Downs HE, Insana SP, Walsh CM. Use of actigraphy for assessment in pediatric sleep research. *Sleep Med Rev.* 2012;16(5):463-475.

46. Sadeh A, Acebo C. The role of actigraphy in sleep medicine. *Sleep Med Rev.* 2002;6(2):113-124.

47. de Jong E, Stocks T, Visscher TL, HiraSing RA, Seidell JC, Renders CM. Association between sleep duration and overweight: The importance of parenting. *Int J Obes (Lond)*. 2012;36(10):1278-1284.

48. Brescianini S, Volzone A, Fagnani C, et al. Genetic and environmental factors shape infant sleep patterns: A study of 18-month-old twins. *Pediatrics*. 2011;127(5):e1296-302.

49. Blair PS, Humphreys JS, Gringras P, et al. Childhood sleep duration and associated demographic characteristics in an english cohort. *Sleep*. 2012;35(3):353-360.

50. Tikotzky L, Sadeh A, Glickman-Gavrieli T. Infant sleep and paternal involvement in infant caregiving during the first 6 months of life. *J Pediatr Psychol*. 2011;36(1):36-46.

51. Hall WA, Scher A, Zaidman-Zait A, Espezel H, Warnock F. A community-based study of sleep and behaviour problems in 12- to 36-month-old children. *Child Care Health Dev*. 2012;38(3):379-389.

52. Sadeh A, Anders T. Infant sleep problems: Origins, assessment, intervention. *Infant Mental Health Journal*. 1993;14(1):17-34.

53. Hitze B, Bosy-Westphal A, Bielfeldt F, et al. Determinants and impact of sleep duration in children and adolescents: Data of the kiel obesity prevention study. *Eur J Clin Nutr*.
2009;63(6):739-746.

54. Iglowstein I, Jenni OG, Molinari L, Largo RH. Sleep duration from infancy to adolescence: Reference values and generational trends. *Pediatrics*. 2003;111(2):302-307.

55. Hense S, Barba G, Pohlabeln H, et al. Factors that influence weekday sleep duration in european children. *Sleep.* 2011;34(5):633-639.

56. Asaka Y, Takada S. Activity-based assessment of the sleep behaviors of VLBW preterm infants and full-term infants at around 12 months of age. *Brain Dev.* 2010;32(2):150-155.

57. Calciolari G, Montirosso R. The sleep protection in the preterm infants. *J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med*. 2011;24 Suppl 1:12-14.

Kaley F, Reid V, Flynn E. Investigating the biographic, social and temperamental correlates of young infants' sleeping, crying and feeding routines. *Infant Behavior and Development*. 2012;35(3):596-605.

59. Shang CY, Gau SS, Soong WT. Association between childhood sleep problems and perinatal factors, parental mental distress and behavioral problems. *J Sleep Res*. 2006;15(1):63-73.

60. Nevarez MD, Rifas-Shiman SL, Kleinman KP, Gillman MW, Taveras EM. Associations of early life risk factors with infant sleep duration. *Acad Pediatr*. 2010;10(3):187-193.

61. Touchette E, Petit D, Paquet J, et al. Factors associated with fragmented sleep at night across early childhood. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med.* 2005;159(3):242-249.

62. Mong JA, Baker FC, Mahoney MM, et al. Sleep, rhythms, and the endocrine brain: Influence of sex and gonadal hormones. *The Journal of Neuroscience*. 2011;31(45):16107-16116.

63. Patel SR, Hu FB. Short sleep duration and weight gain: A systematic review. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*. 2008;16(3):643-653.

64. Chaput JP, Despres JP, Bouchard C, Tremblay A. Short sleep duration is associated with reduced leptin levels and increased adiposity: Results from the quebec family study. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*. 2007;15(1):253-261.

65. Spruyt K, Molfese DL, Gozal D. Sleep duration, sleep regularity, body weight, and metabolic homeostasis in school-aged children. *Pediatrics*. 2011;127(2):e345-52.

66. Mindell JA, Sadeh A, Kohyama J, How TH. Parental behaviors and sleep outcomes in infants and toddlers: A cross-cultural comparison. *Sleep Med.* 2010;11(4):393-399.

67. Murray L, Cooper P. Effects of postnatal depression on infant development. *Arch Dis Child*. 1997;77(2):99-101.

 Bonuck KA, Chervin RD, Cole TJ, et al. Prevalence and persistence of sleep disordered breathing symptoms in young children: A 6-year population-based cohort study. *Sleep*. 2011;34(7):875-884.

69. Roberge R, Berthelot JM, Wolfson M. The health utility index: Measuring health differences in ontario by socioeconomic status. *Statistics Canada. Cat. No. 82-003, Health Reports.* 1995;7(2):25-32.

70. Brouillette RT, Horwood L, Constantin E, Brown K, Ross NA. Childhood sleep apnea and neighborhood disadvantage. *J Pediatr*. 2011;158(5):789-795.e1.

71. Koulouglioti C, Cole R, Moskow M, McQuillan B, Carno MA, Grape A. The longitudinal association of young children's everyday routines to sleep duration. *J Pediatr Health Care*. 2014;28(1):80-87.

72. Bottino CJ, Rifas-Shiman SL, Kleinman KP, et al. The association of urbanicity with infant sleep duration. *Health Place*. 2012;18(5):1000-1005.

73. Yolton K, Xu Y, Khoury J, et al. Associations between secondhand smoke exposure and sleep patterns in children. *Pediatrics*. 2010;125(2):e261-8.

74. Mindell JA, Telofski LS, Wiegand B, Kurtz ES. A nightly bedtime routine: Impact on sleep in young children and maternal mood. *Sleep*. 2009;32(5):599-606.

75. Li S, Zhu S, Jin X, et al. Risk factors associated with short sleep duration among chinese school-aged children. *Sleep Med*. 2010;11(9):907-916.

76. Nixon GM, Thompson JM, Han DY, et al. Short sleep duration in middle childhood: Risk factors and consequences. *Sleep*. 2008;31(1):71-78.

77. Kohyama J, Shiiki T, Hasegawa T. Sleep duration of young children is affected by nocturnal sleep onset time. *Pediatr Int*. 2000;42(5):589-591.

78. Task Force on Sudden Infant Death Syndrome, Moon RY. SIDS and other sleep-related infant deaths: Expansion of recommendations for a safe infant sleeping environment. *Pediatrics*. 2011;128(5):1030-1039.

79. Sadeh A, Tikotzky L, Scher A. Parenting and infant sleep. Sleep Med Rev. 2010;14(2):89-96.

80. Kahn A, Groswasser J, Sottiaux M, Rebuffat E, Franco P, Dramaix M. Prone or supine body position and sleep characteristics in infants. *Pediatrics*. 1993;91(6):1112-1115.

81. World health organization - exclusive breastfeeding.www.who.int/nutrition/topics/exclusive breastfeeding/en/. Accessed July 20, 2014.

82. Ramamurthy MB, Sekartini R, Ruangdaraganon N, Huynh DH, Sadeh A, Mindell JA. Effect of current breastfeeding on sleep patterns in infants from asia-pacific region. *J Paediatr Child Health*. 2012;48(8):669-674.

83. Clayton HB, Li R, Perrine CG, Scanlon KS. Prevalence and reasons for introducing infants early to solid foods: Variations by milk feeding type. *Pediatrics*. 2013;131(4):e1108-14.

84. Scott JA, Binns CW, Graham KI, Oddy WH. Predictors of the early introduction of solid foods in infants: Results of a cohort study. *BMC Pediatr*. 2009;9:60-2431-9-60.

85. Cespedes EM, Gillman MW, Kleinman K, Rifas-Shiman SL, Redline S, Taveras EM. Television viewing, bedroom television, and sleep duration from infancy to mid-childhood. *Pediatrics*. 2014; 133(5):e1163-e1171.

86. Findley LJ, Suratt PM. Serious motor vehicle crashes: The cost of untreated sleep apnoea. *Thorax*. 2001;56(7):505.

87. Sadeh A, Raviv A, Gruber R. Sleep patterns and sleep disruptions in school-age children. *Dev Psychol.* 2000;36(3):291-301.

88. Wong WW, Ortiz CL, Lathan D, et al. Sleep duration of underserved minority children in a cross-sectional study. *BMC Public Health*. 2013;13(1):648.

 Touma C, Pannain S. Does lack of sleep cause diabetes? *Cleve Clin J Med.* 2011;78(8):549-558.

90. Khatwa U, Ramgopal S, Singh K, Loddenkemper T, Zarowski M, Kothare SV. The diagnostic yield of pediatric polysomnography based on the professional background of referring physicians. *Clin Pediatr (Phila)*. 2013;52(12):1154-1160.

91. Piteo AM, Lushington K, Roberts RM, et al. Prevalence of snoring and associated factors in infancy. *Sleep Med*. 2011;12(8):787-792.

92. Moturi S, Avis K. Assessment and treatment of common pediatric sleep disorders. *Psychiatry (Edgmont)*. 2010;7(6):24-37.

93. Thiedke CC. Sleep disorders and sleep problems in childhood. *Am Fam Physician*. 2001;63(2):277-284.

94. Mason TB,2nd, Pack AI. Pediatric parasomnias. Sleep. 2007;30(2):141-151.

95. Vriend J, Corkum P. Clinical management of behavioral insomnia of childhood. *Psychol Res Behav Manag.* 2011;4:69-79.

96. Thorpy MJ. Classification of sleep disorders. *Neurotherapeutics*. 2012;9(4):687-701.

97. Maurer VO, Rizzi M, Bianchetti MG, Ramelli GP. Benign neonatal sleep myoclonus: A review of the literature. *Pediatrics*. 2010;125(4):e919-24.

98. Egger J, Grossmann G, Auchterlonie IA. Benign sleep myoclonus in infancy mistaken for epilepsy. *BMJ*. 2003;326(7396):975-976.

99. DiFazio M, Lewis D, Lafolla A. Benign neonatal sleep myoclonus.
www.emedicine.medscape.com/article/1355567-overview#a0199. Updated 2013. Accessed July 22, 2014.

100. Hoban TF. Rhythmic movement disorder in children. CNS Spectr. 2003;8(2):135-138.

101. Khan A, Auger RR, Kushida CA, Ramar K. Rhythmic movement disorder. *Sleep Med*. 2008;9(3):329-330.

102. Picchietti MA, Picchietti DL. Restless legs syndrome and periodic limb movement disorder in children and adolescents. *Semin Pediatr Neurol*. 2008;15(2):91-99.

103. Simakajornboon N. Periodic limb movement disorder in children. *Paediatr Respir Rev.*2006;7 Suppl 1:S55-7.

104. Carter KA, Hathaway NE, Lettieri CF. Common sleep disorders in children. *Am Fam Physician*. 2014;89(5):368-377.

105. Maheswaran M, Kushida CA. Restless legs syndrome in children. *MedGenMed*.2006;8(2):79.

106. Ross K. Sleep-disordered breathing and childhood asthma: Clinical implications. *Curr Opin Pulm Med.* 2013;19(1):79-83.

107. Dayyat E, Kheirandish-Gozal L, Gozal D. Childhood obstructive sleep apnea: One or two distinct disease entities? *Sleep Med Clin*. 2007;2(3):433-444.

108. Witmans M, Young R. Update on pediatric sleep-disordered breathing. *Pediatr Clin North Am*. 2011;58(3):571-589.

109. Katz ES, D'Ambrosio CM. Pediatric obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. *Clin Chest Med*. 2010;31(2):221-234.

110. Lumeng JC, Chervin RD. Epidemiology of pediatric obstructive sleep apnea. *Proc Am Thorac Soc.* 2008;5(2):242-252.

111. Sinha D, Guilleminault C. Sleep disordered breathing in children. *Indian J Med Res*.2010;131:311-320.

112. Bower CM, Gungor A. Pediatric obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. *Otolaryngol Clin North Am*. 2000;33(1):49-75.

113. Marcus CL. Sleep-disordered breathing in children. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*.2001;164(1):16-30. doi: 10.1164/ajrccm.164.1.2008171.

114. Range of sleep disorder breathing.

www.sleepwellsolutions.com/sleep_disordered_breathing.php. Updated 2007. Accessed July 20, 2014.

115. Ayappa I, Rapoport DM. The upper airway in sleep: Physiology of the pharynx. *Sleep Med Rev.* 2003;7(1):9-33.

116. Normal anatomy of the upper airway. <u>www.thesleepcenteraz.com/sleepapnea.html#</u>.Updated 2013. Accessed July 6, 2014.

117. Horner RL. Pathophysiology of obstructive sleep apnea. *J Cardiopulm Rehabil Prev*. 2008;28(5):289-298.

118. Marcus CL. Pathophysiology of childhood obstructive sleep apnea: Current concepts. *Respir Physiol.* 2000;119(2-3):143-154.

119. Arens R, Marcus CL. Pathophysiology of upper airway obstruction: A developmental perspective. *Sleep.* 2004;27(5):997-1019.

120. Greenfeld M, Tauman R, DeRowe A, Sivan Y. Obstructive sleep apnea syndrome due to adenotonsillar hypertrophy in infants. *Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol*. 2003;67(10):1055-1060.

121. Seiler ER. Individual study: Snoring. *British Journal of General Practice*.1973;23(137):914.

122. Greenfeld M, Sivan Y, Tauman R. The effect of seasonality on sleep-disordered breathing severity in children. *Sleep Med.* 2013;14(10):991-994.

123. Exar EN, Collop NA. The upper airway resistance syndrome. *Chest.* 1999;115(4):1127-1139.

124. Whiteford L, Fleming P, Henderson AJ. Who should have a sleep study for sleep related breathing disorders? *Arch Dis Child*. 2004;89(9):851-855. doi: 10.1136/adc.2003.036178.

125. Bhola A. How to interpret your sleep study.

www.daveburrows.com/cpap/sleepstudy/sleepstudy.pdf. Accessed June 14, 2014.

126. Chan J, Edman JC, Koltai PJ. Obstructive sleep apnea in children. *Am Fam Physician*.2004;69(5):1147-1154.

127. Sardon O, Perez-Yarza EG, Aldasoro A, Bordoy A, Mintegui J, Emparanza JI. Obstructive sleep apnea-hypopnea syndrome in children is not associated with obesity. *Arch Bronconeumol*. 2006;42(11):583-587.

128. Capdevila OS, Kheirandish-Gozal L, Dayyat E, Gozal D. Pediatric obstructive sleep apnea: Complications, management, and long-term outcomes. *Proc Am Thorac Soc.* 2008;5(2):274-282.

129. Lundkvist K, Sundquist K, Li X, Friberg D. Familial risk of sleep-disordered breathing. *Sleep Med.* 2012;13(6):668-673.

130. Narang I, Mathew JL. Childhood obesity and obstructive sleep apnea. *J Nutr Metab*. 2012;2012:134202.

131. Redline S, Tishler PV, Schluchter M, Aylor J, Clark K, Graham G. Risk factors for sleepdisordered breathing in children. associations with obesity, race, and respiratory problems. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* 1999;159(5 Pt 1):1527-1532.

132. Leinum CJ, Dopp JM, Morgan BJ. Sleep-disordered breathing and obesity:Pathophysiology, complications, and treatment. *Nutr Clin Pract*. 2009;24(6):675-687.

133. Weinstock TG, Rosen CL, Marcus CL, et al. Predictors of obstructive sleep apnea severity in adenotonsillectomy candidates. *Sleep*. 2014;37(2):261-269.

134. Redline S, Tishler PV. The genetics of sleep apnea. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*.2000;4(6):583-602.

135. Kheirandish-Gozal L, Gozal D. Genotype-phenotype interactions in pediatric obstructive sleep apnea. *Respir Physiol Neurobiol*. 2013;189(2):338-343.

136. Anuntaseree W, Rookkapan K, Kuasirikul S, Thongsuksai P. Snoring and obstructive sleep apnea in thai school-age children: Prevalence and predisposing factors. *Pediatr Pulmonol*. 2001;32(3):222-227.

137. Genta PR, Lorenzi-Filho G. Sleep apnoea in asians and caucasians: Comparing apples and oranges. *Eur Respir J.* 2011;37(6):1537-8; author reply 1538-9.

138. Raynes-Greenow CH, Hadfield RM, Cistulli PA, Bowen J, Allen H, Roberts CL. Sleep apnea in early childhood associated with preterm birth but not small for gestational age: A population-based record linkage study. *Sleep*. 2012;35(11):1475-1480.

139. Rosen CL, Larkin EK, Kirchner HL, et al. Prevalence and risk factors for sleep-disordered breathing in 8- to 11-year-old children: Association with race and prematurity. *J Pediatr*. 2003;142(4):383-389.

140. Lin SC, Davey MJ, Horne RSC, Nixon GM. Screening for obstructive sleep apnea in children with down syndrome. *J Pediatr*. 2014;165(1):117-122.

141. Montgomery-Downs HE, Crabtree VM, Sans Capdevila O, Gozal D. Infant-feeding methods and childhood sleep-disordered breathing. *Pediatrics*. 2007;120(5):1030-1035.

142. Snow A, Dayyat E, Montgomery-Downs HE, Kheirandish-Gozal L, Gozal D. Pediatric obstructive sleep apnea: A potential late consequence of respiratory syncitial virus bronchiolitis. *Pediatr Pulmonol.* 2009;44(12):1186-1191.

143. Goldbart AD, Mager E, Veling MC, et al. Neurotrophins and tonsillar hypertrophy in children with obstructive sleep apnea. *Pediatr Res*. 2007;62(4):489-494.

144. Hibbs AM, Johnson NL, Rosen CL, et al. Prenatal and neonatal risk factors for sleep disordered breathing in school-aged children born preterm. *J Pediatr*. 2008;153(2):176-182.

145. Montgomery-Downs HE, Gozal D. Sleep habits and risk factors for sleep-disordered breathing in infants and young toddlers in louisville, kentucky. *Sleep Med.* 2006;7(3):211-219.

146. Pagel JF. Obstructive sleep apnea (OSA) in primary care: Evidence-based practice. *J Am Board Fam Med.* 2007;20(4):392-398.

147. Tauman R, Gozal D. Obstructive sleep apnea syndrome in children. *Expert Rev Respir Med*. 2011;5(3):425-440.

148. Marcus CL, Moore RH, Rosen CL, et al. A randomized trial of adenotonsillectomy for childhood sleep apnea. *N Engl J Med.* 2013;368(25):2366-2376.

149. Sharma S, Chhabra D, Kho AT, Hayden LP, Tantisira KG, Weiss ST. The genomic origins of asthma. *Thorax*. 2014;69(5):481-487.

150. Canadian health infant longitudinal development (CHILD) study protocol: Version date May 25, 2013. 2013.

151. Sears MR. The canadian healthy infant longitudinal development study- CIHR application. .2011.

152. Mandhane PJ. Sleep, learning, education, and environment project- edmonton (SLEEP-E) research proposal. 2008.

153. Thabane L, Ma J, Chu R, et al. A tutorial on pilot studies: The what, why and how. *BMC Med Res Methodol*. 2010;10:1-2288-10-1.

154. Cohen S, Kamarck T, Mermelstein R. A global measure of perceived stress. *J Health Soc Behav.* 1983;24(4):385-396.

155. Radloff LS. The CES-D scale: A self-report depression sscale for research in the general population. *Applied psychological measurement*. 1977;1(3):385-401.

156. Loyd BH, Abidin RR. Revision of the parenting stress index. *J Pediatr Psychol*.1985;10(2):169-177.

157. Sadeh A. A brief screening questionnaire for infant sleep problems: Validation and findings for an internet sample. *Pediatrics*. 2004;113(6):e570-7.

158. Chervin RD, Weatherly RA, Garetz SL, et al. Pediatric sleep questionnaire: Prediction of sleep apnea and outcomes. *Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg.* 2007;133(3):216-222.

159. Roth T, Zammit G, Kushida C, et al. A new questionnaire to detect sleep disorders. *Sleep Med*. 2002;3(2):99-108.

160. Hoffman AG, Barnes D. Portable sleep apnea testing: An update. *Canadian Journal of Respiratory Therapy*. 2012;48(2):7-14.

161. Burnham M, Goodlin-Jones B, Gaylor E, Anders T. Nighttime sleep-wake patterns and selfsoothing from birth to one year of age: A longitudinal intervention study. *Journal of childhood psychology and psychiatry*. 2002;43(6):713-725.

162. Leroy JL. zscore06: Stata command for the calculation of anthropometric z-scores using the 2006 WHO child growth standards. 2011.

163. Spruyt K, Gozal D. Pediatric sleep questionnaires as diagnostic or epidemiological tools: A review of currently available instruments. *Sleep Med Rev.* 2011;15(1):19-32.

164. Fenton TR, Kim JH. A systematic review and meta-analysis to revise the fenton growth chart for preterm infants. *BMC Pediatr*. 2013;13:59-2431-13-59.

165. American psychological association: Center for epidemiological studies- depression. www.apa.org/pi/about/publications/caregivers/practice-settings/assessment/tools/depressionscale.aspx. Accessed July 06, 2014.

166. Reitman D, Currier RO, Stickle TR. A critical evaluation of the parenting stress index-short form (PSI-SF) in a head start population. *J Clin Child Adolesc Psychol*. 2002;31(3):384-392.

167. Sbihi H, Allen RW, Becker A, et al. *Perinatal exposure to traffic-related air pollution and development of atopy in a canadian birth cohort study.*; 2014.

168. McLean K. Comparison of questionnaire responses with biomarkers of environmental tobacco smoke exposure in a canadian birth cohort at three months of age. Simon Fraser University; 2013.

169. Forsythe WC, Rykiel Jr. EJ, Stahl RS, Wu H, Schoolfield RM. A model comparison for daylength as a function of latitude and day of year. *Ecol Model*. 1995;80(1):87-95.

170. Knol MJ, Janssen KJ, Donders AR, et al. Unpredictable bias when using the missing indicator method or complete case analysis for missing confounder values: An empirical example. *J Clin Epidemiol*. 2010;63(7):728-736.

171. Employment and social development Canada: Family life - age of mother at childbirth. www4.hrsdc.gc.ca/.3ndic.1t.4r@-eng.jsp?iid=75#M_1. Updated 2014. Accessed July 9, 2014.

172. Owens LJ, France KG, Wiggs L. REVIEW ARTICLE: Behavioural and cognitivebehavioural interventions for sleep disorders in infants and children: A review. *Sleep Med Rev.* 1999;3(4):281-302.

173. Tikotzky L, Sadeh A. Maternal sleep-related cognitions and infant sleep: A longitudinal study from pregnancy through the 1st year. *Child Dev.* 2009;80(3):860-874.

174. Sadeh A, Mindell J, Rivera L. "My child has a sleep problem": A cross-cultural comparison of parental definitions. *Sleep Med*. 2011;12(5):478-482.

175. Sadeh A, Mindell JA, Luedtke K, Wiegand B. Sleep and sleep ecology in the first 3 years: A web-based study. *J Sleep Res*. 2009;18(1):60-73.

176. Shimada M, Takahashi K, Segawa M, Higurashi M, Samejim M, Horiuchi K. Emerging and entraining patterns of the sleep-wake rhythm in preterm and term infants. *Brain Dev*. 1999;21(7):468-473.

177. Tsai SY, Barnard KE, Lentz MJ, Thomas KA. Mother-infant activity synchrony as a correlate of the emergence of circadian rhythm. *Biol Res Nurs*. 2011;13(1):80-88.

178. Lewis M, Kreitzberg VS. Effects of birth order and spacing on mother-infant interactions. *Developmental Psychology*. 1979;15(6):617-625.

179. Benoit D. Infant-parent attachment: Definition, types, antecedents, measurement and outcome. *Paediatr Child Health*. 2004;9(8):541-545.

180. Cohen D, Atun-Einy O, Scher A. Seasonal effect on infants' sleep regulation: A preliminary study in a mediterranean climate. *Chronobiol Int*. 2012;29(10):1352-1357.

181. Nixon GM, Thompson JM, Han DY, et al. Falling asleep: The determinants of sleep latency. *Arch Dis Child*. 2009;94(9):686-689.

182. Tonetti L, Fabbri M, Martoni M, Natale V. Season of birth and sleep-timing preferences in adolescents. *Chronobiol Int.* 2011;28(6):536-540.

183. Touchette E, Mongrain V, Petit D, Tremblay RE, Montplaisir JY. Development of sleepwake schedules during childhood and relationship with sleep duration. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med.* 2008;162(4):343-349.

184. Simpkin CT, Jenni OG, Carskadon MA, et al. Chronotype is associated with the timing of the circadian clock and sleep in toddlers. *J Sleep Res*. 2014;23(4):397-405.

185. Cohen Engler A, Hadash A, Shehadeh N, Pillar G. Breastfeeding may improve nocturnal sleep and reduce infantile colic: Potential role of breast milk melatonin. *Eur J Pediatr*. 2012;171(4):729-732.

186. Casale M, Pappacena M, Rinaldi V, Bressi F, Baptista P, Salvinelli F. Obstructive sleep apnea syndrome: From phenotype to genetic basis. *Curr Genomics*. 2009;10(2):119-126.

187. Marcus CL, Brooks LJ, Draper KA, et al. Diagnosis and management of childhood obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. *Pediatrics*. 2012;130(3):e714-55.

188. Young T, Finn L, Palta M. Chronic nasal congestion at night is a risk factor for snoring in a population-based cohort study. *Arch Intern Med.* 2001;161(12):1514-1519.

189. Bonuck K, Freeman K, Chervin RD, Xu L. Sleep-disordered breathing in a populationbased cohort: Behavioral outcomes at 4 and 7 years. *Pediatrics*. 2012;129(4):e857-65.

190. Gozal D, Kheirandish-Gozal L, Capdevila OS, Dayyat E, Kheirandish E. Prevalence of recurrent otitis media in habitually snoring school-aged children. *Sleep Med*. 2008;9(5):549-554.

191. Hibbs AM, Johnson NL, Rosen CL, et al. Prenatal and neonatal risk factors for sleep disordered breathing in school-aged children born preterm. *J Pediatr*. 2008;153(2):176-182.

192. Lindstrom K, Lindblad F, Hjern A. Preterm birth and attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder in schoolchildren. *Pediatrics*. 2011;127(5):858-865.

193. Chervin RD, Archbold KH, Dillon JE, et al. Inattention, hyperactivity, and symptoms of sleep-disordered breathing. *Pediatrics*. 2002;109(3):449-456.

194. Grimes DA, Schulz KF. Cohort studies: Marching towards outcomes. *Lancet*. 2002;359(9303):341-345.

195. Golding J, Jones R, Brune MN, Pronczuk J. Why carry out a longitudinal birth survey? *Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol*. 2009;23 Suppl 1:1-14.

196. Environment canada: Petroleum refining. www.ec.gc.ca/energieenergy/default.asp?lang=En&n=1467336C-1. Updated 2013. Accessed July 24, 2014.

197. Kohler MJ, van den Heuvel CJ. Is there a clear link between overweight/obesity and sleep disordered breathing in children? *Sleep Med Rev.* 2008;12(5):347-61; discussion 363-4.

198. Avila-Tang E, Al-Delaimy WK, Ashley DL, et al. Assessing secondhand smoke using biological markers. *Tob Control*. 2013;22(3):164-171.

199. Matt GE, Wahlgren DR, Hovell MF, et al. Measuring environmental tobacco smoke exposure in infants and young children through urine cotinine and memory-based parental reports: Empirical findings and discussion. *Tob Control*. 1999;8(3):282-289.

200. Nilsen RM, Vollset SE, Gjessing HK, et al. Self-selection and bias in a large prospective pregnancy cohort in norway. *Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol*. 2009;23(6):597-608.

201. Rothman K, Greenland S, Lash T. *Modern epidemiology*. 3rd ed. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2008.

202. Fraser A, Macdonald-Wallis C, Tilling K, et al. Cohort profile: The avon longitudinal study of parents and children: ALSPAC mothers cohort. *Int J Epidemiol*. 2013;42(1):97-110.

203. Galea S, Tracy M. Participation rates in epidemiologic studies. *Ann Epidemiol.*2007;17(9):643-653.

204. Delgado-Rodriguez M, Llorca J. Bias. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2004;58(8):635-641.

205. Council on Communications and Media, Brown A. Media use by children younger than 2 years. *Pediatrics*. 2011;128(5):1040-1045.

206. Sadeh A. Assessment of intervention for infant night waking: Parental reports and activitybased home monitoring. *J Consult Clin Psychol*. 1994;62(1):63-68.

207. Iwasaki M, Iwata S, Iemura A, et al. Utility of subjective sleep assessment tools for healthy preschool children: A comparative study between sleep logs, questionnaires, and actigraphy. *J Epidemiol.* 2010;20(2):143-149.

208. Hu FB, Goldberg J, Hedeker D, Flay BR, Pentz MA. Comparison of population-averaged and subject-specific approaches for analyzing repeated binary outcomes. *Am J Epidemiol*. 1998;147(7):694-703.

209. Curran PJ, Obeidat K, Losardo D. Twelve frequently asked questions about growth curve modeling. *J Cogn Dev.* 2010;11(2):121-136.

210. Rombaux P, Liistro G, Hamoir M, et al. Nasal obstruction and its impact on sleep-related breathing disorders. *Rhinology*. 2005;43:242-250.

211. Farrell AD. Structural equation modeling with longitudinal data: Strategies for examining group differences and reciprocal relationships. *J Consult Clin Psychol*. 1994;62(3):477-487.

212. Ullman JB, Bentler PM. Chapter 23: Structural equation modeling. In: Weiner IB, ed. *Handbook of psychology*. 2nd ed. New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.; 2012:661-690.

Appendices

- Appendix 1 CHILD Study University of Alberta Research Ethics Approval
- Appendix 2 Study timeline for SLEEP-E Project
- Appendix 3 Brief Infant Sleep Questionnaire (BISQ)
- Appendix 4 Pediatric Sleep Questionnaire (PSQ)
- Appendix 5 Global Sleep Assessment Questionnaire (GSAQ)
- Appendix 6 Additional Tables

Table 1a	Child characteristics of study population with and without total sleep duration
	in longitudinal analysis
Table 1b	Family characteristics of study population with and without total sleep
	duration in longitudinal analysis
Table 1c	Environmental/household characteristics of study population with and without
	total sleep duration in longitudinal analysis
Table 2a	Univariate analysis of child variables for total sleep duration in longitudinal
	analysis
Table 2b	Univariate analysis of family variables for total sleep duration in longitudinal
	analysis
Table 2c	Univariate analysis of environmental/household variables for total sleep
	duration in longitudinal analysis
Table 3	Sensitivity analysis of multivariate longitudinal analysis model for sleep
	duration
Table 4a	Child characteristics of study population with and without total sleep duration
	data in cross-sectional analysis
Table 4b	Family characteristics of study population with and without total sleep
	duration data in cross-sectional analysis
Table 4c	Environmental/household characteristics of study population with and without
	total sleep duration data in cross-sectional analysis
Table 5a	Univariate analysis of child variables for total sleep duration 3 months of age
Table 5b	Univariate analysis of family variables for total sleep duration 3 months of age

Table 5c	Univariate analysis of environmental/household variables for total sleep
	duration 3 months of age
Table 6a	Univariate analysis of child variables for total sleep duration 6 months of age
Table 6b	Univariate analysis of family variables for total sleep duration 6 months of age
Table 6c	Univariate analysis of environmental/household variables for total sleep
	duration 6 months of age
Table 7a	Univariate analysis of child variables for total sleep duration 9 months of age
Table 7b	Univariate analysis of family variables for total sleep duration 9 months of age
Table 7c	Univariate analysis of environmental/household variables for total sleep
	duration 9 months of age
Table 8a	Univariate analysis of child variables for total sleep duration 12 months of age
Table 8b	Univariate analysis of family variables for total sleep duration 12 months of
	age
Table 8c	Univariate analysis of environmental/household variables for total sleep
	duration 12 months of age
Table 9a	Child characteristics of study population with and without SDB data
Table 9b	Family characteristics of study population with and without SDB data
Table 9c	Environmental/household characteristics of study population with and without
	SDB data
Table 10a	Univariate analysis of child risk factors for SDB
Table 10b	Univariate analysis of family risk factors for SDB
Table 10c	Univariate analysis of environmental risk factors of SDB

Appendix 1: CHILD Study University of Alberta Research Ethics Approval

Re-Approval Form

Date:	March 7, 2014
Principal Investigator:	Piushkumar Mandhane
Study ID:	Pro00002099
Study Title:	The Canadian Healthy Infant Longitudinal Development (CHILD) study
Approval Expiry Date:	March 13, 2015
Sponsor/Funding Agency:	Alberta Centre for Child, Family and Community Research CIHR - Canadian Institutes for Health Research
Sponsor/Funding Agency	

AllerGen NCE Inc.

The Health Research Ethics Board - Biomedical Panel has reviewed the renewal request and file for this project and found it to be acceptable within the limitations of human experimentation.

The re-approval for the study as presented is valid for another year. It may be extended following completion of the annual renewal request. Beginning 45 days prior to expiration, you will receive notices that the study is about to expire. Once the study has expired you will have to resubmit. Any proposed changes to the study must be submitted to the HREB for approval prior to implementation.

All study-related documents should be retained so as to be available to the HREB on request. They should be kept for the duration of the project and for at least five years following study completion. In the case of clinical trials approved under Division 5 of the Food and Drug regulations of Health Canada, study records must be retained for 25 years.

Sincerely,

Dr. Glen J. Pearson, BSc, BScPhm, PharmD, FCSHP Associate Chair, Health Research Ethics Board – Biomedical Panel

Note: This correspondence includes an electronic signature (validation and approval via an online system).
Appendix 2: Study timeline for SLEEP-E Project

Grey boxes mean active study participant visits are occurring. The numbers in the boxes estimate the number of study participants who have completed that phase of the SLEEP-E project. The numbers from the top row are repeated for each subsequent row with a lag of 3 months reflecting recruitment at 28 weeks gestational age or earlier in pregnancy.



PSQ, BISQ - 6 months PSQ, BISQ - 9 months PSQ, BISQ, BSID-III, PSG – 12 months PSQ, BISQ – 15 months PSQ, BISQ - 18 months PSQ, BISQ - 21 months

PSQ, BISQ, BSID-III, CBCL: 24 months

Legend:

PSQ: Pediatric Sleep Questionnaire BISQ: Brief Infant Sleep Questionnaire PSG: Polysomnography BSID-III: Bayley Scale of Infant Development - Version III CBCL: Child Behaviour Checklist

Appendix 3: Brief Infant Sleep Questionnaire (BISQ)

Role of Responder: [] Father [] Mother [] Grandparent [] Other, Specify: Name of the child:
Date of Birth: Month Day: Year:
Sex:MaleFemale
Sleeping arrangement: [] Infant crib in a separate room [] Infant crib in parents' room [] In parents' bed [] Infant crib in room with sibling [] Other, Specify:
In what position does your child sleep most of the time? [] On his/her belly [] On his/her side [] On his/her back
How much time does your child spend in sleep during the NIGHT (between 7 in the evening and 7 in the morning)? Hours: Minutes:
How much time does your child spend in sleep during the DAY (between 7 in the morning and 7 in the evening)? Hours:
Average number of night wakings per night:
How much time during the night does your child spend in wakefulness (from 10 in the evening to 6 in the morning)? Hours:
How long does it take to put your baby to sleep in the evening? Hours: Minutes:
How does your baby fall asleep? While feeding Being rocked Being held In bed alone In bed near parent
When does your baby usually fall asleep for the night: Hours: Minutes:
 Do you consider your child's sleep as a problem? [] A very serious problem [] A small problem [] Not a problem at all

Appendix 4: Pediatric Sleep Questionnaire (PSQ)

Name:

Person completing form

Date that you are completing the questionnaire: ___/__/

Instructions: Please answer the questions on the following pages regarding the behaviour of your child during sleep and wakefulness **IN THE LAST MONTH**. The questions apply to how your child acts in general, not necessarily during the past few days since these may not have been typical if your child has not been well. If you are not sure how to answer any question, please feel free to ask your husband or wife, child, or physician for help. You should circle the correct response or *print* your answers neatly in the space provided. A "Y" means "yes," "N" means "no," and "DK" means "don't know." When you see the word "usually" it means "more than half the time" or "on more than half the nights."

Please answer the following questions as they pertain to your child in the past month.

		YES	NO	Don't Know
1.	While sleeping, does your child:			
	Ever snore?	Y	Ν	DK
	Snore more than half the time?	Y	Ν	DK
	Always snore?	Y	Ν	DK
	Snore loudly?	Y	Ν	DK
	Have "heavy" or loud breathing?	Y	Ν	DK
	Have trouble breathing, or struggle to breath?	Y	Ν	DK
2.	Have you ever seen your child stop breathing during the night	Y	Ν	DK
	if so, please describe what happened:			
3.	Does your child:			
	Tend to breathe through the mouth during the day?	Y	Ν	DK
	Have a dry mouth on waking up in the morning?	Y	Ν	DK
	Occasionally wet the bed?	Y	Ν	DK
4.	Does your child:			
	Wake up feeling unrefreshed in the morning?	Y	Ν	DK
	Have a problem with sleepiness during the day?	Y	Ν	DK
5.	Has a teacher or other supervisor commented that your child appears sleepy during the day?	Y	Ν	DK
6.	Is it hard to wake your child up in the morning?	Y	Ν	DK
7.	Does your child wake up with headaches in the morning?	Y	Ν	DK
8.	Did your child stop growing at a normal rate at any time since birth?	Y	Ν	DK
9.	Is your child overweight?	Y	Ν	DK

		YES	NO	Don't Know
	if yes, at what age did this first develop?			
10.	This child often:			
	Does not seem to listen when spoken to directly	Y	Ν	DK
	Has difficulty organizing tasks and activities	Y	Ν	DK
	Is easily distracted by extraneous stimuli	Y	Ν	DK
	Fidgets with hands or feet, or squirms in seat	Y	Ν	DK
	Is "on the go" or often acts as if "driven by a motor"	Y	Ν	DK
	Interrupts or intrudes on others (ex. Butts into conversations or games)	Y	Ν	DK
11.	Is your child			
	Restless during sleep?	Y	Ν	DK
	Sweaty during sleep so that pyjamas are wet?	Y	Ν	DK
12.	Does your child			
	Wake up during the night to pee?	Y	Ν	DK
	Have a stuffy nose or is congested at night?	Y	Ν	DK
	Have asthma that is diagnosed by a doctor?	Y	Ν	DK
	Mouth breathes most of the time?	Y	Ν	DK
	Complain of an upset stomach at night?	Y	Ν	DK
	Get a burning feeling in the throat at night?	Y	Ν	DK
	Cough before falling asleep or first thing in the morning?	Y	Ν	DK
	Cough during the night?	Y	Ν	DK

Appendix 5: Global Sleep Assessment Questionnaire

Age: Sex: Male Female Retired Unemployed Employed Full-Height: Weight:	100	atient In	itials: Date: / Empl	oyment Status:	Day shift	light shift 🔲 F	Rotating shift
Height:	Ag	ge:	Sex: 🗌 Male 🗌 Female 🔲 F	letired	Unemployed	Employe	d Full-time
Over the past month, have you had a major or stressful event that you feel affected your sleep? If so, please describe: INSTRUCTIONS: Please answer the questions below by writing on the line provided or by che the box that best describes you. Please select only one answer for each question. During the PAST 4 WEEKS, how often Did you have difficulty falling asleep, staying asleep, or feeling poorly rested in the moming? Never 2. Did you fail asleep unintentionally or have to fight to stay awake during the day? Never Sometimes Usually 3. Did sleep difficulties or daytime sleepiness interfere with your daily activities? Never Sometimes Usually / 4. Did work or other activities prevent you from getting enough sleep? Never Sometimes Usually / 5. Did you snore loudly? Never Sometimes Usually / 6. Did you have restless or "crawling" feelings in your legs at night that went away if you moved your legs? Never Sometimes Usually / 9. Did you have repeated rhythmic leg jerks or leg Never Sometimes Usually / 10. Did the following things disturb your sleep? Never Sometimes Usually / 9. Did you have repeated rhythmic leg jerks or leg Never Sometimes Usually	H	eight: _	Weight: E	mployed Part-time	Homemaker	(Please chec	k all that apply
INSTRUCTIONS: Please answer the questions below by writing on the line provided or by che the box that best describes you. Please select only one answer for each question. During the PAST 4 WEEKS, how often (Check one box on each question is provided or by che the box that best describes you. Please select only one answer for each question. 1 Did you have difficulty falling asleep, staying asleep, or feeling poorly resided in the morning? 2 Did you fall asleep unintentionally or have to fight to stay awake during the day? 3. Did sleep difficulties or daytime sleepiness interfere with your daily activities? 4. Did work or other activities prevent you from getting enough sleep? 5. Did you snore loudly? 6. Did you have restless or "crawling" feelings in your legs at night that went away if you moved your legs? 8. Did you have regeted rhythmic leg jerks or leg twitches during your sleep? 9. Did you have nightmares, or did you scream, walk, punch, or kick in your sleep? 10. Did you have nightmares, or did you scream, walk, punch, or kick in your sleep? 10. Did the following things disturb your sleep: 11. Pain 12. Did you have nightmares, or did you scream, walk, punch, or kick in your sleep? 12. Did you have nightmares, or did you scream, walk, punch, or kick in your sleep?	0	ver the	past month, have you had a major or stressful even	t that you feel affer	cted your sleep? If :	so, please desc	ribe:
INSTRUCTIONS: Please answer the questions below by writing on the line provided or by che the box that best describes you. Please select only one answer for each question. During the PAST 4 WEEKS, how often (Check one box on eac 1 Did you have difficulty falling asleep, staying asleep, or feeling poorly rested in the morning? 2. Did you fall asleep unitentionally or have to fight to stay awake during the day? 3. Did sleep difficulties or daytime sleepiness interfere with your daily activities? 4. Did work or other activities prevent you from getting enough sleep? 5. Did you hold your breath, have breathing pauses, or stop breathing in your sleep? 6. Did you have restless or "crawling" feelings in your legs at night that went away if you moved your legs? 8. Did you have nightmares, or did you scream, walk, punch, or kick in your sleep? 10. Did you have nightmares, or did you scream, walk, punch, or kick in your sleep? 10. Did the following things disturb your sleep: a. Pain b. Other physical problems c. Wever Sometimes Usually d. Medications work or other activities prevent you from getting enough sleep? 5. Did you have restless or "crawling" feelings	L						
During the PAST 4 WEEKS, how often (Check one box on eact 1 Did you have difficulty falling asleep, staying asleep, or feeling poorly rested in the moming? Never 2. Did you fall asleep unintentionally or have to fight to stay awake during the day? 3. Did sleep difficulties or daytime sleepiness interfere with your daily activities? Never Sometimes Usually / 4. Did work or other activities prevent you from getting enough sleep? Never Sometimes Usually / 5. Did you have restless or "crawling" feelings in your legs at night that went away if you moved your legs? Never Sometimes Usually / 7. Did you have restless or "crawling" feelings in your sleep? Never Sometimes Usually / 7. Did you have restless or "crawling" feelings in your sleep? Never Sometimes Usually / 8. Did you have restlees or did you scream, walk, punch, or kick in your sleep? Never Sometimes Usually / 9. Did you have nightmares, or did you scream, walk, punch, or kick in your sleep? Never Sometimes Usually / 9. Did the following things dis	IN: the	STRU e box	CTIONS: Please answer the questions that best describes you. Please select	below by writir only one answ	ng on the line priver for each que	rovided or b estion.	y checking
(Check one box on each fight to stay awake during the day? 1 Did you have difficulty falling asleep, staying asleep, or feeling poorly rested in the morning? Never Sometimes Usually / 2. Did you fall asleep unintentionally or have to fight to stay awake during the day? Never Sometimes Usually / 3. Did sleep difficulties or daytime sleepiness interfere with your daily activities? Never Sometimes Usually / 4. Did work or other activities prevent you from getting enough sleep? Never Sometimes Usually / 5. Did you hold your breath, have breathing pauses, or stop breathing in your sleep? Never Sometimes Usually / 6. Did you have regeted rhythmic leg jerks or leg twitches during your sleep? Never Sometimes Usually / 7. Did you have repeated rhythmic leg jerks or leg twitches during your sleep? Never Sometimes Usually / 9. Did you have nightmares, or did you scream, walk, punch, or kick in your sleep? Never Sometimes Usually / 10. Did the fcllowing things disturb your sleep? Never Sometimes Usually /		luring	the PAST 4 WEEKS, how often				
1 Did you have difficulty falling asleep, staying asleep, or feeling poorly rested in the morning? Never Sometimes Usually / 2. Did you fall asleep unintentionally or have to fight to stay awake during the day? Never Sometimes Usually / 3. Did sleep difficulties or daytime sleepiness interfere with your daily activities? Never Sometimes Usually / 4. Did work or other activities prevent you from getting enough sleep? Never Sometimes Usually / 5. Did you hold your breath, have breathing pauses, or stop breathing in your sleep? Never Sometimes Usually / 6. Did you have restless or "crawling" feelings in your legs at night that went away if you moved your legs? Never Sometimes Usually / 7. Did you have repeated rhythmic leg jerks or leg twitches during your sleep? Never Sometimes Usually / 8. Did you have nightmares, or did you scream, walk, punch, or kick in your sleep? Never Sometimes Usually / 9. Did you have nightmares, or did you scream, walk, punch, or kick in your sleep? Never Sometimes Usually / 10.					((Check one box	on each line
 2. Did you fall asleep unintentionally or have to fight to stay awake during the day? 3. Did sleep difficulties or daytime sleepiness interfere with your daily activities? 4. Did work or other activities prevent you from getting enough sleep? 5. Did you snore loudly? 6. Did you hold your breath, have breathing pauses, or stop breathing in your sleep? 7. Did you have restless or "crawling" feelings in your legs at night that went away if you moved your legs? 8. Did you have repeated rhythmic leg jerks or leg twitches during your sleep? 9. Did you have nightmares, or did you scream, walk, punch, or kick in your sleep? 10. Did the fcllowing bings disturb your sleep: a. Pain b. Other physical problems		1 D a	id you have difficulty falling asleep, staying sleep, or feeling poorly rested in the morning?	Never	Sometimes	Usually	Always
3. Did sleep difficulties or daytime sleepiness interfere with your daily activities? Never Sometimes Usually / 4. Did work or other activities prevent you from getting enough sleep? Never Sometimes Usually / 5. Did you snore loudly? Never Sometimes Usually / 6. Did you hold your breath, have breathing pauses, or stop breathing in your sleep? Never Sometimes Usually / 7. Did you have restless or "crawling" feelings in your legs at night that went away if you moved your legs? Never Sometimes Usually / 8. Did you have repeated rhythmic leg jerks or leg twitches during your sleep? Never Sometimes Usually / 9. Did you have nightmares, or did you scream, walk, punch, or kick in your sleep? Never Sometimes Usually / 10. Did the fcllowing things disturb your sleep: a. Pain Never Sometimes Usually / 10. Did the fcllowing things disturb your sleep: a. Pain Never Sometimes Usually / 10. Did the fcllowing things disturb your sleep: a. Pain Never Sometimes Usually / 10. Did the fcllowing things disturb your sleep: <	2	2. C fi	id you fall asleep unintentionally or have to ght to stay awake during the day?	Never	Sometimes	Usually	Always
 4. Did work or other activities prevent you from getting enough sleep? 5. Did you snore loudly? 6. Did you hold your breath, have breathing pauses, or stop breathing in your sleep? 7. Did you have restless or "crawling" feelings in your legs at night that went away if you moved your legs? 8. Did you have repeated rhythmic leg jerks or leg twitches during your sleep? 9. Did you have nightmares, or did you scream, walk, punch, or kick in your sleep? 10. Did the following things disturb your sleep: a. Pain b. Other physical problems c. Worries d. Medications 	:	3. C ir	In the provided and the	Never	Sometimes	Usually	Always
 5. Did you snore loudly? 6. Did you hold your breath, have breathing pauses, or stop breathing in your sleep? 7. Did you have restless or "crawling" feelings in your legs at night that went away if you moved your legs? 8. Did you have repeated rhythmic leg jerks or leg twitches during your sleep? 9. Did you have nightmares, or did you scream, walk, punch, or kick in your sleep? 10. Did the fcllowing things disturb your sleep: a. Pain b. Other physical problems c. Worries d. Medications 		4. C g	id work or other activities prevent you from etting enough sleep?	Never	Sometimes	Usually	Always
 6. Did you hold your breath, have breathing pauses, or stop breathing in your sleep? 7. Did you have restless or "crawling" feelings in your legs at night that went away if you moved your legs? 8. Did you have repeated rhythmic leg jerks or leg twitches during your sleep? 9. Did you have nightmares, or did you scream, walk, punch, or kick in your sleep? 10. Did the following things disturb your sleep: a. Pain b. Other physical problems c. Worries d. Medications 	!	5. C	Did you snore loudly?	Never	Sometimes	Usually	Alway
 7. Did you have restless or "crawling" feelings in your legs at night that went away if you moved your legs? 8. Did you have repeated rhythmic leg jerks or leg twitches during your sleep? 9. Did you have nightmares, or did you scream, walk, punch, or kick in your sleep? 10. Did the fcllowing things disturb your sleep: a. Pain b. Other physical problems. c. Worries d. Medications 	1	6. C	Did you hold your breath, have breathing bauses, or stop breathing in your sleep?	Never	Sometimes	Usually	Alway
 8. Did you have repeated rhythmic leg jerks or leg twitches during your sleep? 9. Did you have nightmares, or did you scream, walk, punch, or kick in your sleep? 10. Did the fcllowing things disturb your sleep? 10. Did the fcllowing things disturb your sleep? a. Pain		7. C y y	Did you have restless or "crawling" feelings in your legs at night that went away if you moved your legs?	Never	Sometimes	Usually	Alway
 9. Did you have nightmares, or did you scream, walk, punch, or kick in your sleep? 10. Did the fcllowing things disturb your sleep: a. Pain b. Other physical problems c. Worries d. Medications 	1	8. [t	Did you have repeated rhythmic leg jerks or leg witches during your sleep?	Never	Sometimes	Usually	Alway
10. Did the following things disturb your sleep: a. Pain Image: Sometimes in Usually in the second state i		9. [v	Did you have nightmares, or did you scream, valk, punch, or kick in your sleep?	Never	Sometimes	Usually	Alway
a. Pain Never Sometimes Usually b. Other physical problems Never Sometimes Usually c. Worries Never Sometimes Usually d. Medications Never Sometimes Usually	•	10. C	Did the following things disturb your sleep:			C.	_
c. Worries		8	a. Pain		Sometimes		Alway
d. Medications	2.4.3		 Other physical problems 	Never			Alway
		(d Mediaetiana	Never			Alway
Other			J. Medications	Never	Sometimes	Self-Treasury	
						USUARY	
			(Please specify)	·	a ser the	k generalise	ja ni

Appendix 6: Additional tables

E.

Table 1a: Child characteristics of study population with and without total sleepduration data in longitudinal analysis								
Variable	Included	Excluded	p value					
Categorical	% (SDB/total)	% (SDB/total)						
Non self-soother	71.13 (483/679)	NA	NA*					
Preterm	4.94 (37/749)	4.55 (2/44)	0.91					
Male	50.46 (386/765)	60.71 (34/56)	0.14					
Caucasian	68.88 (456/662)	58.33 (35/60)	0.09					
First-born	43.61 (331/759)	42.22 (19/26)	0.86					
SDB	4.58 (31/677)	NA	NA*					
Symptoms for rhinitis	35.31 (238/674)	NA	NA*					
GER	3.54 (23/650)	0.00 (0/2)	0.79*					
URTI	45.72 (299/654)	50.00 (1/2)	0.90*					
Wheeze	9.34 (61/653)	0.00 (0/2)	0.65*					
OM	0.92 (6/651)	0.00 (0/2)	0.89*					
Atopy	15.41 (104/675)	33.33 (2/6)	0.23					
Breastfed Only	49.20 (309/628)	NA	NA*					
Sleeps on belly	8.26 (56/678)	NA	NA*					
Bed Shares	82.89 (562/678)	NA	NA*					
Sleep time after 21:00	35.02 (235/671)	NA	NA*					
Born in the Winter	46.27 (180/389)	38.71 (12/31)	0.42					
Continuous	Mean (95%CI)	Mean (95%CI)						
Amount of daylight on date of	12.46	12.86	0.05					
birth (hours)	(12.23, 12.69) n=765	(11.98, 13.74)	0.37					
	-0.01	-0.02						
Birth weight for GA Z-Score	(-0.07, 0.06)	(-0.28, 0.24)	0.91					
	n=758	n=44						
	0.09	1.9						
BMI Z-score	(0.00, 0.17)	(NA)	NA*					
	n=638	n=1						

*measured at 3 months

** measured at 6 months

duration data in longitudinal analysis								
Variable	Included	Excluded	p value					
Categorical	% (SDB/total)	% (SDB/total)						
Married/Common Law	94.68 (712/752)	88.73 (63/71)	0.04					
Household income ≥\$60,000	85.67 (592/691)	72.34 (34/47)	0.01					
Mother attended post- secondary	91.64 (581/634)	79.59 (39/49)	0.01					
Maternal symptoms for SDB	58.39 (362/620)	100.00 (3/3)	0.14					
Maternal sleep problems	86.11 (533/619)	100.00 (3/3)	0.49					
Paternal symptoms for SDB	75.68 (308/407)	87.50 (21/24)	0.19					
Paternal sleep problems	78.38 (319/407)	87.50 (21/24)	0.29					
Child's sleep is considered very serious problem	79.09 (537/679)	NA	NA*					
Continuous	Mean (95%CI)	Mean (95%CI)						
Mother's Age (years)	31.37 (31.05, 31.69) n=765	30.01 (28.61, 31.40) n=56	0.03					
Parent-Child Dysfunctional Interaction (PSI Subscale the P-CDI)	15.33 (14.96, 15.69) n=571	14.5 (-17.27, 46.27) n=2	0.79					
Maternal Stress (PSS)	11.83 (11.28, 12.38) n=556	9.00 (-54.53, 72.53) n=2	0.54**					
Maternal Depression (CES-D)	7.99 (7.35, 8.63) n=556	4.00 (4, 4) n=2	0.47**					
Number of household members	3.95 (3.87, 4.02) n=687	3.00 (NA) n=1	NA*					

4 4 - 4 - 1 - 1 • • • • • C / I 1 4.

*measured at 3 months

** measured at 6 months

Table 1c: Environmental/household characteristics of study population with andwithout total sleep duration data in longitudinal analysis								
Variable	Included	Excluded	p-value					
Categorical	% (SDB/total)	% (SDB/total)						
Smoking								
Prenatal Smoking	4.09 (28/684)	14.75 (9/61)	< 0.001					
Smoking location								
At baby's home	16.89 (116/687)	100.00 (1 /1)	0.03*					
Inside baby's home	5.22 (6/115)	0.00 (0/1)	0.82*					
Outside baby's home	18.26 (21/115)	0.00 (0/1)	0.64*					
Near baby's home	89.57 (103/115)	100.00 (1 /1)	0.73*					
Proximity to:	21.80 (150/688)	0.00 (0/1)	0.60*					
Highway	0.58 (4/688)	0.00 (0/1)	0.94*					
Factory	12.79 (88/688)	0.00 (0/1)	0.70*					
Gas station	14.51 (94/648)	0.00 (0/1)	0.68*					
Parking lot	22.84 (148/ 648)	100.00 (1 /1)	0.07*					
Construction	22.34 (142/635)	50.00 (7/14)	0.02					
Continuous	Mean (95%CI)	Mean (95%CI)						
Amount of daylight on sleep duration reporting (hours)	NA	NA	NA					
Average TRAP exposure (ppb)	11.20 (10.89, 11.51) n=581	10.33 (7.91, 12.74) n=7	0.54					
Infant bedroom fine dust sample (mg)	1413.72 (1336.31, 1491.12) n=700	2420.60 (NA) n=1	NA					

*measured at 3 months

Table 2a: Univariate analysis of child variables for total sleep duration in longitudinal analysis					
Variables			p-value		
Continuous	Categories	Average Sleep (hours) (95% CI)	•		
Child's ability to self	Self-soother	14.0 (13.9, 14.1)	Reference		
soothe	Not self-soother	13.4 (13.3, 13.5)	< 0.001		
Age	3	14.1 (13.9, 14.3)	Reference		
5	6	13.7 (13.5, 13.8)	< 0.001		
	9	13.4 (13.3, 13.5)	< 0.001		
	12	13.5 (13.4, 13.6)	< 0.001		
Term	Preterm	13.7 (13.4, 14.0)	Reference		
	Full term	13.7 (13.6, 13.7)	0.95		
Gender	Male	13.7 (13.6, 13.8)	Reference		
	Female	13.7 (13.6, 13.8)	0.89		
Ethnicity	Caucasian	13.7 (13.6, 13.8)	Reference		
-	Non-Caucasian	13.7 (13.5, 13.8)	0.79		
Birth order	First-born	13.5 (13.4, 13.6)	Reference		
	Subsequent-born	13.8 (13.7, 13.9)	< 0.001		
Symptoms for Rhinitis	No	13.7 (13.7, 13.8)	Reference		
	Yes	13.6 (13.4, 13.7)	0.83		
GER	No	13.8 (13.7, 13.9)	Reference		
	Yes	13.4 (12.7, 14.2)	0.33		
URTI	No	13.8 (13.7, 13.9)	Reference		
	Yes	13.8 (13.7, 13.9)	0.40		
Wheeze	No	13.8 (13.7, 13.9)	Reference		
	Yes	13.6 (13.3, 14.0)	0.20		
OM	No	13.8 (13.7, 13.9)	Reference		
	Yes	13.5 (13.1, 13.8)	0.10		
Atopy	No	13.7 (13.6, 13.8)	Reference		
	Yes	13.7 (13.5, 13.9)	0.96		
Breastfeeding	Breastfed Only	14.2 (14.0, 14.4)	Reference		
	Formula Fed Only	13.9 (13.4, 14.4)	0.17		
	Solids Only	13.7 (13.4, 13.9)	< 0.001		
	Mix-fed	13.7 (13.6, 13.8)	< 0.001		
Sleep Position	On Belly	13.6 (13.5, 13.7)	Reference		
	On Side	13.5 (13.3, 13.7)	0.67		
	On Back	13.8 (13.7, 13.9)	0.001		
Co-sleep	No	13.8 (13.7, 13.9)	Reference		
	Room sharing	13.6 (13.4, 13.8)	0.47		
	Bed sharing	13.2 (13.0, 13.4)	0.01		
Sleep time	Before 21:00	14.0 (13.9, 14.0)	Reference		
	After 21:00	13.3 (13.2, 13.4)	< 0.001		
Birthday Season	Winter	13.8 (13.6, 13.9)	Reference		
	Spring	13.7 (13.6, 13.9)	0.82		
	Summer	13.6 (13.5, 13.3)	0.41		
	Fall	13.6 (13.4, 13.7)	0.26		
Continuous		Co-efficient (hours) (95% CI)			
Amount of daylight on date	of birth (hours)	0.00 (-0.03, 0.03)	1.00		
Birth weight for GA Z-Scor	re	0.11 (0.00, 0.21)	0.05		
BMI Z-Score		-0.08 (-0.18, 0.02)	0.11		

analysis						
Variables			p-value			
Categorical	Categories	Average Sleep (hours) (95% CI)				
Marital Status	Married/Common Law	13.7 (13.6, 13.8)	Reference			
	Divorced or Separated/Single	13.3 (12.9, 13.6)	0.07			
Household Income	< \$60,000	13.6 (13.4, 13.8)	Reference			
	\geq \$60,000	13.7 (13.7, 13.8)	0.47			
Maternal Education	Mother has not attended post- secondary	13.9 (13.6, 14.1)	Reference			
	Mother attended post- secondary	13.6 (13.6, 13.7)	0.25			
	Other	13.1 (11.9, 14.3)	0.23			
Mother has symptoms for SDB	No	13.8 (13.7, 13.9)	Reference			
	Yes	13.6 (13.5, 13.7)	0.14			
Mother reported sleep problems	No	14.0 (13.8, 14.2)	Reference			
	Yes	13.6 (13.5, 13.7)	0.01			
Father has symptoms for SDB	No	14.0 (13.8, 14.1)	Reference			
	Yes	13.6 (13.5, 13.7)	0.01			
Father reported sleep problems	No	13.6 (13.4, 13.8)	Reference			
-	Yes	13.7 (13.6, 13.8)	0.61			
Parent's cognition of child's sleep	Not a problem	13.9 (13.8, 14.0)	Reference			
-	A small problem A very serious problem	13.0 (12.9, 13.2) 11.8 (11.1, 12.4)	<0.001 <0.001			
Continuous		Co-efficient (hours) (95% CI)				
Mother's Age (years)		-0.02 (-0.04, 0.01)	0.14			
Parent-Child Dysfunctional Int the P-CDI)	eraction (PSI Subscale	0.00 (-0.03, 0.03)	0.87			
Maternal Stress (PSS) Maternal Depression (CES-D)		-0.02 (-0.04, -0.01) -0.02 (-0.04, -0.01)	0.00 0.00			

Table 2h: Universite analysis of family variables for total sleep duration in longitudinal

duration in longitudinar analysis								
Variables			p-value					
Categorical	Categories	Average Sleep (hours) (95% CI)						
Season when total sleep was	Winter	13.6 (13.5, 13.8)	Reference					
reported	Spring	13.8 (13.6, 13.9)	0.06					
	Summer	13.7 (13.6, 13.9)	0.19					
	Fall	13.6 (13.4, 13.7)	0.80					
Maternal prenatal smoking	No	13.7 (13.6, 13.8)	Reference					
	Yes	13.9 (13.5, 14.2)	0.31					
Smoking location:								
At baby's home	No	13.8 (13.7, 13.9)	Reference					
	Yes	13.8 (13.6, 14.0)	0.62					
Inside baby's home	No	13.8 (13.6, 14.1)	Reference					
	Yes	13.4 (12.3, 14.4)	0.43					
Outside baby's home	No	13.8 (13.6, 14.1)	Reference					
	Yes	13.7 (12.9,14.4)	0.67					
Near baby's home	No	13.2 (12.2, 14.3)	Reference					
	Yes	13.9 (13.6, 14.1)	0.21					
Proximity to:								
Highway	No	13.9 (12.8, 14.0)	Reference					
	Yes	13.7 (13.4, 13.9)	0.50					
Factory	No	13.8 (13.7, 13.9)	Reference					
	Yes	12.1 (8.3, 15.9)	0.38					
Gas station	No	13.9 (12.7, 14.0)	Reference					
	Yes	13.7 (13.3, 14.0)	0.35					
Parking lot	No	13.8 (13.7, 14.0)	Reference					
	Yes	14.0 (13.6, 14.3)	0.31					
Construction	No	13.9 (13.8, 14.0)	Reference					
	Yes	13.8 (13.5, 14.0)	0.22					
Continuous	Co-efficient (hours) (95% CI)							
Amount of daylight on sleep du (hours)	uration reporting	0.01 (-0.01, 0.04)	0.15					
Average TRAP exposure (ppb)		0.01 (-0.02 0.04)	0.39					
Infant bedroom fine dust samp	le (mg)	NA	NA					

Table 2c: Univariate analysis of environment/household variables for total sleepduration in longitudinal analysis

Table 3 – Sensitivity analysis of multivariate longitudinal analysis model for sleep duration					
	Co officient (houng)				
Variable	(95% CI)	p-value			
Needs to be soothed	-0.44 (-0.60, -0.29)	< 0.001			
Sleeps after 21:00	-0.63 (-0.79, -0.46)	< 0.001			
Sleep Problem (not a problem at all ref.))				
A small problem	-0.74 (-0.91, -0.57)	< 0.001			
A very serious problem	-1.95 (-2.47, -1.44)	< 0.001			
Subsequent-born	0.40 (0.21, 0.59)	< 0.001			
Age (3 months as ref)					
6	-0.41 (-0.59, -0.23)	< 0.001			
9	-0.69 (-1.01, -0.37)	< 0.001			
12	-0.78 (-1.04, -0.52)	< 0.001			
Feed (breastfeeding only as ref.)					
Formula feed only	-0.49 (-0.90, 0.08)	0.02			
Only Solids	-0.53 (-0.93, -0.13)	0.01			
Mixed-fed	-0.40 (-0.64, -0.15)	< 0.001			
Paternal symptoms for SDB	-0.30 (-0.59, -0.01)	0.04			
Female	-0.14 (-0.33, 0.04)	0.12			
Intercept	15.37 (15.01, 15.72)	< 0.001			

Table 4a: Child characteristics of study population with and without total sleep duration data in cross-sectional analysis												
	3	months of age		6	months of age		9	months of age		12	months of age	
Variable	Included	Excluded	p value	Included	Excluded	p value	Included	Excluded	p value	Included	Excluded	p value
Categorical	% (SDB/total)	% (SDB/total)		% (SDB/total)	% (SDB/total)		% (SDB/total)	% (SDB/total)		% (SDB/total)	% (SDB/total)	
Non self-soother	71.24 (483/ 678)	0.00 (0/1)	0.12	60.19 (372/618)	100.00 (1/1)	0.42	44.27 (282/637)	100 (3/3)	0.05	33.77 (207/613)	NA	NA
Preterm	4.98 (33/663)	4.62 (6/130)	0.86	4.64 (28/604)	5.78 (10/173)	0.54	5.13 (32/624)	3.85 (5/130)	0.54	4.63 (28/605)	5.85 (11/188)	0.50
Male	49.71 (337/ 678)	57.75 (82/142)	0.08	50.97 (315/618)	50.85 (90/177)	0.98	49.61 (316/637)	56.06 (74/132)	0.18	50.08 (308/615)	54.37 (112/206)	0.29
Caucasian	69.05 (406/ 588)	63.85 (83/130)	0.25	72.54 (391/539)	52.41 (76/145)	< 0.001	71.17 (390/548)	57.14 (64/112)	0.00	72.81 (399/548)	52.87 (92/174)	< 0.001
First-born	44.28 (298/ 673)	39.69 (52/131)	0.33	46.00 (282/613)	35.63 (62/174)	0.02	43.60 (276/633)	44.62 (58/130)	0.83	44.26 (270/610)	41.24 (80/194)	0.46
SDB	4.61 (31/ 673)	0.00 (0/4)	0.66	4.96 (29/585)	0.00 (0/2)	0.75	7.56 (48/635)	0.00 (0/3)	0.62	6.13 (37/604)	25.00 (1/4)	0.12
Symptoms for rhinitis	35.07 (235/670)	75.00 (3/4)	0.10	23.58 (137/581)	0.00 (0/2)	0.43	34.65 (219/632)	33.33 (1/3)	0.96	23.13 (139/601)	50.00 (2/4)	0.21
GER	3.46 (22/ 636)	6.25 (1/16)	0.55	3.15 (17/540)	0.00 (0/5)	0.69	NA	NA	NA	1.61 (9/560)	0.00 (0/14)	0.63
URTI	45.62 (292/ 640)	50.00 (8/16)	0.73	51.52 (289/561)	75.00 (3/4)	0.35	NA	NA	NA	79.21 (461/582)	100.00 (6/6)	0.21
Wheeze	9.55 (61/ 639)	0.00 (0/16)	0.19	5.35 (30/561)	0.00 (0/4)	0.64	NA	NA	NA	10.67 (62/581)	16.67 (1/6)	0.64
ОМ	0.94 (6/ 637)	0.00 (0/16)	0.70	2.32 (13/560)	0.00 (0/4)	0.76	NA	NA	NA	10.50 (61/581)	16.67 (1/6)	0.63
Atopy	15.07 (91/ 604)	19.48 (15/ 77)	0.31	13.49 (75/556)	24.39 (30/123)	0.00	15.56 (91/585)	16.09 (14/87)	0.90	15.65 (92/588)	15.05 (14/93)	0.88
Breastfed Only	49.19 (302/ 614)	50.00 (7/14)	0.84	9.68 (54/558)	0.00 (0/4)	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
Sleeps on belly	8.27 (56/ 677)	0.00 (0/1)	0.88	16.83 (104/618)	0.00 (0/1)	0.74	42.70 (272/637)	33.33 (1/3)	0.21	51.95 (319/614)	NA	NA
Bed Shares	17.13 (116/ 677)	0.00(0/1)	0.65	14.40 (89/618)	0.00 (0/1)	0.68	12.87 (82/637)	33.33 (1/3)	0.29	11.91 (73/613)	NA	NA
Sleep time after 21:00	64.93 (435/670)	100.00 (1/1)	0.46	45.84 (281/ 613)	0.00 (0/1)	0.36	27.60 (175/634)	33.33 (1/3)	0.83	26.59 (163/613)	NA	NA
Born in the Winter	25.07 (170/678)	15.49 (22/142)	0.16	25.24 (156/618)	16.95 (30/177)	0.08	26.37 (168/637)	11.36 (15/132)	< 0.001	25.85 (159/615)	16.02 (33/206)	0.01
Continuous	Mean (95%CI)	Mean (95%CI)		Mean (95%CI)	Mean (95%CI)		Mean (95%CI)	Mean (95%CI)		Mean (95%CI)	Mean (95%CI)	
Amount of daylight on date of birth (hours)	12.21 (11.98, 12.45) n=678 -0.01	13.80 (13.26, 14.33) n=142 0.01	< 0.001	12.38 (12.13 - 12.63) n= 618 -0.03	12.96 (12.48, 13.44) n=177 0.07	0.03	12.25 (12.00, 12.50) n=637 -0.03	13.77 (13.27, 14.27) n=132 0.07	< 0.001	12.40 (12.14, 12.66) n= 615 0.01	12.74 (12.32, 13.17) n=206 -0.05	0.19
Birth weight for GA Z- Score	(-0.07, 0.06) n=672 0.09	(-0.16, 0.17) n=130 0.14	0.86	(-0.10, 0.04) n=612	(-0.06, 0.20) n=174	0.17	(-0.09, 0.04) n=633	(-0.08 - 0.22) n=130	0.26	(-0.06, 0.08) n=610 0.27	(-0.18, 0.08) n=192 0.26	0.46
BMI Z-score	(0.01, 0.17) n=625	(-0.45, 0.73) n=14	0.86	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	(0.17, 0.38) n=471	(- 0.02, 0.54) n=61	0.92

		Table 4b:	Family chara	acteristics of study p	opulation with and v	without total	l sleep duration data	a in cross-sectional	analysis			
	3	months of age		6	months of age		9	months of age		12	months of age	
Variable	Included	Excluded	p value	Included	Excluded	p value	Included	Excluded	p value	Included	Excluded	p value
Categorical	% (SDB/total)	% (SDB/total)		% (SDB/total)	% (SDB/total)		% (SDB/total)	% (SDB/total)		% (SDB/total)	% (SDB/total)	
Married/Common Law	94.90 (633/667)	90.73 (137/151)	0.05	95.21 (576/605)	90.45 (161/178)	0.02	95.37 (597/626)	88.64 (117/132)	0.00	95.23 (579/608)	91.16 (196/215)	0.03
Household income ≥\$60,000	86.62 (531/613)	75.61 (93/123)	0.00	86.89 (497/572)	79.29 (111/140)	0.02	87.46 (509/582)	77.68 (87/112)	0.01	88.30 (513/581)	71.97 (113/157)	< 0.001
Mother attended post- secondary	91.52 (518/566)	84.03 (100/119)	0.00	92.16 (482/523)	83.21 (114/137)	0.01	92.19 (484/525)	83.93 (94/112)	0.75	92.22 (486/527)	83.75 (134/160)	< 0.001
Maternal symptoms for SDB	57.87 (320/553)	64.29 (45/70)	0.30	57.20 (306/535)	66.67 (58/87)	0.10	58.72 (313/533)	60.26 (47/78)	0.80	58.02 (340/586)	67.57 (25/37)	0.25
Maternal sleep problems	86.05 (475/552)	87.14 (61/70)	0.80	85.96 (459 /534)	87.36 (76/87)	0.73	85.71 (456/532)	88.46 (69/78)	0.51	85.81 (502/585)	91.89 (34/37)	0.30
Paternal symptoms for SDB	75.41 (279/370)	81.67 (49/60)	0.29	75.75 (253/334)	80.49 (66/82)	0.36	75.57 (266/352)	80.39 (41/51)	0.45	75.00 (255/340)	81.32 (74/91)	0.21
Paternal sleep problems	78.38 (290/370)	81.67 (49/60)	0.56	79.34 (265/334)	74.39 (61/82)	0.33	79.26 (279/352)	74.51 (38/51)	0.44	77.65 (264/340)	83.52 (76/91)	0.22
Child's sleep is considered very serious problem	1.62 (11/678)	0.00 (0/1)	NA	2.43 (15/618)	0.00 (0/1)	NA	1.57 (10/636)	0.00 (0/3)	NA	1.47 (9/613)	NA	NA
Continuous	Mean (95%CI)	Mean (95%CI)		Mean (95%CI)	Mean (95%CI)		Mean (95%CI)	Mean (95%CI)		Mean (95%CI)	Mean (95%CI)	
Mother's Age (years)	31.35 (31.01, 31.68) n=678	30.97 (30.13, 31.80) n=142	0.36	31.49 (31.15, 31.84) n=618	30.64 (29.92, 31.36) n=177	0.03	31.56 (31.21, 31.91) n=637	30.40 (29.59, 31.21) n=132	0.01	31.63 (31.28, 31.97) n=615	30.24 (29.56, 30.92) n=206	< 0.001
Parent-Child Dysfunctional Interaction (PSI Subscale the P- CDI)	15.26 (14.88, 15.64) n=512	15.85 (14.53, 17.18) n=61	0.33	15.40 (15.00, 15.80) n=500	14.65 (13.88, 15.42) n=72	0.18	15.33 (14.93, 15.72) n=494	15.14 (14.17, 16.12) n=71	0.74	15.31 (14.94, 15.68) n=562	16.00 (13.17, 18.83) n=11	0.61
Maternal Stress (PSS)	NA	NA	NA	11.83 (11.28, 12.38) n=553	10.60 (7.22, 13.98) n=5 4.20	0.68	NA	NA	NA	12.26 (11.71, 12.80) n=561	10.67 (7.65, 13.68) n=12	0.41
Maternal Depression (CES-D)	NA	NA	NA	(7.36, 8.66) n = 553	4.20 (3.47, 4.93) n=5	0.28	NA	NA	NA	(7.19, 8.45) n=561	(3.85, 8.15) n=12	0.41
Number of household members	3.94 (3.87, 4.02) n=670	3.94 (3.51, 4.38) n=18	1.00	3.87 (3.78, 3.95) n=556	3.25 (2.76, 3.74) n=4	0.21	NA	NA	NA	3.94 (3.85, 4.02) n=570	4.00 (3.55, 4.45) n=23	0.77

Table 4c: Environmental/household characteristics of study population with and without total sleep duration data in cross-sectional analysis												
	3	months of age		6 n	nonths of age		5	months of age		12	2 months of age	
Variable	Included	Excluded	p value	Included	Excluded	p value	Included	Excluded	p value	Included	Excluded	p value
Categorical	% (SDB/total)	% (SDB/total)		% (SDB/total)	% (SDB/total)		% (SDB/total)	% (SDB/total)		% (SDB/total)	% (SDB/total)	
Smoking					. ,							
Prenatal Smoking	4.44 (27/608)	6.77 (9/133)	0.26	3.95 (22/557)	6.67 (10/150)	0.16	3.53 (20/567)	9.57 (11/115)	0.01	3.72 (21/565)	8.89 (16/180)	0.01
Smoking location												
At baby's home	16.87 (113/670)	22.22 (4/18)	0.55	11.73 (65/554)	0.00 (0/4)	0.47	NA	NA	NA	15.11 (86/569)	4.35 (1/23)	0.15
Inside baby's home	5.36 (6/112)	0.00 (0/4)	0.64	4.62 (3/65)	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	3.49 (3/86)	0.00 (0/1)	0.85
Outside baby's home	18.75 (21/112)	0.00 (0/4)	0.34	4.62 (3/65)	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	10.47 (9/86)	0.00 (0/1)	0.73
Near baby's home	89.29 (100/112)	100.00 (4/4)	0.49	92.31 (60/65)	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	89.53 (77/86)	100.00 (1/1)	0.73
Proximity to:												
Highway	21.76 (146/671)	22.22 (4/18)	0.96	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	20.70 (118/570)	21.74 (5/23)	0.90
Factory	0.60 (4/671)	0.00 (0/18)	0.74	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.00 (0/570)	4.35 (1/23)	< 0.001
Gas station	12.82 (86/671)	11.11 (2/18)	0.83	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	13.16 (75/570)	8.70 (2/23)	0.53
Parking lot	14.65 (93/635)	7.14 (1/14)	0.43	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	11.23 (64/570)	13.04 (3/23)	0.79
Construction	22.34 (142/635)	50.00 (7/14)	0.02	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	22.63 (129/570)	30.43 (7/23)	0.38
					Mean							
Continuous	Mean (95%CI)	Mean (95%CI)		Mean (95%CI)	(95%CI)		Mean (95%CI)	Mean (95%CI)		Mean (95%CI)	Mean (95%CI)	
Amount of daylight on sleep duration reporting (hours)	12.37 (12.15, 12.59) n=677	11.05 (NA) n=1	0.66	12.25 (12.00, 12.50) n=611	8.45 (NA) n=1	0.38	11.75 (11.50, 12.00) n=573	11.83 (6.75, 16.92) n=3	0.96	12.60 (12.32, 12.88) n=518	NA	NA
Average TRAP exposure (ppb)	11.17 (10.83,11.50) n=529	11.41 (10.83, 11.99) n=59	0.64	11.00 (10.66, 11.36) n=480	12.11 (11.56, 12.68) n=105	0.01	11.19 (10.86, 11.53) n=504	11.39 (10.64, 12.15) n=75	0.67	11.13 (10.80, 11.47) n=503	11.52 (10.80, 12.25) n=85	0.38
Infant bedroom fine dust sample (mg)	681.02 (635.82, 726.22) n=672	641.52 (163.13, 819.92) n 25	0.74	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA

	inte unurg 515 of entite var		p unitation at o months of ag	~
Variables				p-value
Continuous	Categories	% (n)	Average Sleep (hours) (95% CI)	•
Child's ability to self soothe	Self-soother	28.76 (195)	14.6 (14.3, 14.9)	Reference
-	Not self-soother	71.24 (483)	13.9 (13.7, 14.1)	<0.001
Term	Preterm	4.87 (33)	14.3 (13.5, 15.0)	Reference
	Full term	92.92 (630)	14.1 (13.9, 14.2)	0.65
Gender	Male	49.71 (337)	14.0 (13.8, 14.3)	Reference
	Female	50.29 (341)	14.2 (13.9, 14.4)	0.42 D.C
Ethnicity	Caucasian	59.88 (406)	14.0 (13.9, 14.2)	Reference
D: 4 1	Non-Caucasian	26.84 (182)	14.3 (14.0,14.7)	0.14
Birth order	First-born	43.95 (298)	13.6 (13.4, 13.9)	Reference
	Subsequent-born	55.31 (375)	14.5 (14.3, 14.7)	<0.001
Symptoms for Rhinitis	No	64.16 (435)	14.2 (14.0, 14.4)	Reference
	Yes	34.66 (235)	14.0 (13.7, 14.2)	0.13
GER	No	90.56 (614)	14.2 (14.0, 14.3)	Reference
	Yes	3.24 (22)	13.6 (12.5, 14.7)	0.20
URTI	No	51.33 (348)	14.0 (13.8, 14.3)	Reference
	Yes	43.07 (292)	14.3 (14.1, 14.6)	0.06
Wheeze	No	85.25 (578)	14.2 (14.0, 14.3)	Reference
	Yes	9.00 (61)	14.2 (13.6, 14.8)	0.94
OM	No	93.07 (631)	14.2 (14.0, 14.3)	Reference
	Yes	0.88 (6)	13.9 (11.9, 15.9)	0.77
Atopy	No	75.66 (513)	14.1 (13.9, 14.3)	Reference
	Yes	13.42 (91)	14.5 (14.1, 14.9)	0.10
Breastfeeding	Breastfed Only	44.54 (302)	14.3 (14.0, 14.5)	Reference
	Formula Fed Only	10.77 (73)	14.0 (13.4, 14.5)	0.28
	Solids Only	NA	NA	NA
	Mix-fed	35.35 (239)	14.1 (13.8, 14.4)	0.35
Sleep Position	On Belly	8.26 (56)	14.2 (13.6, 14.8)	Reference
	On Side	12.39 (84)	14.0 (13.5, 14.6)	0.63
	On Back	79.20 (537)	14.1 (13.9, 14.3)	0.68
Co-sleep	No	44.10 (299)	14.2 (13.9, 14.4)	Reference
	Room sharing	38.64 (262)	14.0 (13.7, 14.3)	0.37
	Bed sharing	17.11 (116)	14.2 (13.8 14.6)	0.83
Sleep time	Before 21:00	34.66 (235)	14.6 (14.4, 14.9)	Reference
	After 21:00	64.16 (435)	13.8 (13.6, 14.0)	< 0.001
Birthday Season	Winter	25.07 (170)	14.4 (14.0, 14.7)	Reference
	Spring	28.17 (191)	14.2 (13.9, 14.5)	0.47
	Summer	21.98 (149)	14.0 (13.7, 14.3)	0.14
	Fall	24.78 (168)	13.9 (13.6, 14.2)	0.04
Continuous		-	Co-efficient (hours) (95%	
Continuous		n	CI)	
Amount of daylight on date of b	irth (hours)	678	-0.01 (-0.06, 0.04)	0.61
Birth weight for GA Z-Score		672	0.14 (-0.04, 0.33)	0.14
BMI Z-Score		625	-0.07 (-0.22, 0.09)	0.40

Table 5a: Univariate analysis of child variables for total sleep duration at 3 months of age

Table 5b: Univariate	e analysis of family variables	s for total sleep d	luration at 3 months of age	•
Variables				p-value
Categorical	Categories	% (n)	Average Sleep (hours) (95% CI)	
Marital Status	Married/Common Law	93.36 (633)	14.1 (14.0, 14.3)	Reference
	Divorced or Separated/Single	5.01 (34)	13.4 (12.8, 14.0)	0.04
Household Income	< \$60,000	12.09 (82)	14.1 (13.6, 14.5)	Reference
	\geq \$60,000	78.32 (531)	14.2 (14.0, 14.4)	0.64
Maternal Education	Mother has not attended post-secondary	6.49 (44)	13.9 (13.4, 14.4)	Reference
	Mother attended post- secondary	76.40 (518)	14.1 (13.9, 14.2)	0.57
	Other	0.59 (4)	13.1 (12.5, 13.7)	0.51
Mother has symptoms for SDB	No	34.37 (233)	14.2 (13.9, 14.5)	Reference
	Yes	47.20 (320)	14.1 (13.9, 14.4)	0.63
Mother reported sleep problems	No	11.36 (77)	14.4 (13.9, 14.9)	Reference
	Yes	70.06 (475)	14.1 (13.9, 14.3)	0.31
Father has symptoms for SDB	No	13.42 (91)	14.3 (13.8, 14.7)	Reference
	Yes	41.15 (279)	14.0 (13.8, 14.3)	0.40
Father reported sleep problems	No	11.80 (80)	14.0 (13.5, 14.5)	Reference
	Yes	42.77 (290)	14.1 (13.9, 14.4)	0.60
Parent's cognition of child's sleep	Not a problem	79.06 (536)	14.3 (14.1, 14.5)	Reference
-	A small problem	19.32 (131)	13.5 (13.1, 13.9)	< 0.001
	A very serious problem	1.62 (11)	11.5 (10.5, 12.4)	< 0.001
Continuous		n	Co-efficient (hours) (95% CI)	
Mother's Age (years)		678	0.03 (-0.01, 0.06)	0.15
Parent-Child Dysfunctional Interac CDI)	tion (PSI Subscale the P-	512	-0.01 (-0.05, 0.04)	0.80
Maternal Stress (PSS)		NA	NA	NA
Maternal Depression (CES-D)		NA	NA	NA

Table Sc. Onivariate analysis	or environment/nousen	nu variables for to	tal sicep dul ation at 5 mon	this of age
Variables				p-value
Categorical	Categories	% (n)	Average Sleep (hours) (95% CI)	
Season when total sleep was	Winter	26.25 (178)	14.0 (13.7, 14.3)	Reference
reported	Spring	32.01 (217)	14.2 (13.9, 14.5)	0.25
	Summer	23.60 (160)	14.2 (13.9, 14.5)	0.32
	Fall	18.14 (123)	14.0 (13.6, 14.2)	0.91
Maternal prenatal smoking	No	85.69 (581)	14.1 (13.9, 14.3)	Reference
	Yes	3.98 (27)	13.8 (13.1, 14.5)	0.48
Smoking at baby's home	No	82.15 (557)	14.2 (14.0, 14.3)	Reference
	Yes	16.67 (113)	13.9 (13.5, 14.3)	0.31
Smoking inside baby's home	No	15.63 (106)	13.9 (13.5, 14.3)	Reference
	Yes	0.88 (6)	14.3 (13.2, 15.3)	0.04
Smoking outside baby's home	No	13.42 (91)	13.9 (13.5, 14.4)	Reference
	Yes	3.10 (21)	14.0 (12.9, 15.0)	0.91
Smoking near baby's home	No	1.77 (12)	13.7 (12.0, 15.3)	Reference
<u> </u>	Yes	14.75 (100)	14.0 (13.5, 14.4)	0.65
Proximity to highway	No	77.43 (525)	14.2 (14.0, 14.4)	Reference
	Yes	21.53 (146)	13.9 (13.6, 14.3)	0.21
Proximity to factory	No	98.38 (667)	14.1 (14.0, 14.3)	Reference
	Yes	0.59 (4)	12.1 (8.3, 15.9)	0.06
Proximity to gas station	No	86.28 (585)	14.1 (13.9, 14.3)	Reference
	Yes	12.68 (86)	14.1 (13.6, 14.5)	0.90
Proximity to parking lot	No	79.94 (542)	14.1 (14.0, 14.3)	Reference
	Yes	13.72 (93)	14.3 (13.9, 14.7)	0.48
Proximity to construction	No	72.71 (493)	14.2 (14.1, 14.4)	Reference
-	Yes	20.94 (142)	13.9 (13.6 14.3)	0.13
Continuous		n	Co-efficient (hours) (95% CI)	
Amount of daylight on sleep dura	tion reporting (hours)	677	0.05 (-0.01, 0.10)	0.10
Average TRAP exposure (ppb)	,	529	0.05 (0.00, 0.09)	0.05
Infant bedroom fine dust sample ((mg)	676	0.00 (0.00, 0.00)	0.75

Table 6a: Univariate analysis of child variables for total sleep duration at 6 months of age

Variables				p-value
Continuous	Categories	% (n)	Average Sleep (hours) (95% CI)	
Child's ability to self soothe	Self-soother	39.81 (246)	14.2 (14.0, 14.4)	Reference
	Not self-soother	60.19 (372)	13.3 (13.1, 13.4)	< 0.001
Term	Preterm	4.53 (28)	13.6 (13.0, 14.3)	Reference
	Full term	93.20 (576)	13.7 (13.5, 13.8)	0.90
Gender	Male	50.97 (315)	13.6 (13.4, 13.8)	Reference
	Female	49.03 (303)	13.7 (13.5, 13.9)	0.87
Ethnicity	Caucasian	63.27 (391)	13.7 (13.5, 13.8)	Reference
-	Non-Caucasian	23.95 (148)	13.6 (13.3, 13.9)	0.61
Birth order	First-born	45.63 (282)	13.5 (13.3, 13.7)	Reference
	Subsequent-born	53.56 (331)	13.8 (13.6, 14.0)	0.05
Symptoms for Rhinitis	No	71.84 (444)	13.8 (13.6, 13.9)	Reference
	Yes	22.17 (137)	13.3 (13.1, 13.6)	0.01
GER	No	84.63 (523)	13.7 (13.5, 13.8)	Reference
	Yes	2.75 (17)	13.1 (11.5, 14.6)	0.13
URTI	No	44.01 (272)	13.7 (13.5, 13.8)	Reference
-	Yes	46.76 (289)	13.0 (12.0, 14.0)	0.72
Wheeze	No	85 92 (531)	137(135,138)	Reference
	Yes	4 85 (30)	130(120, 140)	0.04
OM	No	88 51 (547)	136(135,138)	Reference
0111	Yes	2 10 (13)	140(131,148)	0.47
Atopy	No	77.83 (481)	13.7 (13.6, 13.9)	Reference
1100 P J	Ves	12 14 (75)	137(133,141)	0.81
Breastfeeding	Breastfed Only	8 74 (54)	13.7(13.3, 14.2)	Reference
Dreustreeunig	Formula Fed Only	2.91(18)	13.7(13.0, 14.5)	0.98
	Solids Only	NA	NA	NA
	Mix-fed	78 64 (486)	136(135,138)	0.75
Sleen Position	On Belly	16.83 (104)	13.8(13.4, 14.1)	Reference
Sleep I ostion	On Side	20.39 (126)	13.6(13.1, 11.1) 13.4(13.2, 13.7)	0.11
	On Back	62 78 (388)	13.7(13.5, 13.9)	0.63
Co-sleen	No	64.72(400)	140(137, 141)	Reference
eo sieep	Room sharing	20.87 (129)	13 3 (13 0 13 6)	0.00
	Red sharing	$14\ 40\ (89)$	13.0(12.7, 13.4)	< 0.001
Sleen time	Before 21:00	53 72 (332)	140(138, 142)	Reference
Sleep time	After 21.00	35.72(352) 45.47(281)	13.3(13.1, 13.5)	
Birthday Season	Winter	25.24(156)	13.9(13.6, 14.2)	Reference
Birtiday Season	Spring	27.51(170)	13.5(13.0, 14.2) 13.5(13.2, 13.8)	
	Summer	27.51(170) 24.60(152)	13.5(13.2, 13.0) 13.6(13.4, 13.0)	0.12
	Fall	24.00(132) 22.65(140)	13.0(13.4, 13.9) 13.6(13.4, 13.8)	0.12
	1 all	22.03 (140)	13.0 (13.4, 13.0)	0.12
Continuous		n	Co-efficient (hours) (95%	
Amount of daylight on date of h	irth (hours)	618		0.25
Birth weight for $G\Delta$ 7-Score		612	0.09(-0.07, 0.02)	0.23
BMI Z-Score		NA	NA	NA

Table 6b: Univariate	e analysis of family variables	for total sleep d	uration at 6 months of age	e
Variables				p-value
Categorical	Categories	% (n)	Average Sleep (hours) (95% CI)	
Marital Status	Married/Common Law	93.20 (576)	13.7 (13.6, 13.8)	Reference
	Divorced or Separated/Single	4.69 (29)	13.3 (12.6, 13.9)	0.18
Household Income	< \$60,000	12.14 (75)	13.6 (13.3, 14.0)	Reference
	\geq \$60,000	80.42 (497)	13.7 (13.6, 13.9)	0.71
Maternal Education	Mother has not attended post-secondary	5.99 (37)	13.9 (13.3, 14.4)	Reference
	Mother attended post- secondary	77.99 (482)	13.7 (13.5, 13.8)	0.51
	Other	0.65 (4)	11.5 (10.5, 12.5)	0.01
Mother has symptoms for SDB	No	37.06 (229)	13.8 (13.6, 14.0)	Reference
	Yes	49.51 (306)	13.6 (13.4, 13.8)	0.13
Mother reported sleep problems	No	12.14 (75)	14.0 (13.6, 14.4)	Reference
	Yes	86.41 (459)	13.6 (13.5, 13.8)	0.10
Father has symptoms for SDB	No	13.11 (81)	14.1 (13.8, 14.4)	Reference
	Yes	40.94 (253)	13.6 (13.4, 13.5)	0.01
Father reported sleep problems	No	11.17 (69)	13.7 (13.3, 14.1)	Reference
	Yes	42.88 (265)	13.7 (13.5, 13.9)	0.93
Parent's cognition of child's sleep	Not a problem	69.26 (428)	13.9 (13.8, 14.1)	Reference
-	A small problem	28.32 (175)	13.2 (13.0, 13.4)	< 0.001
	A very serious problem	2.43 (15)	11.3 (9.7, 12.9)	< 0.001
Continuous		n	Co-efficient (hours) (95% CI)	
Mother's Age (years)		618	-0.02 (-0.05, 0.01)	0.25
Parent-Child Dysfunctional Interac CDI)	ction (PSI Subscale the P-	500	0.00 (-0.04, 0.03)	0.76
Maternal Stress (PSS)		553	-0.03 (-0.05, 0.01)	0.01
Maternal Depression (CES-D)		553	-0.03 (-0.05 -0.01)	0.00

Table 6c: Univariate analysis	s of environment/househo	old variables for to	tal sleep duration at 6 mon	ths of age
Variables				p-value
Categorical	Categories	% (n)	Average Sleep (hours) (95% CI)	
Season when total sleep was	Winter	22.65 (140)	13.7 (13.4, 14.0)	Reference
reported	Spring	24.11 (149)	13.5 (13.2, 13.7)	0.21
	Summer	25.08 (155)	13.8 (13.6, 14.1)	0.60
	Fall	28.16 (174)	13.6 (13.3, 13.9)	0.60
Maternal prenatal smoking	No	86.57 (535)	13.7 (13.6, 13.8)	Reference
	Yes	3.56 (22)	13.7 (13.1, 14.3)	0.96
Smoking at baby's home	No	79.13 (489)	13.7 (13.5, 13.8)	Reference
	Yes	10.52 (65)	13.8 (13.4, 14.2)	0.59
Smoking inside baby's home	No	10.03 (62)	13.9 (13.5, 14.3)	Reference
	Yes	0.49 (3)	11.8 (8.7, 15.0)	0.59
Smoking outside baby's home	No	10.03 (62)	13.9 (13.5, 14.3)	Reference
8	Yes	0.49 (3)	13.5 (10.6, 16.4)	0.77
Smoking near baby's home	No	0.81 (5)	12.2 (9.9, 14.5)	Reference
	Yes	9.71 (60)	13.9 (13.5, 14.2)	0.03
Proximity to highway	No	NA	NA	NA
	Yes	NA	NA	NA
Proximity to factory	No	NA	NA	NA
	Yes	NA	NA	NA
Proximity to gas station	No	NA	NA	NA
	Yes	NA	NA	NA
Proximity to parking lot	No	NA	NA	NA
	Yes	NA	NA	NA
Proximity to construction	No	NA	NA	NA
	Yes	NA	NA	NA
Continuous		n	Co-efficient (hours) (95% CI)	
Amount of daylight on sleep dura	tion reporting (hours)	611	0.02 (-0.02, 0.06)	0.35
Average TRAP exposure (ppb)		480	0.00 (-0.03, 0.04)	0.84
Infant bedroom fine dust sample ((mg)	NA	NA	NA

Table 7a: Univariate analysis of child variables for total sleep duration at 9 months of age Variables p-value **Average Sleep (hours) Continuous** Categories % (n) (95% CI) Child's ability to self soothe Self-soother Reference 13.8 (13.6, 14.0) 55.73 (355) Not self-soother < 0.001 44.27 (282) 12.9 (12.7, 13.1) Term Preterm 13.5 (13.1, 14.0) Reference 5.02 (32) Full term 92.04 (592) 13.4 (13.3, 13.5) 0.68 13.5 (13.3, 13.6) Gender Male Reference 49.61 (316) Female 0.29 50.39 (321) 13.3 (13.2, 13.5) Ethnicity Caucasian 61.22 (390) 13.4 (13.3, 13.6) Reference Non-Caucasian 0.28 24.80 (158) 13.3 (13.0, 13.6) Birth order First-born Reference 43.44 (276) 13.3 (13.1, 13.5) Subsequent-born 0.34 56.04 (357) 13.5 (13.3, 13.6) Symptoms for Rhinitis No 64.84 (413) 13.4 (13.3, 13.6) Reference Yes 34.38 (219) 13.3 (13.1, 13.6) 0.50 GER No NA NA NA Yes NA NA NA URTI NA No NA NA Yes NA NA NA Wheeze No NA NA NA Yes NA NA NA OM No NA NA NA Yes NA NA NA Atopy No 77.55 (494) 13.5 (13.3, 13.6) Reference Yes 14.29 (91) 13.3 (13.0, 13.6) 0.39 Breastfeeding Breastfed Only NA NA NA Formula Fed Only NA NA NA Solids Only NA NA NA Mix-fed NA NA NA Reference **Sleep Position** On Belly 42.70 (272) 13.5 (13.3, 13.7) On Side 0.34 24.80 (158) 13.3 (13.1, 13.6) On Back 0.46 32.50 (207) 13.4 (13.1, 13.8) Co-sleep No 73.94 (471) 13.6 (13.5, 13.7) Reference Room sharing 0.00 13.19 (84) 13.1 (12.7, 13.5) Bed sharing 12.87 (82) 12.5 (12.2, 12.9) < 0.001 Sleep time Before 21:00 72.06 (459) 13.8 (13.6, 13.9) Reference After 21:00 < 0.001 27.47 (175) 12.5 (12.2, 12.7) Birthday Season Winter 13.4 (13.2, 13.7) Reference 26.37 (168) 0.83 Spring 26.22 (167) 13.5 (13.2, 13.7) Summer 23.55 (150) 13.4 (13.1, 13.7) 0.87 Fall 23.86 (152) 13.3 (13.1, 13.6) 0.50 Co-efficient (hours) (95% Continuous n CI) Amount of daylight on date of birth (hours) 637 0.01(-0.02, 0.05)0.62 Birth weight for GA Z-Score 633 0.10(-0.04, 0.25)0.16 BMI Z-Score NA NA NA

Table 7b: Univariate analysis of family variables for total sleep duration at 9 months of age

Variables				p-value
Categorical	Categories	% (n)	Average Sleep (hours) (95% CI)	
Marital Status	Married/Common Law	93.72 (597)	13.4 (13.3, 13.5)	Reference
	Divorced or Separated/Single	4.55 (29)	13.0 (12.4, 13.7)	0.20
Household Income	< \$60,000	11.46 (73)	13.2 (12.8, 13.6)	Reference
	\geq \$60,000	79.91 (509)	13.5 (13.3, 13.6)	0.12
Maternal Education	Mother has not attended post- secondary	5.81 (37)	14.1 (13.5, 14.6)	Reference
	Mother attended post- secondary	75.98 (484)	13.4 (13.2, 13.5)	0.01
	Other	0.63 (4)	12.8 (11.3, 14.2)	0.12
Mother has symptoms for SDB	No	34.54 (220)	13.6 (13.3, 13.8)	Reference
	Yes	49.14 (313)	13.3 (13.1, 13.5)	0.07
Mother reported sleep problems	No	11.93 (76)	13.9 (13.5, 14.2)	Reference
	Yes	71.59 (456)	13.3 (13.2, 13.5)	0.01
Father has symptoms for SDB	No	13.50 (86)	13.7 (13.3, 14.0)	Reference
	Yes	41.76 (266)	13.3 (13.1, 13.5)	0.11
Father reported sleep problems	No	11.46 (73)	13.4 (13.0, 13.8)	Reference
	Yes	43.80 (279)	13.4 (13.2, 13.6)	0.90
Parent's cognition of child's	Not a problem	75.98 (484)	13.7 (13.5, 13.8)	Reference
sleep	A small problem	22.29 (142)	12.6 (12.3, 12.9)	< 0.001
	A very serious problem	1.57 (10)	11.7 (10.6, 12.9)	< 0.001
Continuous		n	Co-efficient (hours) (95% CI)	
Mother's Age (years)		637	-0.05 (-0.08, -0.02)	0.00
Parent-Child Dysfunctional Interac	tion (PSI Subscale the P-CDI)	494	-0.01 (-0.04, 0.02)	0.54
Maternal Stress (PSS)		NA	NA	NA
Maternal Depression (CES-D)		NA	NA	NA

Table 7c: Univariate analysis	s of environment/househo	old variables for tot	tal sleep duration at 9 mon	ths of age
Variables				p-value
Categorical	Categories	% (n)	Average Sleep (hours) (95% CI)	
Season when total sleep was	Winter	29.83 (190)	13.4 (13.2, 13.6)	Reference
reported	Spring	23.55 (150)	13.4 (13.1, 13.7)	0.96
-	Summer	18.52 (118)	13.4 (13.1, 13.8)	0.84
	Fall	28.10 (179)	13.4 (13.1, 13.6)	0.82
Maternal prenatal smoking	No	85.87 (547)	13.4 (13.2, 13.5)	Reference
	Yes	3.14 (20)	13.9 (13.3, 14.5)	0.17
Smoking at baby's home	No	NÀ	NA	NA
e y	Yes	NA	NA	NA
Smoking inside baby's home	No	NA	NA	NA
6	Yes	NA	NA	NA
Smoking outside baby's home	No	NA	NA	NA
5	Yes	NA	NA	NA
Smoking near baby's home	No	NA	NA	NA
6	Yes	NA	NA	NA
Proximity to highway	No	NA	NA	NA
	Yes	NA	NA	NA
Proximity to factory	No	NA	NA	NA
5	Yes	NA	NA	NA
Proximity to gas station	No	NA	NA	NA
	Yes	NA	NA	NA
Proximity to parking lot	No	NA	NA	NA
	Yes	NA	NA	NA
Proximity to construction	No	NA	NA	NA
	Yes	NA	NA	NA
Continuous		n	Co-efficient (hours) (95% CI)	
Amount of daylight on sleep dura	tion reporting (hours)	573	-0.02 (-0.07, 0.02)	0.34
Average TRAP exposure (ppb)		504	0.00 (-0.05, 0.03)	0.63
Infant bedroom fine dust sample ((mg)	NA	NA	NA

Table 8a: Univariate analysis of child variables for total sleep duration at 12 months of age

Variables				p-value
Continuous	Categories	% (n)	Average Sleep (hours) (95% CI)	
Child's ability to self soothe	Self-soother	66.02 (406)	13.8 (13.7, 13.9)	Reference
2	Not self-soother	33.66 (207)	13.0 (12.7, 13.2)	< 0.001
Term	Preterm	4.55 (28)	13.3 (12.9, 13.7)	Reference
	Full term	93.82 (577)	13.5 (13.4, 13.7)	0.52
Gender	Male	50.08 (308)	13.6 (13.4, 13.8)	Reference
	Female	49.92 (307)	13.4 (13.2, 13.6)	0.17
Ethnicity	Caucasian	64.88 (399)	13.6 (13.5, 13.7)	Reference
Ş	Non-Caucasian	24.23 (149)	13.3 (13.0, 13.6)	0.05
Birth order	First-born	43.90 (270)	13.4 (13.2, 13.6)	Reference
	Subsequent-born	55.28 (340)	13.5 (13.4, 13.6)	0.23
Symptoms for Rhinitis	No	75.12 (462)	13.5 (13.4, 13.6)	Reference
J F	Yes	97.72 (139)	13.5 (13.2, 13.8)	0.97
GER	No	89 59 (551)	13.5 (13.4, 13.6)	Reference
0211	Yes	1 46 (9)	13.7(12.9, 14.5)	0.76
URTI	No	19 67 (121)	13.5(12.3, 11.8)	Reference
onn	Yes	74 96 (461)	13 5 (13 4 13 6)	0.87
Wheeze	No	84 39 (519)	13.5(13.4, 13.6)	Reference
Wheele	Ves	10.08 (62)	13.4(12.9, 14.0)	0.63
OM	No	84 55 (520)	13.5(12.9, 14.0) 13.5(13.4, 13.7)	Reference
OW	Ves	9.92 (61)	13.3(12.9, 13.7) 13.3(12.9, 13.7)	0.27
Atony	No	80.65 (496)	13.5(12.9, 13.7) 13.5(13.4, 13.7)	Reference
люру	Vas	14.96(92)	13.5(13.7, 13.7) 13.4(13.1, 13.7)	0.36
Breastfeeding	Breastfed Only	NA	NA	0.50 NA
Dreastreeding	Formula Fed Only	NA NA	NA	NA
	Solids Only	27.80(171)	13.7(13.4, 13.0)	Reference
	Mix fed	27.00(171)	13.7(13.4, 13.9) 13.4(13.3, 13.6)	
Sleep Position	On Polly	51.87(210)	13.4 (13.3, 13.0) 12.6 (12.4, 12.7)	0.10 Poforonoo
Sleep Position	On Side	31.07(319) 22.44(128)	13.0(13.4, 13.7) 12.4(12.1, 12.7)	0.28
	On Baals	22.44 (156)	13.4(13.1, 13.7) 12.5(12.2, 12.7)	0.58
Colabon	No.	23.32(137) 70.10(487)	13.3(13.5, 13.7) 12.7(12.5, 12.8)	0.07 Deference
Co-sleep	INO Recom chering	/9.19 (487)	13.7(13.3, 13.8) 12.2(12.6, 12.7)	
	Room sharing	8.02(33)	13.2(12.0, 13.7)	0.02
G1	Bed sharing	11.8/(/3)	12.7 (12.4, 13.1)	<0.001
Sleep time	Before 21:00	/3.1/(450)	13.8 (13.7, 13.9)	Keterence
	After 21:00	26.50 (163)	12.7 (12.4, 13.0)	<0.001
Birthday Season	Winter	25.85 (159)	13.4 (13.1, 13.6)	Reference
	Spring	26.83 (165)	13.6 (13.4, 13.9)	0.16
	Summer	25.53 (157)	13.5 (13.3, 13.8)	0.39
	Fall	21.79 (134)	13.4 (13.2, 13.7)	0.78
Continuous			Co-efficient (hours) (95%	
Continuous		n	CI)	
Amount of daylight on date of b	irth (hours)	615	0.02 (-0.02, 0.06)	0.26
Birth weight for GA Z-Score	· · · ·	610	0.07 (-0.08, 0.21)	0.35
BMI Z-Score		471	-0.05(-0.17, 0.07)	0.40

Гаble 8b: Univariate analysis o	of family variables for total slee	ep duration at 12 months of age
---------------------------------	------------------------------------	---------------------------------

Variables				p-value
Categorical	Categories	% (n)	Average Sleep (hours) (95% CI)	
Marital Status	Married/Common Law	94.15 (579)	13.5 (13.4, 13.6)	Reference
	Divorced or Separated/Single	4.72 (29)	13.3 (12.4, 14.2)	0.52
Household Income	< \$60,000	11.06 (68)	13.5 (13.0, 14.0)	Reference
	\geq \$60,000	83.41 (513)	13.6 (13.4, 13.7)	0.71
Maternal Education	Mother has not attended post-secondary	6.02 (37)	13.7 (13.1, 14.3)	Reference
	Mother attended post- secondary	79.02 (486)	13.5 (13.3, 13.6)	0.36
	Other	0.65 (4)	14.9 (10.6, 19.1)	0.15
Mother has symptoms for SDB	No	40.00 (246)	13.5 (13.3, 13.7)	Reference
	Yes	55.28 (340)	13.5 (13.3, 13.7)	0.90
Mother reported sleep problems	No	13.50 (83)	13.7 (13.4, 14.0)	Reference
	Yes	81.63 (502)	13.5 (13.3, 13.6)	0.13
Father has symptoms for SDB	No	13.82 (85)	13.8 (13.5, 14.1)	Reference
	Yes	41.46 (255)	13.4 (13.2, 13.6)	0.05
Father reported sleep problems	No	12.36 (76)	13.4 (13.0, 13.7)	Reference
	Yes	42.93 (264)	13.6 (13.4, 13.8)	0.30
Parent's cognition of child's sleep	Not a problem	76.26 (469)	13.7 (13.6, 13.9)	Reference
	A small problem	21.95 (135)	12.8 (12.5, 13.0)	< 0.001
	A very serious problem	1.46 (9)	12.9 (12.0, 13.8)	< 0.001
Continuous		n	Co-efficient (hours) (95% CI)	
Mother's Age (years)		615	-0.02 (-0.04, 0,01)	0.28
Parent-Child Dysfunctional Interaction	on (PSI Subscale the P-CDI)	562	0.02 (-0.01, 0.04)	0.29
Maternal Stress (PSS)		561	-0.02 (-0.04, 0.00)	0.01
Maternal Depression (CES-D)		561	-0.03(-0.04, 0.01)	0.00

Table 8c: Univariate analysis of environment/household variables for total sleep duration at 12 months of age					
Variables				p-value	
Categorical	Categories	% (n)	Average Sleep (hours) (95% CI)		
Season when total sleep was reported	Winter Spring Summer Fall	25.37 (156) 25.04 (154) 26.83 (165) 22.44 (138)	13.5 (13.3, 13.7) 13.7 (13.5, 14.0) 13.4 (13.2, 13.7) 13.4 (13.1, 13.6)	Reference 0.18 0.76 0.50	
Maternal prenatal smoking	No Yes	88.46 (544) 3.41 (21)	13.5 (13.4, 13.6) 14.1 (13.3, 15.0)	Reference 0.08	
Smoking at baby's home	No Yes	78.54 (483) 13.98 (86)	13.5 (13.3, 13.6) 13.2 (12.0, 14.3)	Reference 0.28	
Smoking inside baby's home	No Yes	13.50 (83) 0.49 (3)	13.7 (13.3, 14.1) 13.2 (12.0, 14.3)	Reference 0.57	
Smoking outside baby's home	No Yes	12.52 (77) 1.46 (9)	13.7 (13.4, 14.1) 13.0 (12.2, 13.8)	Reference 0.18	
Smoking near baby's home	No Yes	1.46 (9) 12.52 (77)	13.3 (11.7, 14.9) 13.7 (13.4, 14.1)	Reference 0.43	
Proximity to highway	No Yes	73.50 (452) 19.19 (118)	13.5 (13.4, 13.7) 13.4 (13.1, 13.7)	Reference 0.40	
Proximity to factory	No Yes	92.68 (570) 0 (0)	13.5 (13.4, 13.6) NA	Reference NA	
Proximity to gas station	No Yes	80.49 (495) 12.20 (75)	13.5 (13.4, 13.7) 13.1 (12.8, 13.5)	Reference 0.04	
Proximity to parking lot	No Yes	82.28 (506) 10.41 (64)	13.5 (13.4, 13.6) 13.4 (13.0, 13.9)	Reference 0.79	
Proximity to construction	No Yes	71.71 (441) 20.98 (129)	13.5 (13.3, 13.6) 13.6 (13.3, 13.9)	Reference 0.29	
Continuous		n	Co-efficient (hours) (95% CI)		
Amount of daylight on sleep duration re	porting (hours)	518	0.01 (-0.03, 0.05)	0.57	
Average TRAP exposure (ppb) Infant bedroom fine dust sample (mg)		503 NA	0.01 (-0.03, 0.05) NA	0.58 NA	

Table 9a: Child characteristics of study population with and without SDB data					
Variable	Outcome Present	Outcome Absent	p-value		
Categorical variables	% (#/total)	% (#/total)			
Female	49.80 (380/763)	36.21 (21/58)	0.05		
Caucasian	68.74 (453/659)	60.32 (38/63)	0.17		
First-born	43.86 (332/757)	38.30 (18/47)	0.46		
Full Term	95.05 (710/747)	95.65 (44 /46)	0.85		
Breastfeed \geq 3 months	77.15 (564/731)	0.00 (0/0)	NA		
Child is atopic	15.41 (104/675)	33.33 (2/6)	0.23		
Symptoms for rhinitis	54.00 (412/763)	0.00 (0/0)	NA		
Treated for GER	4.66 (34/730)	0.00 (0/6)	0.59		
Continuous variables	Mean (95% CI)	Mean (95%CI)			
Birth weight for GA Z-Score	-0.01 (-0.07, 0.05)	0.03 (-0.25, 0.31)	0.77		
BMI Z-score at 3 months	0.09 (0.00, 0.17)	1.90 (NA)	0.08		
BMI Z-score at 12 months	0.27 (0.18, 0.37)	0.10 (-0.95, 1.14)	0.73		
Total URTI	2.38 (2.22, 2.53)	1.50 (0.23, 2.77)	0.41		
Total OM	0.14 (0.11, 0.18)	0.00 (NA)	NA		
Total Wheezing Episodes	0.36 (0.27, 0.45)	0.00 (NA)	NA		
Average Sleep in first year of life (hours)	13.65 (13.55, 13.74)	13.50 (12.00, 15.00)	0.85		
Infant urine cotinine at 3 months (ng/mL)	2.39 (0.82, 3.96)	0.27 (-0.18, 0.72)	0.76		

Table 9b: Family characteristics of study population with and without SDB data					
Variable	Outcome Present	Outcome Absent	p-value		
Categorical variables	% (#/total)	% (#/total)			
Household income of ≥\$60,000	85.78 (591/689)	71.43 (35/49)	0.01		
Mother attended post-secondary	91.02 (578/635)	80.77 (42/52)	0.01		
Mother is atopic	61.50 (417/678)	66.67 (4/6)	0.80		
Mother has symptoms for SDB	58.39 (362/620)	100.00 (3/3)	0.14		
Father is atopic	61.26 (204/333)	62.50 (15/24)	0.90		
Father has symptoms for SDB	75.62 (307/406)	88.0 (22/25)	0.16		

П

Table 9c: Environmental/household characteristics of study population with and withoutSDB data					
Variable	Outcome Present	Outcome Absent	p-value		
Categorical variables	% (#/total)	% (#/total)			
Owns a dog	37.42 (281/751)	25.00 (1/4)	0.61		
Owns a cat	47.94 (360/751)	25.00 (1/4)	0.36		
Smoking at the house	25.69 (195/759)	35.38 (23/65)	0.09		
Mother smoked prenatally	4.11 (28/681)	14.06 (9/64)	0.00		
Continuous variables	Mean (95% CI)	Mean (95%CI)			
Average number of household members	3.95 (3.88, 4.02)	5.25 (3.57, 6.93)	0.02		
Average TRAP exposure (ppb)	11.20 (10.89, 11.51)	10.33 (8.39, 12.27)	0.54		
Infant bedroom fine dust sample at 3 months (mg)	679.61 (635.52, 723.70)	672.60 (NA)	0.99		

Table 10a: Univariate analysis of child risk factors for SDB					
Variable			HR (95% CI)	p-value	
Categorical variables	% (n)	% with SDB (# SDB/total)			
Gender					
Male	50.20 (383)	15.93 (61/383)	Reference		
Female	49.80 (380)	10.53 (40/380)	0.65 (0.44, 0.97)	0.03	
Ethnicity					
Caucasian	59.37 (453)	12.80 (58/453)	Reference		
Non-Caucasian	27.00 (206)	12.14 (25/206)	0.93 (0.58, 1.49)	0.78	
Missing	13.62 (104)	17.31 (18/104)	NA		
Birth Order		· · · ·			
First Child	43.51 (332)	14.46 (48/332)	Reference		
Other	55.70 (425)	12.24(52/425)	0.84 (0.57, 1.24)	0.38	
Missing	0.79 (6)	16.67 (1/6)	NA		
Term of Delivery					
Full Term	93.05 (710)	12.57 (90/710)	Reference		
Preterm	4 85 (37)	24 32 (9/37)	2.08 (1.05, 4.12)	0.04	
Missing	2.10(16)	16 67(3/16)	2.00 (1.05, 1.12) NA	0.01	
Breastfeed for >3 months	2.10 (10)	10.07(5/10)			
No	21 89 (167)	13 77 (23/167)	Reference		
Yes	73.92 (564)	12.94 (73/564)	0.93 (0.58 - 1.49)	0.76	
Missing	4.19 (32)	15.63 (5/32)	NA		
Child is atopic					
No	74.84 (571)	12.61 (72/571)	Reference		
Yes	13.62 (104)	17.31 (18/104)	1.38 (0.83, 2.32)	0.22	
Missing	11.53 (88)	12.50 (11/88)	NA		
Symptoms for rhinitis					
No	59.11 (451)	6.38 (23/451)	Reference		
Yes	22.15 (169)	44.38 (75/169)	8.29 (5.17, 13.28)	< 0.001	
Missing	18.74 (143)	2.10 (3/143)	NA		
Treated for GER					
No	71.17 (543)	10.50 (57/543)	Reference		
Yes	1.44 (11)	27.27 (3/11)	1.77 (0.55, 5.68)	0.33	
Missing	27.39 (209)	19.62 (41/209)	NA		
Continuous variables	n				
Birth weight for GA Z-Score	756	NA	1.10 (0.88, 1.37)	0.43	
BMI Z-Score	527	NA	1.06 (0.80, 1.41)	0.68	
Total URTI	733	NA	1.23 (1.03, 1.48)	0.03	
Total OM	732	NA	2 30 (1 48 3 59)	< 0.001	
Total wheezing episodes	733	NA	1.22(105, 143)	0.01	
Average sleep in first year of life	762	NA	0.83 (0.73, 0.95)	0.01	
(nours) Urine cotinine at 3 months (ng/mL)	194	NA	0.99 (0.96, 1.04)	0.87	

Table 10b: Univariate analysis of family risk factors for SDB					
Variable			HR (95% CI)	p-value	
Categorical variables	% (n)	% with SDB (# SDB/total)			
Household income					
< \$60,000	12.84 (98)	13.27 (13/98)	Reference		
\geq \$60,000	77.46 (591)	12.69 (75/591)	0.97 (0.54,1.76)	0.93	
Missing	9.70 (74)	17.57 (13/74)	NA		
Mother's highest level of education					
Did not attend post-secondary	6.95 (53)	18.87 (10/53)	Reference		
Did attend post-secondary	75.75 (578)	11.76 (68/578)	0.59 (0.31,1.15)	0.12	
Other	0.52 (4)	25.00 (1/4)	1.46 (0.19, 11.40)	0.7	
Missing	16.78 (128)	17.19 (22/128)	NA		
Mother is atopic					
No	34.21 (261)	14.18 (37/261)	Reference		
Yes	54.65 (417)	13.43 (56/417)	0.95 (0.62, 1.43)	0.79	
Missing	11.14 (85)	9.41 (8/85)	NA		
Mother has symptoms for SDB					
No	33.81 (258)	9.30 (24/258)	Reference		
Yes	47.44 (362)	16.57 (60/362)	1.84 (1.14, 2.95)	0.01	
Missing	18.74 (143)	11.89 (17/143)	NA		
Father is atopic					
No	16.91 (129)	17.83 (23/129)	Reference		
Yes	26.74 (204)	13.24 (27/204)	0.74 (0.43, 1.29)	0.29	
Missing	56.36 (430)	11.86 (51/430)	NA		
Father has symptoms for SDB					
No	12.98 (99)	12.12 (12/99)	Reference		
Yes	40.24 (307)	16.29 (50/307)	1.39 (0.74, 2.61)	0.31	
Missing	46.79 (357)	10.92 (39/357)	NA		

Table 10c: Univariate analysis of environmental risk factors for SDB				
Variable			HR (95% CI)	p-value
Categorical variables	% (n)	% with SDB (# SDB/total)		
Has a dog				
No	61.60 (470)	12.98 (61/470)	Reference	
Yes	36.83 (281)	12.81 (36/281)	0.97 (0.65, 1.47)	0.90
Missing	1.57 (12)	33.33 (4/12)	NA	
Has a cat				
No	51.25 (391)	12.02 (47/391)	Reference	
Yes	47.18 (360)	13.89 (50/360)	1.17 (0.79, 1.75)	0.43
Missing	1.57 (12)	33.33 (4/12)	NA	
Season				
Winter	19.92 (152)	15.79 (24/152)	Reference	
Spring	21.20 (161)	16.15 (26/161)	1.07 (0.62, 1.87)	0.80
Summer	22.54 (172)	12.21 (21/172)	1.02 (0.57, 1.84)	0.94
Fall	18.87 (144)	20.83 (30/144)	1.38 (0.81, 2.37)	0.24
Missing	17.56 (134)	0.00 (0/134)	NA	
Smoke at the house				
No	73.92 (564)	13.65 (77/564)	Reference	
Yes	25.56 (195)	10.77 (21/195)	0.78 (0.45, 1.26)	0.31
Missing	0.52 (4)	75.00 (3/4)	NA	
Mother smoked prenatally				
No	85.58 (653)	12.25 (80/653)	Reference	
Yes	3.67 (28)	14.29 (2/48)	1.18 (0.43, 3.22)	0.75
Missing	10.75 (82)	20.73 (17/82)	NA	
Continuous variables	n			
Average number of household members	751	NA	0.88 (0.71, 1.09)	0.23
Average TRAP exposure (ppb)	581	NA	1.04 (0.98, 1.10)	0.22
Infant bedroom fine dust sample at 3 months (mg)	696	NA	1.00 (0.9997, 1.00)	0.96